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Profit and loss statement 2012 2011

earnings from residential property management eur m 194.4 157.4

earnings from disposals eur m 19.9 10.6

earnings from nursing and assisted living eur m 9.9 9.2

corporate expenses eur m – 40.4 – 32.9

eBitda eur m 196.5 142.0

eBt (adjusted) eur m 78.5 46.0

eBt (as reported) eur m 205.6 85.8

Group profit (after taxes) eur m 145.5 50.6

Group profit (after taxes)1) eur per share 1.15 0.57

ffo (without disposals) eur m 68.2 47.5

ffo (without disposals)1) eur per share 0.54 0.54

ffo (incl. disposals) eur m 88.1 58.1

ffo (incl. disposals)1) eur per share 0.70 0.65

Balance sheet 31/12/2012 31/12/2011

investment properties eur m 4,614.6 2,928.8

current assets eur m 188.5 288.7

equity eur m 1,609.7 1,083.4

net financial liabilities eur m 2,678.0 1,666.9

loan-to-Value ratio (ltV) in % 57.2 55.0

total assets eur m 4,907.9 3,302.2

share 31/12/2012 31/12/2011

share price (closing price) eur per share 14.00 9.782)

number of shares m 146.14 102.30

market capitalisation eur m 2.046 1.000

net asset value (nav) 31/12/2012 31/12/2011

epra naV m 1,824.4 1,211.3

epra naV eur per share 12.483) 11.504)

fair values 31/12/2012 31/12/2011

fair value of real estate property5) eur m 4,320 2,899

fair value per sqm residential and commercial area5) eur per sqm 950 946

1) Based on average number of around 126.1 million issued shares in 2012 and 88.7 million in 2011
2) adjusted by dividend payout and capital increase in 2012
3) Based on around 146.14 million issued shares as at reporting date
4) Based on around 105.37 million shares as at reporting date (inclusive scrip adjustment of 1.03 of capital increase 2012)
5) only comprises residential and commercial buildings

Group key figures
of the deutsche wohnen aG
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deutsche wohnen has taken on a new dimension with the acquisition 
of more than 41,000 new units and six new nursing facilities since 2011. 
with around 82,500 residential units, we are one of the leading residential 
property companies in Germany. we have strengthened our existing 
 portfolio in the core region of Greater Berlin by around 18,000 residential 
units and have thus gained corresponding economies of scale. 
furthermore, we have developed three new core regions with the 
 rhineland, hanover/Brunswick/magdeburg and central Germany.

the new dimension 
for room

deutsche wohnen is one of the largest listed residential property companies 
in Germany. our operative focus lies in the management and development 
of our own residential portfolio. furthermore, with katharinenhof® 
seniorenwohn- und pflegeanlage Betriebs-Gmbh we are active in a very 
dynamic market, because of demographic change. with value-enhancing 
acquisitions, we have significantly optimised our residential and commer-
cial portfolio over the past three years, which currently includes around 
83,500 units (of which 82,500 are residential units and 1,000 are commer-
cial units). our real estate holdings are distinguished by a high level of 
quality and good  locations. 93 % of our holdings are in core regions where 
particularly positive development is expected. we are thus superbly 
 positioned to continue to grow  sustainably and profitably based on our 
strong foundation.

deutsche wohnen
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percentual split by number 
of residential units

split of portfolio 
By reGions

core
31 %

hanover/ 
Brunswick/ 
magdeburg

13 %
rhine Valley south 

6 %
rhine Valley north 

4 %
central Germany 

5 %
other 

3 %

non-core
7 %

disposal
3 %

other
4 %

core+
62 %

Greater Berlin 
49 %
rhine-main 
11 %
rhineland 
2 %

residential units

47.5
2011 

ffo (without disposals) eur m

68.2
2012

around

2011 

50,000
2012

82,500around
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dear sir or madam,
dear shareholders,
anyone who has been following the development of the company for some time will 
have noticed one thing above all recently: deutsche wohnen has broken through to a 
new dimension. so it is only fitting that our annual report this year has been given the title, 
“the new dimension for room”. after all, in 2012, deutsche wohnen completed the best 
 financial year in the company’s history and, with a market capitalisation of over eur 2 billion, 
it is now one of the largest and most successful publicly listed residential property com-
panies in Germany. 

your share, the deutsche wohnen share, also developed extremely well last year. it was able 
to achieve a growth in value of 43 % and, in doing so, it outperformed all the comparable 
indices. furthermore, as shareholders, you are participating via a dividend in the success 
of the company: as we have done previously, we are paying out 50 % of the ffo (without 
disposals) which has increased significantly in comparison to the previous year. 

most successful financial year in the company’s history

the foundation are good financial figures for 2012: overall, deutsche wohnen  completed the 
financial year 2012 with a Group profit for the period of eur 145.5 million and thus almost 
trebled the Group profit for the previous year. the adjusted earnings before taxes rose by 
around 71 % to eur 78.5 million. funds from operations (ffo, without disposals), which is a 
very important key figure for us, rose in comparison to the previous year, thanks to acquisi-
tions and operational improvements, by just under 44 % to eur 68.2 million. the intrinsic 
value, as indicated by epra naV, increased to eur 12.48 per share. 

letter to our shareholders

michael zahn lars wittan

Deutsche Wohnen Financial Report of the annual report 2012
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we have also been sending out very positive signals in 
operational terms: in the reporting year, we invested 
just under eur 68 million or eur 19 per sqm in the 
maintenance and modernisation of apartments and 
buildings. thus, we are able to make use of existing rent 
increase potential and to keep vacancy rates at a low 
level. in 2012 our vacancy rate was 2.5 % across our 
entire portfolio and 1.9 % in our core+ regions. in addi-
tion, we were able to achieve a like-for-like rental 
growth of 2.6 % in our strategic core and growth regions. 

these achievements are only made possible by the hard 
work and great commitment of our employees; so we 
would like to express our special thanks to them. we 
will do everything we can in future as well to be a good 
employer and to continue with our employees along the 
path of growth which we have embarked on!

corporate strategy secures route 
into new dimension
the past year provided impressive evidence of the fact 
that our focussed and consistently implemented growth 
strategy is working. we concentrate on managing 
 residential property in economically stable regions 
of Germany. we only aim for growth if, by doing so, 
we can sustainably enhance the value of the company. 
we  succeeded in this in 2012.

after acquiring a number of smaller portfolios we made 
a substantial acquisition in 2012 with our BauBecon 
transaction. the holdings comprise around 23,400 resi-
dential units, which are predominantly located in urban 
centres with a high population density. this acquisition – 
one of the largest in the German residential property 
market last year – was only possible because of the 
coherent offer we put together and because of the con-
siderable trust in our company on the part of banks and 
the capital market. as a result, we were able to raise 
loan capital in an amount of around eur 700 million at 
short notice and on favourable terms, and to success-
fully carry out a capital increase in June 2012 of around 
eur 460 million. 

in addition, we further strengthened our portfolio in 
2012 with a total of around 11,700 residential units. so 
deutsche wohnen has achieved impressive but never-
theless solid growth over the past two years. the ffo 
(without disposals) has more than doubled and our total 
portfolio has grown by more than 60 % to just under 
83,500 units. 

But we plan to go further: we believe that a company will 
only be successful and viable in the long term if it can 
anticipate social trends and integrate them into its busi-
ness model. for this reason and against the background 
of demographic change and the very positive experience 

we have had in recent years, we intend to further expand 
our business segment nursing and assisted living, 
which is operated by the katharinenhof® Group. 
over the next five years we want to grow to a size of 
4,000 to 5,000 nursing places. in 2012 we acquired 
156 places in leipzig and Berlin, and in January 2013 
there followed the takeover of four further facilities with 
425 places in Berlin. this means that we have increased 
our capacity to a total of 1,928 residential and nursing 
places. for 2013 we are expecting an earnings contri-
bution of eur 13 million.

focus on sustainable, profitable growth 

dear shareholders, as you can see: deutsche wohnen is 
excellently positioned to continue to play an active role 
in shaping the residential property market in Germany 
and to participate in the attractive opportunities for 
growth which it offers. today we have a variety of impor-
tant competitive advantages which strengthen our role. 
these include the current size and quality of our pro perty 
portfolio, our focus on conurbations and metropolitan 
areas with strong growth as well as our experienced and 
well qualified employees and the high-quality manage-
ment skills of our senior executives. a further invaluable 
advantage is our proven experience of integrating acqui-
sitions combined with the scalability of our company 
platform. we also have stable cash flows, a high level 
of liquidity for future acquisitions and excellent credit-
worthiness. 

in the current financial year one of our focal points will 
be the continuing integration of the new holdings and 
the optimisation of our operating processes. 

for the financial year 2013 we forecast an ffo (before 
disposals) of around eur 100 million. this figure 
includes the current portfolio as well as the acquisitions 
which saw a transfer of risks and rewards in January 
and february 2013. we also see additional potential 
mainly in the form of investments in new portfolios. 

we thank you, the shareholders, for your trust. we look 
forward to you accompanying us further on our journey 
through this new dimension!

frankfurt/main and Berlin, march 2013

Best regards

 michael zahn lars wittan
chief executive officer chief financial officer

To our shareholders
letter to our shareholders
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the share

the share price of deutsche wohnen increased signifi-
cantly in 2012 by 43 % on the value of the previous year1)

and market capitalisation doubled to eur 2,046 million 
in comparison to the value of the previous year.

positive development in capital markets 
with strong second half-year

the capital markets continued to be dominated by the 
general debt and financial crisis in 2012. however, they 
were given impetus in the second half of the year by the 
european central Bank’s stated commitment to make, 
in principle, unlimited purchases of the government 
bonds of crisis countries in future. the agreement on a 
new rescue package for Greece and the restructuring of 
the spanish banking sector had a stabilising effect on 
the markets in the eurozone. these measures resulted 
overall in a positive development of the capital markets, 
coupled with declining volatility.

the mdaX, where the deutsche wohnen shares are 
also listed, increased by 34 % to 11,914 points in 2012. 
on 19 december 2012 it reached its highest level at 
12,086 points. the property-specific indices epra europe 
and epra Germany also developed positively. in parti c-
ular, epra Germany increased sharply by 35 % in the 
course of the year. it also achieved its highest level on 

19 december 2012 at 575 points, an increase of 38 % on 
the beginning of the year. at the end of 2012 it closed 
only slightly below this peak at 562 points. epra europe 
gained 23 % in 2012 and recorded its highest level at 
1,507 points on 27 december 2012. however, despite 
this increase it remained behind the German indices.

deutsche wohnen share stronger 
than benchmark indices

with a significant increase of 43 %1) and a closing price 
of eur 14.00 at the end of the year, the deutsche wohnen 
share had an extremely successful year in 2012. while 
the price developed moderately at the beginning of the 
year, it increased sharply as the year progressed and 
achieved its highest level of eur 14.94 in december 
2012. thus, the development of the deutsche wohnen 
share significantly exceeded that of its benchmark 
 indices – mdaX, epra europe and epra Germany.

the uncertainties about the future course of the debt 
and financial crisis in europe led to an increased 
demand for the residential asset class in Germany dur-
ing the reporting year. deutsche wohnen aG especially 
benefitted from this due to its positive corporate deve lop-
ment in recent years and its successful and value- 
creating acquisitions.

Share price performance in 2012 (indexed)

 deutsche wohnen Xetra  mdaX  
 epra europe  epra Germany

performance of deutsche wohnen aG adjusted for dividend payment and capital increase

160

140

120

100

80
Jan feb mar apr may Jun Jul aug sep oct nov dec

in % 

1)  previous year’s value adjusted for dividend payout 
and capital increase in June 2012

Deutsche Wohnen Financial Report of the annual report 2012
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market capitalisation and 
trading volume

at the end of 2012 the market capitalisation of 
deutsche wohnen aG was eur 2,046 million. 
deutsche wohnen is, therefore, one of the largest listed 
real estate companies in Germany. the development 
of the liquidity of our shares is also encouraging. the 
average volume of shares traded on the Xetra trading 
centre increased significantly by over 32 % in compari-
son to the previous year’s value. the trading volume also 
increased by over 100 % on the alternative trading 
 platforms/multilateral trading facilities. this develop-
ment contributes significantly to making our shares 
more attractive.

Key share figures 2012 2011

Number of shares 
 outstanding in m around 146.14 102.3

Closing price at end of 
year1) in EUR 14.00 10.27 (9.78)4) 

Market capitalisation 
in EUR m 2,046 1,051 (1,000)4)

Highest share price 
 during year1) in EUR 14.94 12.00 (11.11)5)

Lowest share price 
 during year1) in EUR 9.60 (9.15)4) 9.15 (8.56)4)

Average daily traded 
 volume2) 332,402 251,709

Average daily traded 
 volume3) 160,858 66,454

1) Xetra closing price
2) Xetra daily traded volume (traded shares)
3) daily traded volume for alternative trading platforms 

(multilateral trading facility – mtf)
4) prices in parentheses adjusted for capital increase and 

dividend payout in 2012
5) prices in parentheses adjusted for capital increase in 2011 

and  capital increase and dividend payout in 2012

shareholder structure of 
deutsche wohnen aG

eight national and international institutional investors 
hold around 29 % of deutsche wohnen shares at the 
moment. the remaining around 71 % are held by 
national and international institutional investors and pri-
vate shareholders who have not exceeded the statutory 
notification threshold of 3 %. according to the definition 
of the German stock exchange, the free float of our 
shares corresponds to 100 %.

Shareholders

› 5 %
 sun life financial inc.1) 5.03 %

› 3 %
 first eagle investment management, llc 2) 4.72 %
 zurich deutscher herold lebensversicherung aG 4.02 %
 Ärzteversorgung westfalen-lippe 3.33 %
  stichting pensioenfonds aBp3)/apG algemene 
pensioen Groep n.V. 3.13 %

 mfs international Value fund 3.08 %
 Blackrock, inc.1) 3.03 %
 the capital Group companies, inc.4) 3.02 %

8 institutional investors in total 29.36 %

 other 70.64 %

freefloat according to deutsche Börse 100.00 %

shareholder structure*) 
in %

*)  as at 19 february 2013 according to latest wphG (German securities 
exchange act) notification received from above stated shareholders

1)  attributed voting rights according to article 22, section 1, sentence 1, 
no. 6 wphG in connection with article 22, section 1, sentence 2 wphG

2)  attributed voting rights according to article 22, section 1, sentence 1, 
no. 6 wphG

3)  attributed voting rights according to article 22, section 1, sentence 1, 
no. 1 wphG

4)  attributed voting rights according to article 22, section 1, sentence 1, 
no. 6 wphG in connection with article 22, section 1, sentence 2 and 
sentence 3 wphG

the share
To our shareholders
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analyst coverage extended 
once again

the share of deutsche wohnen is being covered by a 
total of 22 analysts at the moment2) – two more than in 
the equivalent period of the previous year. this increase 
underlines the increased market interest in 
deutsche wohnen shares. westlB, unicredit, edge cap-
ital and silvia Quandt research are no longer covering 
our shares and are thus no longer listed by us. By con-
trast, Barclays, J. p. morgan cazenove, kepler capital 
markets, Green street advisors and aBn amro Bank 
have taken up coverage of our shares.

the target prices of the analysts lie between eur 11.30 
and eur 17.40. 16 analysts value the shares with a tar-
get price of over eur 14.00, of whom ten even expect a 
target price of over eur 15.00. the vast majority of our 
analysts rate our shares positively. eight come to the 
conclusion: buy/overweight/outperform and ten analysts 
to the conclusion: hold/neutral. the  following table 
 provides an overview of the analysts’  current rating esti-
mates:

Rating Number

Buy/overweight/outperform 8

Hold/neutral 10

Sell/underweight 4

ordinary annual General meeting 2012 
successful

the ordinary annual General meeting 2012 was held on 
6 June 2012 in frankfurt/main. around 66 % of the 
company’s entire issued share capital was represented. 
the shareholders approved all the agenda items sub-
mitted. it is worth pointing out the following here: 
firstly, the annual General meeting approved, with a 
majority of 95 %, a settlement with rreef manage-
ment Gmbh. this settlement involved compensation 
for losses arising from a control agreement between 
deutsche wohnen aG and rreef management Gmbh 
for the financial years 1999 to mid-2006. secondly, the 
creation of authorised capital 2012/i was approved. 
finally, dr h.c. wolfgang clement, whose appointment 
by court as a member of the supervisory Board ended 
upon completion of the ordinary annual General meet-
ing for the financial year 2011, was elected to the 
supervisory Board within the context of the annual 
General meeting 2012. 

2) status: 25 february 2013

Deutsche Wohnen Financial Report of the annual report 2012
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capital increase in 2012 successfully 
 accomplished 

with the consent of the supervisory Board, the manage-
ment Board decided on 11 June 2012 on a capital 
increase against cash contributions with subscription 
rights for the shareholders. the company’s share capital 
was increased by partially utilising the authorised share 
capital of eur 102.3 million against cash contributions 
by issuing 43,842,858 new no-par bearer shares 
 (ordinary shares).

the new shares were issued to existing shareholders at 
a subscription ratio of 7:3 at eur 10.50, i. e. seven exist-
ing shares gave the entitlement to take up three new 
shares.

upon expiry of the subscription period on 25 June 2012, 
around 99 % of the new shares had been subscribed. it 
was possible to place, within a very short time, the 
remaining around 1 % of shares that were not taken up 
as part of the subscription offer with institutional 
 investors at eur 12.30 per share.

in total, net proceeds of around eur 444 million accrued 
to our company. around 75 % of the net proceeds were 
used to finance the acquisition of the BauBecon Group 
and the remaining net proceeds were used for further 
acquisitions.

the company’s notional epra naV per share after the 
capital increase was only around 5 % below the last 
published epra naV in the amount of eur 12.01 per 
share as at 31 march 2012. this low naV dilution under-
lines the attractiveness of the chosen “best efforts/at 
market structure” of the capital measures and the high 
level of shareholder confidence in the deutsche wohnen 
growth path. 

extraordinary annual General meeting 2012 
for the creation of new authorised capital

on 4 december 2012 the management Board of 
deutsche wohnen invited shareholders to an extra-
ordinary annual General meeting. the convocation of 
shareholders aimed to create new authorised capital, to 
enable deutsche wohnen to act with sufficient flexibility 
on the market in the future and to raise equity capital 
as required.

with the consent of the supervisory Board, the manage-
ment Board of deutsche wohnen aG was authorised to 
increase the registered capital on one or more occa-
sions up to 3 december 2017 by up to eur 73,071,429 
by issuing up to 73,071,429 new ordinary bearer 
no-par value shares in exchange for cash or non-cash 
contributions.

the vote at the extraordinary annual General meeting 
revealed that 94 % of the valid votes approved the crea-
tion of authorised capital 2012/ii. a new authorised cap-
ital of eur 73,071,429 was decided upon and the 
remaining authorised capital of eur 7,307,142 was sus-
pended. this clear result confirms the support of our 
shareholders and their great confidence in our strategy.

after the balance sheet date, deutsche wohnen 
increased its capital through the partial utilisation of the 
capital authorised in december 2012. here, 14,614,285 
new no-par bearer shares were issued at a subscription 
price of eur 13.35 per share and gross proceeds of 
eur 195.1 million were achieved. please refer to events 
after the reporting date on page 50 and the legal Group 
structure on page 23 for further details.

the share
To our shareholders
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communication with capital markets 
 further intensified

we continued to attach importance to close communica-
tion with our shareholders, analysts and investors in the 
financial year 2012. in doing so, we gave market partici-
pants a comprehensive and transparent view of our 
strategy and our prospects for future development. 
timely, transparent and detailed reporting and regular 
dialogue are integral parts of our investor relations 
activities. in particular, we seek discussions with 
national and international investors through participa-
tion in conferences worldwide.

in 2012, we participated in various national and interna-
tional banking conferences: hsBc, deutsche Bank and 
dz-Bank in frankfurt/main, credit suisse, morgan stanley, 
J. p. morgan and uBs in london, Bankhaus lampe in 
Baden-Baden, commerzbank in new york and Boston, 
kempen & co. in amsterdam, Bofa merrill lynch in  
new york, Goldman sachs/Berenberg Bank and uni-
credit/kepler in munich. furthermore, we were repre-
sented at the expo real real estate trade fair in munich 
as well as at the epra conference and iia in Berlin. 
additionally, we ran numerous road shows in new york, 
Boston, london, paris, amsterdam, Vienna and Brussels, 
for example.

we hold a telephone conference following publication of 
each annual report and each of our interim reports. 
investors and analysts are able to put their questions 
directly to the management Board. these conferences 
are also broadcast live via webcast and are available 
afterwards for download on our website in the investor 
relations section. up-to-date financial reports and 
company presentations are always made available here 
as well. in addition, we provide an overview on our 
 website of all current activities based on our financial 
calendar. the current ratings of analysts, shareholder 
structures, ad-hoc and press releases, corporate news, 
voting rights notifications, directors’ dealings, as well as 
all information about the annual General meeting can 
also be obtained via the website.

to deutsche wohnen investor relations means timely 
and transparent reporting, an active and regular dia-
logue with our shareholders and investors and the 
expansion of our existing network of national and inter-
national contacts. our investor relations department 
will continue to promote and expand these measures in 
the future.

further information can be found on our website
 www.deutsche-wohnen.com in the investor relations 

section.

Key share data

Type of share Ordinary share; divided into 
bearer and registered shares

ISIN DE000A0HN5C6 (bearer share)

WKN A0HN5C (bearer share)

Reuters DWNG.DE (bearer share)

Bloomberg DWNI (bearer share)

Stock markets 
 

Xetra, Frankfurt/Main, Stuttgart*, 
Munich*, Hamburg*, Hanover*, 
Dusseldorf*, Berlin*

Admission Segment Prime Standard

Major indices MDAX, EPRA/NAREIT, GPR250

Number of issued 
shares (total)

146,142,858 (status: 31/12/2012) 
160,757,143 (status: 25/02/2012)

*trading on the open market

Deutsche Wohnen Financial Report of the annual report 2012
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corporate Governance report

corporate Governance stands for a responsible and 
long-term value-driven management and control of 
companies. the corporate governance and corporate 
culture of the deutsche wohnen Group comply with 
statutory requirements and – with a few exceptions – 
the additional recommendations of the German corpo-
rate Governance code. the management Board and 
super visory Board of deutsche wohnen aG feel obli-
gated to pursue good corporate Governance; all areas 
of business are orientated towards this purpose. our 
focus is on values such as competence, transparency 
and sustainability.

declaration of compliance

the management Board and supervisory Board were 
also careful to meet the standards of the German cor-
porate Governance code in 2012. in doing so, they took 
account of the amendments to the code contained in the 
version as at 15 may 2012 and published in the German 
federal Gazette (Bundesanzeiger) on 15 June 2012, and 
in december 2012, in accordance with section 161 of the 
German stock corporation act (aktG), they submitted 
their declaration of compliance for the financial year 2012 
with the recommendations of the code and outlined in 
detail the position they held in the few instances of devi-
ations from the code. the explanation is available for 
inspection by shareholders and interested parties on our 
website at  www.ir.deutsche-wohnen.com/websites/
deuwo/english/8000/corporate-governance.html.

General management structure 
with three bodies
deutsche wohnen aG, registered in frankfurt/main, is 
subject to the provisions of the German stock corpora-
tion law and capital market legislation and the provi-
sions of its articles of association. with its two bodies, 
the management Board and the supervisory Board, the 
company has a two-tier management and supervisory 
structure. in addition, there is the annual General meet-
ing at which the shareholders are involved in fundamen-
tal decisions concerning the company. together, these 
three organs are obligated to act in the best interests of 
the shareholders and for the benefit of the company.

the management Board works 
in the best interests of the company

the management Board manages the company and 
conducts the enterprise’s business under its own 
responsibility. in this task it is bound by the goal of sus-
tainable value creation in the company's interests. the 
members of the management Board are appointed by 
the supervisory Board. the age limit for members of the 
management Board has been set by the supervisory 
Board at the legal retirement age. the selection of 
members of the management Board is based on the 
knowledge, skills and professional experience required 
for the fulfilment of the tasks of the management Board.

following the departure of mr ullrich as at 31 decem-
ber 2012, the management Board currently consists of 
two members and has a chairperson. the work of the 
management Board is governed in detail by the by-laws, 
which, among other things, provide for a division of 
tasks according to functional aspects.

the management Board develops the strategic direction 
of the company, agrees this with the supervisory Board, 
and ensures its implementation. it also bears the 
responsibility for appropriate risk management and con-
trol within the company as well as regular, timely and 
comprehensive reporting to the supervisory Board. the 
approval of the supervisory Board is intended for certain 
transactions and activities of the management Board.

the members of the management Board must immedi-
ately disclose any conflict of interest to the supervisory 
Board and their colleagues on the management Board. 
significant business transactions between members of 
the management Board, as well as parties closely 
related to them, and the company require the approval 
of the supervisory Board. equally, the acquisition of 
secondary employment outside the company requires 
such approval, too. 

d&o group insurance policies have been concluded 
for the members of the management Board and the 
supervisory Board. since 1 July 2010, these include a 
deductible that meets the requirements of section 93, 
paragraph 2 of the German stock corporation act (aktG). 

To our shareholders
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the supervisory Board advises and 
 monitors the management Board

the supervisory Board consists of six members. it is not 
subject to any employee participation requirements. all 
members are elected by the annual General meeting as 
representatives of the shareholders. their term of office 
is generally five years in accordance with statutory provi-
sions and the articles of association. the selection of 
members of the supervisory Board is based, in particu-
lar, on the knowledge, skills and professional experi-
ence that are required for the fulfilment of their tasks. 
only persons who at the time of appointment have not 
yet completed their 73rd year of life should be proposed 
for election as a member of the supervisory Board.

the supervisory Board advises and monitors the man-
agement Board on its management of the company on a 
regular basis within the framework established by law, 
the articles of association and the by-laws. it works 
closely with the management Board for the benefit of 
the company and is involved in decisions of fundamental 
importance to the company.

the supervisory Board has by-laws; its work takes place 
both in plenary sessions and in committees. the work of 
the committees is intended to increase the efficiency of 
the work of the supervisory Board. the committee 
chairperson report regularly to the supervisory Board 
on the work of their committee. currently there are four 
committees:

•  the executive committee is responsible for liaising 
with the management Board and providing ongoing 
advice. it also prepares the meetings of the super-
visory Board, insofar as this is appropriate with regard 
to the scope and importance of items to be discussed. 
in accordance with the resolutions of the full super-
visory Board the executive committee is responsible 
for the conclusion and the content of the contracts 
for members of the management Board. it is also 
 res ponsible for giving advice and - insofar as this is 
permitted – making decisions about urgent issues.

•  the nomination committee proposes suitable candi-
dates to the supervisory Board for it to recommend to 
the annual General meeting.

•  the audit committee is responsible for the prelimi-
nary examination of the documentation for the annual 
financial statements and the consolidated financial 
statement, the preparation of the adoption or approval 
of these reports and the preparation of the manage-
ment Board’s proposal on the utilisation of the profits 
by the management Board. the committee discusses 
the principles of compliance, risk assessment, risk 
management and the adequacy and effectiveness of 
the internal control system with the management 
Board. the responsibilities of the audit committee 
also include the preparation of the appointment of the 
auditors by the annual General meeting, which among 
other things includes an examination of the auditor’s 
required independence, the subsequent appointment 
of the auditing contract and the determination of the 
audit priorities. the members of the audit committee 
have expertise in accounting and auditing regulations 
and the composition of the committee meets all 
 stipulations for independence within the meaning of 
the eu recommendation on the role of supervisory 
Board members (oJ ec 2005 no. l 52, 25/02/2005, p.1) 
and of the recommendation of the German corporate 
Governance code.

•  the acquisition committee prepares the decisions of 
the supervisory Board on corporate and/or portfolio 
acquisitions.

Deutsche Wohnen Financial Report of the annual report 2012
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important decisions are made at 
the annual General meeting

in line with the opportunities provided by the articles of 
association, the shareholders exercise their rights at the 
annual General meeting and exercise their voting rights. 
each share carries one vote.

the annual General meeting is held annually during the 
first eight months of the financial year. the agenda of 
the annual General meeting and the reports and docu-
ments required for the annual General meeting are pub-
lished on the website of deutsche wohnen aG.

important resolutions are passed at the annual General 
meetings. these include those relating to the appropria-
tion of profits, formal approval of the actions of the man-
agement Board and the supervisory Board, the selection 
of members of the supervisory Board and the auditors, 
amendments to the articles of association and mea-
sures which affect the capital structure of the company. 
the annual General meeting provides a good opportu-
nity to the management Board and supervisory Board to 
communicate directly with shareholders and to discuss 
and coordinate with them about the further development 
of the company.

in order to make it easier to personally exercise their 
rights, deutsche wohnen aG provides its shareholders 
with a proxy who is bound by the instructions given to 
him by the shareholders and who can also be reached 
during the annual General meeting. it is explained in the 
invitation to the annual General meeting how instruc-
tions may be given in advance of the annual General 
meeting. in addition, shareholders are at liberty to be 
represented at the annual General meeting by a proxy of 
their choice.

remuneration of the management Board

the remuneration system of the management Board is 
the subject of regular consultations, review and rede-
sign at the plenary sessions of the supervisory Board.

the management Board contracts of deutsche wohnen aG 
contain fixed and variable components. the variable 
component for all members of the management Board 
is adjusted to the requirements of section 87, para-
graph 1 sentence 3 of the German stock corporation 
act (aktG). it is tied to the achievement of the compa-
ny's economic goals and is primarily based on multi-
year assessment criteria. the variable remuneration 
may only be claimed if there has been a corresponding 
positive development in the business. in this way, the 
compensation structure is aligned to sustainable busi-
ness development and the incentive and risk effects of 
the variable remuneration will continue to be optimised.

the detailed remuneration report of deutsche wohnen aG 
for the financial year 2012 can be found in the manage-
ment report on pages 55 to 57 and on the company's 
website at   www.ir.deutsche-wohnen.com/websites/
deuwo/english/8460/report-on-compensation.html.

To our shareholders
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remuneration of the supervisory Board

the remuneration of the supervisory Board has been 
established by the annual General meeting in section 6, 
paragraph 6 of the articles of association. accordingly, 
the members of the supervisory Board receive a fixed 
annual remuneration of eur 30,000. the chairman of 
the supervisory Board receives double the standard 
remuneration; the deputy chairman receives one and a 
half times the standard remuneration. each member of 
the supervisory Board additionally receives lump sum 
remuneration in the amount of eur 5,000 per financial 
year in return for his or her membership of the super-
visory Board’s audit committee. furthermore, each 
member of the executive committee and the acquisition 
committee receives an attendance fee in the amount of 
eur 1,000 for each committee meeting personally 
attended by such member. cash expenses are reim-
bursed. in addition, the company can, at its expense, 
include the members of the supervisory Board in a d&o 
group insurance for executive bodies and managers, and 
has done so. a deductible payable by the members of 
the supervisory Board was agreed for this in accordance 
with the requirements of section 93, paragraph 2 of the 
German stock corporation act (aktG).

no performance-based remuneration for members of 
the supervisory Board is paid. the remuneration report 
contains disclosure of the remuneration of the individual 
members of the supervisory Board.

directors’ dealings and shareholdings 
 subject to mandatory disclosure

the members of the management Board and the super-
visory Board of deutsche wohnen aG and their closely 
related parties are obligated in accordance with section 
15a of the German securities trading act (wphG) to 
 disclose without delay transactions in shares of 
deutsche wohnen aG or related financial instruments. 
the company will publish these transactions immedi-
ately after they have been reported to it. in the financial 
year 2012, the following transactions of this nature have 
been reported to deutsche wohnen aG: the sale of 
17,438 shares and 5,000 subscription rights by the 
chief financial officer helmut ullrich; the acquisition of 
7,001 shares and the sale of 7,501 shares by the 
 chairman of the supervisory Board, uwe e. flach, and 
the acquisition of 2,250 shares by his wife; the sale 
of 4,009 shares by the supervisory Board member, 
dr  florian stetter, and the acquisition of 1,413 shares by 
the wife of the deputy chairman of the supervisory 
Board dr andreas kretschmer.

as at 31 december 2012, the supervisory Board mem-
ber uwe e. flach held 15,000 shares and his wife 10,000 
shares in deutsche wohnen aG respectively. as at that 
date, the wife of the deputy chairman of the supervisory 
Board, dr andreas kretschmer, held 4,705 shares, and the 
supervisory Board member dr h.c. wolfgang clement 
and his wife together held 1,000 shares. the other 
members of the supervisory Board and management 
Board held no shares in deutsche wohnen aG as at 
31 december 2012.

thus, the total holdings of the aforementioned groups of 
individuals of shares of deutsche wohnen aG as at 31 
december 2012 amounted to approximately 0.02 % of the 
approximately 146.1 million issued shares by the company.

compliance as an important 
management task
deutsche wohnen aG has appointed a compliance 
officer in order to ensure compliance with the standards 
of conduct and norms prescribed by the German corpo-
rate Governance code and the relevant statutory provi-
sions. the compliance officer manages, among other 
things, the company's list of insiders and informs man-
agement, employees and business partners about the 
relevant legal framework and the consequences of vio-
lations of insider regulations.

Deutsche Wohnen Financial Report of the annual report 2012
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adequate opportunity and 
risk management

deutsche wohnen aG considers it to be very important to 
deal responsibly with opportunities and risks. this is 
ensured by a comprehensive opportunity and risk man-
agement system, which identifies and monitors the major 
opportunities and risks. this system is continuously 
being developed and adapted to changing conditions.

detailed information is available in the management report: 
the risk management system of deutsche wohnen aG 
is presented in the risk report on pages 51 to 54, 
c orporate strategic opportunities are described in the 
forecast of the management report on pages 54 and 55 
and the information on the consolidated accounts can 
be found in the notes on pages 68 to 78.

committed to transparency

as part of ongoing investor relations activities all 
events that are important to the shareholders, investors 
and analysts are published at the beginning of the year 
for the duration of each financial year in the financial 
calendar. the financial calendar, which is updated regu-
larly, can also be viewed on the company's website at 

 www.ir.deutsche-wohnen.com/websites/deuwo/ 
english/7000/financial-calendar.html.

the company informs shareholders, analysts and jour-
nalists according to uniform criteria. the information is 
transparent and consistent for all capital market par-
ticipants. ad hoc statements and press releases, as well 
as presentations of press and analysts conferences and 
roadshows are immediately available on our website.

insider information (ad hoc publicity), voting rights noti-
fications and directors' dealings are disclosed by 
deutsche wohnen aG without delay in accordance with 
statutory provisions.

accounting

ernst & young Gmbh wirtschaftsprüfungsgesell schaft 
was reselected as the auditor at the annual General 
meeting 2012. ernst & young Gmbh wirtschaftsprüfungs-
 gesellschaft has provided an advance statement that no 
business, financial, personal or other relationships exist 
between the auditor, its executive bodies and audit lead-
ers on the one hand, and the company or members of 
its executive bodies on the other, which could give rise 
to doubts as to its independence.

deutsche wohnen aG is committed to abide by the 
publication deadlines prescribed by the German cor-
porate Governance code of 90 days after the end of the 
financial year for the consolidated financial statement 
and 45 days after the end of the reporting period for 
interim reports. although these deadlines were met in 
the financial year 2012, due to the time needed to care-
fully prepare financial statements and company 
reports, no binding commitment can yet be given that 
these publication deadlines will be met.

further information

further information about the activities of the super-
visory Board and its committees and its cooperation 
with the management Board can be found in the report 
of the supervisory Board.

frankfurt/main, march 2013

supervisory Board management Board

To our shareholders
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report of the supervisory Board

dear shareholders,

deutsche wohnen aG has had a very successful finan-
cial year in 2012. the business model and clear focus on 
urban centres has proven once again. profitability and 
returns were improved once again in the year under 
review, the financial structure and liquidity were further 
optimised, and the intrinsic value and therefore the 
shareholder value also increased. the portfolio has 
been expanded significantly through acquisitions and 
the equity capital basis has been strengthened through 
the cash capital increases in June 2012 and January 2013.

trusting cooperation with 
the management Board

in the financial year 2012, the supervisory Board has taken 
great care in its exercising of the duties it is obliged to 
perform under law, the articles of association, the 
 German corporate Governance code and the by-laws. it 
has regularly advised the management Board on the 
management of the company and overseen its activities. 
in addition, it was directly and promptly included in all 
decisions of fundamental importance to the company.

the management Board informed the supervisory Board 
regularly, promptly and fully, verbally and in writing, on 
the business policy, corporate planning and strategy, 
the company's situation, including the risks, the state of 
business and risk management. discrepancies between 
actual and planned development were explained in full. 
the management Board agreed major business trans-
actions with the supervisory Board.

the chairman of the supervisory Board and other mem-
bers of the supervisory Board were in regular contact 
with the management Board and discussed important 
issues also outside of the meetings of the supervisory 
Board and its committees. these concerned, for exam-
ple, the strategic direction of the company, performance 
and risk management.

meetings of the supervisory Board

in the financial year 2012, the supervisory Board dis-
cussed the current performance, important individual 
transactions and measures requiring the approval of the 
management Board in six meetings of the supervisory 
Board. at each of the meetings the supervisory Board 
gave its approval, where necessary, and always after 
careful consideration and extensive discussion. five 
resolutions were also passed by way of the written reso-
lution procedure based on comprehensive informational 
materials and a previous discussion in plenary. at two 
meetings there was a member of the supervisory Board 
in each case who was unable to be in attendance. apart 
from this, all of the members of the supervisory Board 
were always present.

the focus of the supervisory Board's activities in the 
year under review were the business planning and per-
formance of deutsche wohnen aG, the growth strategy 
and acquisitions and the capital measure of the com-
pany. they were regularly advised on the performance 
in the residential property management, disposals, 
nursing and assisted living segments, as well as the 
financial and liquidity position of the Group. the super-
visory Board's activities were also focussed on the 
review of and provision of advice in respect of the inter-
nal control and risk management systems of the 
deutsche wohnen Group.

at the meeting of 19 march 2012, the supervisory Board 
dealt mainly with the report from the audit committee, 
the 2011 annual financial statements and matters relat-
ing to the management Board and supervisory Board, in 
particular the determination of the management Board 
bonuses for the financial year 2011. representatives of 
the auditing company were present to provide advice on 
the 2011 annual financial statements and explained 
items and approaches in the financial statements of the 
company and Group. further core issues comprised the 
adoption of a resolution in respect of the agenda for the 
ordinary annual General meeting and the handling of 
acquisition projects.

Deutsche Wohnen Financial Report of the annual report 2012
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the subjects of the meeting of 7 may 2012 were in par-
ticular the performance in the first quarter of 2012 and 
the acquisition of the BauBecon holdings.

at the meeting of 6 June 2012, the supervisory Board 
mainly discussed the state of play in the matter of the 
BauBecon acquisition and adopted the fundamental 
resolution required for the implementation of the 
 capital increase 2012.

the meeting of 6 august 2012 served mainly for the 
management Board to explain the performance based 
on the 2012 half-year report and also as a forum for the 
discussion of acquisition projects, in particular BauBecon.

the core content of the meeting on 11 october 2012 was 
the current status of acquisition projects and the pos-
sible convening of an extraordinary General meeting.

in its meeting of 5 november 2012, the supervisory Board 
dealt mainly with the performance of the company on 
the basis of the third quarter report 2012 and the cur-
rent acquisition projects, the current status of the inte-
gration of purchases and the strategic focus of the 
deutsche wohnen Group, but also with the preparations 
for the extraordinary General meeting and matters 
relating to the management Board.

the resolutions of the supervisory Board passed by way 
of written resolution concerned the granting of approval 
for the acquisition of residential property portfolios 
(27 september and 8 october), the convening of an 
extraordinary General meeting (22 october), the acquisi-
tion of senior citizens’ facilities (4 december) and the 
adoption of the declaration of compliance with the 
 German corporate Governance code (22 december). 
each of these matters had already been discussed in 
detail at previous meetings.

efficient work in four committees 
of the supervisory Board

in order to efficiently perform its duties, the supervisory 
Board has formed committees and continuously evalu-
ated their needs and activities in the year under review.

specifically, there existed the following four committees 
in the year under review:

• the executive committee,
• the nomination committee,
• the audit committee,
• the acquisition committee.

their duties are represented in detail in the corporate 
Governance report on page 12.

in principle, the resolutions of the supervisory Board 
and the topics to be discussed at the supervisory Board 
plenary are prepared in the committees. where permit-
ted by law, each committee has been transferred deci-
sion-making powers in individual cases through the 
articles of association or through resolutions of the 
supervisory Board. the chairmen of the committees 
regularly and fully reported on the contents and results 
of committee meetings to the meetings of the super-
visory Board.

in the reporting year, the executive committee met on 
28 february, 11 June, 19 June and 26 June. the subject 
of the meetings was the discussion and adoption of 
 resolutions in connection with the remuneration of the 
members of the management Board and supervisory 
Board and also the capital increase 2012.

in the reporting year, the nomination committee met 
for one meeting held on 8 march to prepare a proposal 
for the appointment of a candidate for election to the 
supervisory Board and to recommend these nomina-
tions for the annual General meeting to the supervisory 
Board plenary.

To our shareholders
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the audit committee met on four occasions during the 
year under review, where it dealt with the relevant 
items of the supervisory Board's work. these included 
in particular the preliminary examination of the annual 
financial statements, the consolidated financial state-
ment and interim reports of deutsche wohnen and a 
discussion of the risk management system. it spoke 
with the supervisory Board about a recommendation 
for the appointment of the auditing company for the 
financial year 2012, collected a declaration of inde-
pendence from this party, and monitored its activities. 
the members of the audit committee have expertise 
and experience in the application of accounting princi-
ples and internal control procedures. the committee 
chairman, dr andreas kretschmer, meets all the sti-
pulations of section 100 para. 5 of the German stock 
 corporation act (aktG).

the acquisition committee convened for a meeting held 
on 23 april, the subject of which was the discussion and 
proposal of resolutions, in particular as regards the 
BauBecon acquisition.

corporate Governance standards 
further developed

the supervisory Board has continuously observed and 
discussed the further development of the company's 
own corporate Governance standards. comprehensive 
information on corporate governance in the company, 
including the structure and amount of remuneration 
paid to the supervisory Board and management Board 
can be found on pages 11 to 15 in this report.

the management Board and supervisory Board have 
discussed the requirements of the version of the 
 German corporate Governance code applicable for the 
year under review and the implementation of these 
requirements. they adopted their updated joint declara-
tion of compliance in accordance with section 161 of the 
German stock corporation act (aktG) in december 2012 
and have made it permanently accessible to the public 
on the company website. the declaration of compliance 
can be viewed at  www.ir.deutsche-wohnen.com/web-
sites/deuwo/German/8300/entsprechenserklaerung.html.

Deutsche Wohnen Financial Report of the annual report 2012
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annual and consolidated financial statements 
discussed in detail

the annual financial statements of deutsche wohnen 
of 31 december 2012 and the consolidated financial 
statements along with the management reports of the 
company and the Group that were prepared by the man-
agement Board were examined by the auditing company 
that was appointed by the annual General meeting of 
6 June 2012 and commissioned by the supervisory Board, 
ernst & young Gmbh wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, 
stuttgart, and provided with the unqualified audit opinion.

the annual financial statements of deutsche wohnen aG 
and the consolidated financial statements, the reports 
on the situation of deutsche wohnen aG and the Group 
and the audit reports were made available to all mem-
bers of the supervisory Board immediately following 
their preparation. the auditing company took part in the 
meeting of the audit committee held on 20 march 2013, 
for the purposes of preparing for the meeting of the 
supervisory Board for the review of the accounts. it 
reported on the substantial results of its audit and pro-
vided additional information. the results of the audit of 
the company's annual financial statements, the con-
solidated financial statements and the management 
reports of the company and the Group were agreed by 
the audit committee following extensive discussion.

the chairman of the audit committee fully reported to 
the supervisory Board at its meeting on 20 march 2013 
on the annual financial statements and the audit. 
in addition, the auditing company explained the main 
findings of its audit and was available to provide informa-
tion and answers to further questions for the supervisory 
Board. the supervisory Board has carefully examined 
the annual financial statements, the management 
report, the consolidated financial statement, the pro-
posal for the utilisation of net profit and audit reports. 
there have been no objections. the supervisory Board 
then subsequently approved the recommendation of the 
audit committee in accordance with the annual financial 
statements and consolidated financial statement pro-
duced by the management Board on 31 december 2012. 
the annual financial statements are thereby adopted.

the adopted annual financial statements indicate a net 
profit. the supervisory Board endorses the management 
Board’s proposal regarding the utilisation of net profits. 
the agenda of the annual General meeting shall there-
fore include a resolution on the distribution of a dividend.

changes to the supervisory Board 
and management Board

there were no changes to the members of the super-
visory Board. dr h.c. wolfgang clement, whose term of 
office on the basis of an appointment by court order 
commencing on 6 July 2011 ended upon the conclusion 
of the ordinary annual General meeting on 6 June 2012, 
was reappointed a member of the supervisory Board by 
the annual General meeting on 6 June 2012. 

mr helmut ullrich withdrew from the management 
Board upon the expiration of his appointment as at 
31 december 2012 at his own request.

the supervisory Board wishes to express its thanks and 
appreciation to the members of the management Board, 
as well as the employees of all the subsidiaries of the 
deutsche wohnen Group, for their successful work in 
the year under review.

frankfurt/main, march 2013

on behalf of the supervisory Board

uwe e. flach
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management Board

as at march 2013

michael zahn
chief executive officer, Berlin

lars wittan
chief financial officer, Berlin

composition of the management Board 
and the supervisory Board

supervisory Board

as at march 2013

uwe e. flach
chairman, frankfurt/main

dr rer. pol. andreas kretschmer
deputy chairman, dusseldorf

dr h.c. wolfgang clement
Bonn

matthias hünlein
oberursel

dr michael leinwand
Bad honnef

dr florian stetter
erding
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Business environment

organisation and Group structure

deutsche wohnen aG together with its subsidiaries 
(hereinafter referred to as “deutsche wohnen” or 
“Group") is currently one of the largest publicly listed 
real estate companies in Germany, measured by market 
capitalisation. its real estate holdings include about 
83,700 residential and commercial units as well as 
nursing care facilities with about 1,900 nursing places at 
a fair value of around eur 4.9 billion in total. the com-
pany is listed on the mdaX stock index of the German 
stock exchange. consistent with its business strategy, 
the focus of deutsche wohnen is on residential and 
nursing care properties in fast-growing conurbations 
and metropolitan areas of Germany, such as Greater 
Berlin, the rhine-main region with frankfurt/main, and 
the rhineland with dusseldorf as its centre, as well as 
on stable conurbations and metropolitan areas such as 
hanover/Brunswick/magdeburg. in the German metro-
politan areas, the fundamental economic growth data, 
population influx and the demographic development are 
a very good basis for achieving strong and stable cash 
flows from letting and leasing, and for using opportu-
nities to create value.

the diagram below shows the clear organisational divi-
sion between management and asset companies. the 
management companies are allocable to the respective 
segments. deutsche wohnen aG therefore has a tradi-
tional holding function – with responsibility for the areas 
of corporate development, corporate finance, finance, 
human resources, investor relations and corporate 
communication.

deutsche Wohnen management Gmbh
the development and management of the residential 
property portfolio is the responsibility of deutsche wohnen 
management Gmbh. the company deals with all activi-
ties related to the management and administration of 
residential property, the management of rental con-
tracts and tenant support. By steadily developing our 
portfolio, we can make use of any rent increase poten-
tial and keep the vacancy rate at a low level. in addition, 
we guarantee efficient management of the residential 
properties in cooperation with qualified system provid-
ers. a specially designed quality management system 
for facility management allows us to check specially 
defined performance standards. 

deutsche Wohnen corporate real estate Gmbh
deutsche wohnen corporate real estate Gmbh 
essentially bundles the Group’s sales activities. 
deutsche wohnen’s residential holdings held for sale 
are divided into the strategic sale of residential property 
to capital investors among others, and the sale of 
 residential property in non-core regions, primarily to 
institutional investors. we continuously release capital, 
especially with the sale of residential property in the 
strategic core and growth regions with considerable 
margins, and thereby strengthen our internal financing 
capacity.

deutsche Wohnen aG  
management and central administration

Residential Nursing

Deutsche Wohnen  
Management GmbH

Deutsche Wohnen  
Corporate Real Estate GmbH

KaTHaRiNENHoF®

Seniorenwohn- und Pflegeanlage  
Betriebs-GmbH

asset companies
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Katharinenhof® seniorenwohn- und 
Pflegeanlage Betriebs-Gmbh
in the business segment nursing we manage and market 
retirement and nursing homes for senior citizens, most 
of which are owned by deutsche wohnen under the 
brand katharinenhof®. these facilities provide full 
in-patient care with the aim of enabling the residents to 
have an active lifestyle and maximum possible inde-
pendence. as part of assisted living, we also provide 
elderly people with comprehensive services which are 
appropriate to senior citizens, in addition to the residen-
tial units.

Group legal structure

registered capital and shares
the registered capital of deutsche wohnen aG 
amounted to eur 146.1 million as at 31 december 2012, 
and is divided into 146.1 million non-par value shares 
with a notional share of the registered capital of 
eur 1.00 per share. as at 31 december 2012, around 
99.93 % of the company’s shares were bearer shares 
(146,046,338 shares); the remaining approximately 
0.07 % were registered shares (96,520 shares). all 
shares carry the same rights and obligations. each 
share entitles the holder to one vote at the annual Gen-
eral meeting and determines the basis for the division of 
company profit amongst shareholders. the rights and 
obligations of shareholders are outlined in detail in the 
provisions of the German stock corporation act (aktG), 
in particular sections 12, 53a ff., 118 ff. and 186 aktG. 
there are no shares with special rights that grant pow-
ers of control.

the management Board of deutsche wohnen aG is not 
aware of any restrictions with regard to voting rights or 
transfer of shares.

in the event of capital increases, the new shares are 
issued as bearer shares.

By resolution of the general shareholders’ meeting dated 
4 december 2012, which was entered into the commer-
cial register on 10 January 2013, the management Board 
has been authorised to increase the company’s regis-
tered capital, with the consent of the supervisory Board, 
by up to around eur 73.1 million once or several times 
in the period until 3 december 2017, by the issuance of 
up to around 73.1 million new ordinary bearer shares 
against cash contributions and/or contributions in 
kind (authorised capital 2012/ii); the original appro- 
ved authorised capital in the amount of around 
eur 7.3 million was cancelled at the same time. the 
shareholders must in principle be granted subscription 
rights within the scope of the authorised capital. how-
ever, according to the detailed provisions of the articles 
of association, the management Board is authorised in 
certain cases to exclude the subscription rights of share-
holders with the approval of the supervisory Board.

in a partial utilisation of the new authorised capital 
2012/ii, the company increased its registered capital in 
January 2013 to around eur 160.8 million by issuing 
14,614,285 new ordinary bearer shares (non-par value 
shares) against cash contributions with the subscription 
right excluded. the capital increase was registered 
into the commercial register on 17 January 2013. the 
authorised capital was reduced accordingly to around 
eur 58.5 million.

the registered capital can be contingently increased by 
up to around eur 25.58 million through the issue of up 
to 25.58 million new ordinary bearer shares with divi-
dend rights from the start of the financial year of their 
issuance (contingent capital 2012).

the contingent capital increase serves to grant shares 
to the owners or creditors of options or convertible 
bonds as well as profit participation rights with option or 
conversion rights which, in accordance with the author-
isation of the annual General meeting of 6 June 2012, 
are issued up to 5 June 2017 by the company, or by 
dependent companies or enterprises in which the com-
pany has a majority shareholding. it shall only be exer-
cised insofar as option or conversion rights related to 
the aforementioned options or convertible bonds or 
profit participation rights are exercised, or if the conver-
sion obligations arising from such bonds are fulfilled, 
and provided own shares are not used to service the 
obligations.

Business environment
Group Management Report
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shareholder structure*)

the following chart shows our shareholder structure 
(based on the most recent relevant notification from 
the respective shareholders according to the German 
securities trading act (wphG)) as at 19 february 2013:

appointment and dismissal of members of the 
 management Board and amendments to the articles 
of association
members of the management Board are appointed and 
dismissed in accordance with sections 84 and 85 of the 
German stock corporation act (aktG). the supervisory 
Board appoints members of the management Board 
for a maximum of five years. a reappointment or an 
ex tension of the term of office are both permitted for a 
maximum of five years. the articles of association of 
deutsche wohnen aG additionally stipulate in article 5 
that the management Board has to consist of at least 
two members and that otherwise the supervisory Board 
determines the number of management Board members. 
it may appoint deputy members of the management 
Board and nominate a member of the management 
Board as chief executive officer or spokesperson of the 
management Board.

according to section 119 [1] no. 5 of the German stock 
corporation act (aktG), the annual General meeting 
decides on changes to the articles of association. 
according to article 10 [5] of the articles of association, 
the supervisory Board is authorised to make changes to 
the articles of association which affect the wording only. 
according to article 10 [3] of the articles of association, 
the resolutions of the annual General meeting are 
passed by a simple majority of votes and, if a majority of 
shares is required, by a simple majority of capital, 
unless otherwise prescribed by law or the articles of 
association.

Shareholders

› 5 %
 sun life financial inc.1) 5.03 %

› 3 %
 first eagle investment management, llc 2) 4.72 %
 zurich deutscher herold lebensversicherung aG 4.02 %
 Ärzteversorgung westfalen-lippe 3.33 %
  stichting pensioenfonds aBp3)/apG algemene 
pensioen Groep n.V. 3.13 %

 mfs international Value fund 3.08 %
 Blackrock, inc.1) 3.03 %
 the capital Group companies, inc.4) 3.02 %

8 institutional investors in total 29.36 %

 other 70.64 %

freefloat according to deutsche Börse 100.00 %

shareholder structure*) 
in %

*)  as at 19 february 2013 according to latest wphG (German securities 
exchange act) notification received from above stated shareholders

1)  attributed voting rights according to article 22, section 1, sentence 1, 
no. 6 wphG in connection with article 22, section 1, sentence 2 wphG

2)  attributed voting rights according to article 22, section 1, sentence 1, 
no. 6 wphG

3)  attributed voting rights according to article 22, section 1, sentence 1, 
no. 1 wphG

4)  attributed voting rights according to article 22, section 1, sentence 1, 
no. 6 wphG in connection with article 22, section 1, sentence 2 and 
sentence 3 wphG
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Group strategy and Group control 

Group strategy

deutsche wohnen regards itself as a portfolio manager 
for real estate in the areas of residential and nursing 
care with a clear focus on conurbations and metropoli-
tan areas in Germany – our strategic core and growth 
regions are located there. our holdings are currently 
located predominantly in Greater Berlin, the rhine-main 
region including frankfurt/main, the rhineland with 
dusseldorf as its centre, as well as hanover/Bruns wick/
magdeburg. these locations are centres of high popula-
tion density and are characterised by a  stable or 
dynamic development of economic parameters such as 
value creation, economic strength, income, innovative 
capacity and competitiveness.

Based on the current size and quality of the real estate 
portfolio, the focus on densely populated cities and metro-
politan areas of Germany, and the high management 
quality of its executives, deutsche wohnen can look into 
the future with confidence.

our competitive advantages
the competitive advantages of deutsche wohnen 
include:

•  an attractive and almost fully let residential portfolio in 
strategic core and growth regions with high rental 
potential in core+ regions;

•  high-quality nursing facilities with occupancy rates 
clearly above the market average;

•  an experienced management team with many years 
of expertise both in the residential as well as in the 
nursing segment;

•  scalability of the company platform and thus cost 
 efficiency potential through further growth;

•  a proven integration expertise;

•  a stable capital structure with a low debt ratio;

•  a stable cash flow on the one hand with a high level of 
liquidity for future acquisitions on the other hand;

•  a steadily built shareholder base which supports our 
company policy, and

•  an improved creditworthiness as a result of a lowered 
debt ratio as well as a real estate portfolio with 
stronger earnings.

regarding our strategic portfolio structure please refer 
to our explanations in the “portfolio management and 
portfolio strategy” chapter on page 27 of the annual report.

Business environment
Group strategy and Group control
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Group control

all of deutsche wohnen’s actions are aimed at conti n u-
ously improving the earnings situation and thereby the 
internal financing capacity.

our dividend policy ensures that sufficient liquidity is 
available in the company for value-enhancing invest-
ments and that debt is kept at a level that is acceptable 
for this asset class.

at the holding level, all earnings and payment flows are 
aggregated in terms of the key figures of ffo, naV and 
ltV and assessed. at the same time, the investor rela-
tions department applies a benchmark across the 
 relevant peers on a quarterly basis. this swot analysis 
serves for the validation of deutsche wohnen in com-
parison to its key competitors.

in the segment of residential property management, 
the development of the rent per square metre and the 
vacancy rate, differentiated according to defined port-
folios and/or regions, are the performance measures for 
management. this includes the scope and earnings of 
the new lettings and the development of the costs asso-
ciated with letting, such as maintenance, marketing of 
properties to let, operating costs and rental loss. all 
parameters are assessed on a monthly basis and are 
checked against detailed budget estimates. measures 
can be derived from this and strategies developed to 
realise rent increase potential while keeping cost devel-
opments under control, and thus to constantly improve 
operating results. this established system enables us to 
identify residential holdings with low development 
potential, but also to realise short-term potential for the 
company from portfolio acquisitions.

the disposals segment is managed by monitoring the 
disposal prices per sqm and the margin as the differ-
ence between the carrying amount and disposal price. 
in the process, the values obtained are compared to the 
target figures. they are also compared to the market on 
an ongoing basis and adjusted, where necessary. 

as part of regular reporting, asset management reports 
to the management Board on the development of the 
major indicators compared with the target figures. 
 furthermore, risks and opportunities are constantly 
assessed in the context of cluster valuation.

other operational expenses for staff expenses, general 
and administration expenses and the non-ope rational 
indicators such as finance expenses and taxes are also 
part of the central planning and controlling system and 
the monthly report to the management Board. current 
developments are also shown here and compared to the 
target figures.

financial expenses are of considerable importance, as 
they have a significant impact on Group earnings and 
cash flow performance. the corporate finance depart-
ment of deutsche wohnen aG (holding company) is 
responsible for the management of financial expenses. 
active and ongoing management of the hedging rate, 
together with permanent market monitoring, enables the 
continuous optimisation of the financial result. in addi-
tion, the department is responsible for risk manage-
ment by expanding the debt capital portfolio to include 
new bank partners and insurance companies.

in the nursing segment, we generate internal growth 
most of all from increases in nursing care benefits and 
occupancy rates (in the area of residential nursing 
homes). in all katharinenhof® facilities, rents and 
nursing fees are in the upper third of the relevant 
regional market average. reporting to the management 
Board regarding this segment is carried out on a 
monthly basis as well.

to measure the cash flow generated from operational 
business activities, and to compare this with target fig-
ures, we use as indicators adjusted profit before taxes 
(eBt) and funds from operations (ffo) before dispo-
sals. consolidated profit/loss is then the starting value 
for determining the ffo, which is adjusted by deprecia-
tion, one-off items, non-cash financial expenses and 
income, and tax expenses and income.

with the help of regular reporting, the management 
Board and specialist departments can evaluate the 
 economic development of the Group in a timely manner 
and compare it with the figures from the previous month 
and year, as well as with the target figures. in addition, 
anticipated developments are determined by means of 
updated forecasts. in this way, opportunities as well as 
negative trends can be identified at short notice and 
measures can be taken to make use of these opportuni-
ties or countermeasures can be adopted.

overall, the increase in shareholder value is measured 
by the performance of the epra net asset Value 
(epra naV) and the total shareholder return (share 
price increase plus dividend).
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portfolio management and portfolio strategy 
and portfolio valuation

Portfolio management and portfolio strategy

with the clear focus of our portfolio on conurbations and 
metropolitan areas, we also expect to profit in the future 
from the dynamics of these growth markets.

on the product side, we focus on the mid-price segment 
of middle-class residential neighbourhoods. the high 
proportion of listed estates from the weimar republic 
represents an important and unique feature of our port-
folio. these estates are still characterised by modern 
architecture, intelligent floor plans and very generously 
designed living environments.

in the context of our medium-term planning, we intend 
to further expand the portfolio of deutsche wohnen. it is 
our aim to increase our holdings in our present regions, 
and to break into new conurbations and metropolitan 
areas when appropriate market opportunities arise.

the following table summarises the acquisitions of 2012 
with their most important key data:

BauBeCon

Brunswick, 
 Dresden, 

Leipzig Berlin
Berlin, 

Potsdam

Number of residential units (rounded) 23,400 5,100 5,200 1,400

Gross acquisition price     

in EUR per sqm 815 770 710 1,022

In-place rent multiplier 13.0 13.4 13.1 15.8

FFO*) yield ~ 9 % ~ 9 % ~ 9 % ~ 9 %

*) ffo before disposals and before taxes after completed integration

we have invested nearly eur 1.8 billion in new real 
estate portfolios over the past twelve months. in the 
process, around eur 1.2 billion of additional debt capital 
was borrowed, and around eur 0.6 million of equity 
capital was invested. all these acquisitions will consid-
erably improve the profitability of the deutsche wohnen 
Group in the next two years. with an ffo yield (before 
disposals and before taxes) which, following integration, 
is targeted to amount to an average of 9 % in relation to 
the equity invested, we are substantially above the Group 
figure of 4.2 % as at 31 december 2011.

the equity raised in January 2013 with a premium on the 
epra naV puts us in the position to acquire additional 
portfolios of around eur 500 million.

Group Management Report
Group strategy and Group control
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oriented to growth
with the acquisitions made in 2012, our holdings have 
increased from 50,626 to 82,738 residential units. in the 
course of this process, our present portfolio clustering 
was expanded by the cluster core+. 

we now differentiate in terms of strategic core and 
growth regions – and within these, between core+ and 
core regions – and non-core regions, which before now 
were described as disposals regions.

after the newly defined clustering the portfolio is struc-
tured, as at 31 december 2012, as follows compared to 
the previous year:

Residential

31/12/2012 31/12/2011

Residential 
units area

Share of total 
portfolio

Residential 
units area

Share of total 
portfolio

number sqm k in % number sqm k in %

strategic core and 
growth regions 77,007 4,699 93 47,240 2,865 93

Letting portfolio 71,455 4,328 86 42,558 2,562 84

Privatisation 5,552 371 7 4,682 303 9

Core+ 51,587 3,086 62 38,436 2,304 76

Core 25,420 1,613 31 8,804 561 17

Non-core 5,731 366 7 3,386 211 7

total 82,738 5,066 100 50,626 3,076 100

including acquisitions with transfer of risk and rewards on 1/1 and 1/2/2013 or 1 and 2/1/2012

deutsche wohnen now manages more than 82,700 resi-
dential units in total. 62 % of these are within core+ 
regions and 31 % in core regions. merely 7 % of the total 
residential holdings are classified as non-core and 
these will be subject to streamlining in the course of 
disposals.

considering acquisitions and disposals made in the area 
of privatisation during this period, our privatisation hold-
ings have increased by 870 to 5,552 units, so that we 
have access to a larger contingent for future privatisa-
tion measures.
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the following summary shows the portfolio as at 
31 december 2012 with information about the in-place 
rent and the vacancy rate:

Residential

31/12/2012

Residential units 

number

Share of total 
portfolio 

in %

in-place
rent1) 

EUR/sqm

Vacancy 

in %

strategic core and growth regions 77,007 93 5.54 2.1
Core+ 51,587 62 5.73 1.9

Core 25,420 31 5.18 2.6

Non-core 5,731 7 4.76 8.6

total 82,738 100 5.49 2.5

including acquisitions with transfer of risks and rewards on 1/1 and 1/2/2013
1) contractually owed rent from rented apartments divided by rented area

the annualised current gross rental income across the 
entire real estate holdings, including the nearly 1,000 
commercial units as well as the 21,000 parking spaces, 
amounts to around eur 341 million. if one considers 
only eleven months’ current gross rental income from 
the most recent acquisition of about 5,200 residential 
units in Berlin because the transfer of risks and rewards 
occurred on 1 february 2013, then the current gross 
rental income for 2013 – before taking into account 
rental shortfall due to disposals during the period as 
well as rental increases within the period – will be 
around eur 339 million.

Group Management Report
portfolio management and portfolio strategy and portfolio valuation
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we summarise the most dynamic markets with strong 
rental growth in the cluster core+. these include Greater 
Berlin, the rhine-main region and the rhineland with 
dusseldorf as its centre. the partial region of frankfurt/
main, which has existed in the past, will be included in 
the metropolitan area of rhine-main from now on. 

Residential

31/12/2012

Residential units 

number

Share of total 
portfolio 

in %

in-place
rent1) 

EUR/sqm

Vacancy 

in %

core+ 51,587 62 5.73 1.9
Letting portfolio 48,436 59 5.73 1.6

Privatisation 3,151 4 5.68 5.7

Greater Berlin 40,692 49 5.48 1.4
Letting portfolio 38,842 47 5.50 1.3

Privatisation 1,850 2 5.14 4.5

rhine-main 9,275 11 6.71 3.3
Letting portfolio 8,142 10 6.78 2.6

Privatisation 1,133 1 6.28 7.9

rhineland 1,620 2 6.34 2.6
Letting portfolio 1,452 2 6.25 2.6

Privatisation 168 0 6.87 2.7

including acquisitions with transfer of risk and rewards on 1/1 and 1/2/2013
1) contractually owed rent from rented apartments divided by rented area

 

Deutsche Wohnen Financial Report of the annual report 2012



31

the cluster core covers markets with moderately rising 
rents and stable rent development forecasts. these 
include hanover/Brunswick/magdeburg, the rhine 
 Valley south and north as well as central Germany 
with dresden, leipzig, halle (saale) and erfurt.

Residential

31/12/2012

Residential units 

number

Share of total 
portfolio 

in %

in-place
rent1) 

EUR/sqm

Vacancy 

in %

core 25,420 31 5.18 2.6
Letting portfolio 23,019 28 5.16 2.4

Privatisation 2,401 3 5.37 3.8

hanover/Brunswick/magdeburg 10,929 13 5.21 3.2
Letting portfolio 10,028 12 5.15 3.2

Privatisation 901 1 5.88 3.3

rhine valley south 4,952 6 5.39 1.8
Letting portfolio 4,653 6 5.39 1.4

Privatisation 299 0 5.46 7.9

rhine valley north 2,944 4 5.12 1.4
Letting portfolio 2,798 3 5.09 0.8

Privatisation 146 0 5.65 11.2

central Germany 3,777 5 5.04 2.5
Letting portfolio 3,777 5 5.04 2.5

Privatisation 0 0 0.00 0.0

other2) 2,818 3 4.99 2.8
Letting portfolio 1,763 2 5.05 3.3

Privatisation 1,055 1 4.90 1.9

including acquisitions with transfer of risks and rewards on 1/1 and 1/2/2013
1) contractually owed rent from rented apartments divided by rented area
2) essentially, kiel/luebeck

Group Management Report
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we intend to gradually dispose of holdings in residential 
units in the cluster non-core for reasons of portfolio 
strategy. in particular, the residential holdings “dispo-
sal” are to be sold off more quickly because of structural 
risks.

Residential

31/12/2012

Residential units 

number

Share of total 
portfolio 

in %

in-place
rent1) 

EUR/sqm

Vacancy 

in %

non-core 5,731 7 4.76 8.6
Disposal 2,246 3 4.69 12.7

Other 3,485 4 4.80 6.0

1) contractually owed rent for the rented residential units divided by rental area

in the course of the acquisitions made in 2012, the 
non-core holdings increased from 3,386 to 5,731 resi-
dential units. the share of the overall holdings, how-
ever, remains unchanged at 7 %. in the financial year 
2012 we sold nearly 1,300 units from the non-core 
holdings, half of which were “disposal” and the other 
half “other holdings”.

overall, the acquisitions in our strategic core and growth 
regions in combination with selected disposals strength-
ened the yield of our portfolio.
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Portfolio valuation

the further improved operational development of the 
portfolio and the higher purchase prices realised in the 
market with a markedly higher transaction volume led 
to an increase in the value of the property holdings by 
2.8 % or eur 119.2 million as at the reporting date. this 
valuation result was confirmed as at the reporting 
date by an external valuation report on these holdings by 
cB richard ellis. 

the following table shows the revaluation of our holdings:

Fair value 
Residential

31/12/2012

Fair value 

EUR m

Fair value 

EUR/sqm

Multiple
in-place rent 

 

Multiple
market rent 

 

strategic core and growth regions 4,148 981 14.5 12.6
Core+ 3,036 1,080 15.3 13.0

Core 1,111 785 12.7 11.7

Non-core 173 540 10.5 9.0

total 4,320 950 14.3 12.4

without taking into account acquisitions with transfer of risks and rewards on 1/1 and 1/2/2013

Group Management Report
portfolio management and portfolio strategy and portfolio valuation
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employees

the long-term success of deutsche wohnen Group is to 
a significant extent based on the high degree of expertise 
and the great personal commitment of its employees.

for the integration of the new portfolio, deutsche wohnen 
is planning to hire more than 100 new employees for 
the residential business segment. the new employees 
will primarily work at the Berlin head office and the 
new sites in hanover, Brunswick and magdeburg, as 
well as in central Germany. the largest staff increase in 
this process will be made at deutsche wohnen manage-
ment Gmbh.

in the process of expanding our staff, we have 
also strengthened the management team of 
deutsche wohnen aG. in doing so, we succeeded in get-
ting experienced experts on board in the corporate 
development, corporate finance as well as m&a 
departments.
 
the new employees will find an established corporate 
 culture, flat hierarchies and secure jobs at the 
deutsche wohnen Group. in order to motivate our 
employees and bind them to our company for the long 
term, we offer a performance-related remuneration sys-
tem and attractive opportunities for personal develop-
ment. in the context of staff development, we support 
the specialist and management careers of our employ-
ees individually and over the long term. our manage-
ment team is being prepared for the future challenges 
to face our company with the help of management and 
development programmes.

in acquiring new talent, deutsche wohnen Group par-
ticularly draws on its own young employees. we have 
trained young people to become specialists in the real 
estate industry for many years – with great success. 
many of our former trainees hold management posi-
tions in the company today. in 2012, 95 trainees took 
part in our training programme.

sustainability report

deutsche wohnen embraces its social responsibility, 
and its business activities are guided by the principles of 
sustainability. we do not see the ecological, social and 
economic dimensions of our business as contradictions, 
but as elements that can be harmonised to achieve sus-
tainable and therefore long-term company growth. 
against this background, deutsche wohnen initiated a 
process in the middle of 2012 for developing a sustain-
ability strategy. the result of this process will be docu-
mented in a sustainability report.

Employees of Deutsche Wohnen Group 
(excl. trainees) 1,417

Men in % 23

Women in % 77

Number of trainees 95

Women in management positions in % 52

Staff turnover rate in % 2.7

Average age in years 43

all information is data as at reporting date of 31/12/2012 
and also includes the katharinenhof® Group

overview of employee figures at Deutsche Wohnen Group

Residential 
(including 
holding): 
382

Nursing 
and 

Assisted 
 Living: 

1,035

Deutsche Wohnen Financial Report of the annual report 2012



35

significant economic factors

General economic conditions

Global economy 
the development of the world economy in 2012 was con-
siderably influenced by the sovereign debt and banking 
crisis as well as the macroeconomic crisis in the euro-
zone. these factors caused a great amount of insecurity 
in global markets and led to a cooling down of the 
worldwide economy. in its report, the council of eco-
nomic experts for the evaluation of the overall economic 
development assumes weakened global economic 
growth of probably 3.3 % for 2012.1) 

in its winter Baselines 2013, the German institute for 
economic research (diw) also assumes weaker world-
wide economic growth in the past year. accordingly, it is 
expected to have fallen to 3.2 % in 2012 from 4.2 % in 
2011. the causes of the decline are primarily the slow-
down in economic development in emerging countries 
and, at the same time, the continuing weak economic 
dynamics of the developed economies. the crisis in the 
eurozone is playing an important role in this scenario.2)

development in Germany
at the start of 2012, the economy in Germany continued 
to develop without showing any real effects from the 
eurozone crisis. however, economic development in 
Germany was weakened due to the re-emergence of the 
eurozone crisis in the middle of the year, and the unex-
pected slowdown in the global economy. the resulting 
insecurity, which started to increase once again, 
prompted companies to reduce their investments. more-
over, private households also responded by being more 
cautious in their spending for fear of job losses, even 
though the employment situation in Germany can be 
regarded as favourable.2) according to initial calculations 
by the federal statistics office, the price-adjusted gross 
domestic product (Gdp) rose in Germany by 0.7 % in 
2012. at the same time, German foreign trade proved to 
be very robust in a difficult foreign trade environment.3)

in its winter Baselines, the diw assumes an increase 
in real gross domestic product of 0.8 % for 2012, and 
forecasts for Germany a growth in real gross domestic 
pro duct of 0.9 % in 2013.2)

 

for the second consecutive time, the federal statistics 
office was expecting rising population figures in 
 Germany. accordingly, the number of inhabitants was 
expected to rise to 82.0 million people by end of 2012. 
this development was caused by a large population 
influx – according to the estimate of the federal statis-
tics office – of 340,000 persons from foreign  countries. 
this was counteracted by the deficit in births, which will 
pro b ably be between 185,000 and 200,000 persons.4)

German residential property market

demographic change and supply and demand  
for  residential property
the residential property market in Germany has 
changed noticeably in the past few years. a clear pro-
cess of urbanisation can be seen. in some of the large 
cities and conurbations excess demand is starting to 
become apparent. this development is caused by 
increasing numbers of households and rising expecta-
tions in terms of living space. in addition, the favourable 
job market situation in Germany is encouraging migra-
tion from abroad. Based on this trend, it is assumed that 
there will be growing demand for residential property in 
Germany until 2025 – up to an estimated 41.14 million 
households. in metropolitan areas a growth in house-
holds of more than 10 % is expected by 2025.

moreover, the considerable insecurity in the capital 
markets is making apartments increasingly attractive as 
a capital investment and hedge against inflation.

furthermore, new apartments have only been built to a 
limited extent in recent years. however, the current 
increase in the amount of planning permission granted 
illustrates that building activity is picking up and is 
therefore responding at a delay to rising demand. at the 
same time, this new building activity is increasing par-
ticularly in markets where there is strong demand for 
apartments. it has to be feared in this regard, however, 
that the development in supply will be unable to keep 
pace with demand over the short term, and that excess 
demand will result in the meantime.

Group Management Report
employees

sustainability report
significant economic factors

1)  council of economic experts – annual report 2012/13
2)  diw – winter Baselines 2013 – weekly report 1+2 2013
3)  federal statistical office, press release no. 17/13 of 15 January 2013
4)  federal statistical office, press release no. 13/13 of 14 January 2013
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while rents and prices are on the rise in the growth 
regions, and new building is also required, the opposite 
is happening in the shrinking and mostly rural areas: 
the residential property industry there is confronted with 
a declining population, increasing vacancies and a drop 
in prices and rents. consequently, the development of 
the residential market in Germany is not homogeneous. 
the greatest rental price increases for new lettings and 
re-lettings in 2011 were to be found mainly in large cities, 
such as Berlin with +7.4 % or hamburg with +8.8 %.5)

core+ regions

the core+ regions consist of regions with a high popu-
lation density and a dynamic economic development. 
they include: Greater Berlin, the regions rhine-main 
and frankfurt/main as well as the rhineland region with 
dusseldorf.

Greater Berlin
Berlin is both the German capital and Germany’s largest 
city with more than 3.5 million inhabitants and a work-
force numbering 1.7 million. at the same time, it gener-
ates a gross domestic product of around eur 101 billion. 

the Greater Berlin area consists of the city of Berlin as 
well as its outskirts, foremost amongst them is the city 
of potsdam.

Berlin as a scientific and economic location
the positive economic trend in Berlin continues. accord-
ing to an initial forecast, the 1.4 % increase in Berlin’s 
gross domestic product is greater than the average 
increase for the whole of Germany (0.7 %).6) with 2.5 %, 
Berlin also had the strongest increase in employment of 
all the federal states in 2012.7) the purchasing power of 
the federal capital likewise rose by 4 % to eur 18,883 
per capita in comparison to the previous year. it is, 
 however, markedly below the Germany-wide average of 
eur 20,554 per capita.8)

Because of its geographical location, its convenient 
transport network and the specialist academic pro-
grammes at its universities, the city plays an important 
role in the expansion of international economic rela-
tions. additionally, with its large number of universities 
and research institutes, Berlin has an excellent reputa-
tion as a region for science and research.

the very positive economic situation in Berlin also has 
an impact on its outskirts. in particular, the federal 
state capital of Brandenburg, potsdam, should be men-
tioned here. for years it has had a positive migration 
balance. in 2011, there were a total of 157,361 inhabi-
tants in the city. the forecasts up to 2020 assume there 
will be an additional influx and are expecting the num-
ber of inhabitants to increase to 164,000.9)

residential property market Berlin
Berlin continues to grow: the number of inhabitants 
increased in 2011 by nearly 40,000 to more than 
3.502 million. as at 30 september 2012, the statistics 
office of Berlin-Brandenburg forecast a population level 
of 3.531 million.10) one cause of this strong growth is, 
amongst other factors, the influx of people from abroad. 
the Berlin senate is expecting a population increase of 
about 254,000 by 2030.11)

in 2012, nearly two million households were counted in 
the census. on average 1.72 persons live in one household: 
this makes Berlin the city of one-person households. 
according to the forecasts of the senate department for 
urban development, the household size will fall even 
further to 1.70 persons per household by 2020.12)

the number of completed residential units in Berlin 
rose only modestly in 2011 from 1,924 to 1,990 residen-
tial units. construction permits for new multi-family 
houses, however, increased considerably by 72 % to 
3,519 residential units in 2011 compared to the previous 
year (2,042 residential units). compared to the annual 
influx of population and the increase in the number of 
households, however, this construction activity cannot 
compensate for the rising demand for living space.13)

the most recent rent index, which was published in 
2011, already illustrated the excess demand in Berlin. 
according to the index, average rents rose by 7.9 % to 
eur 5.21 per sqm. this trend had been visible for some 
time in rising rents for new lettings. an up-to-date rent 
index will be published in 2013.

5)  report on the rental and real estate industry in Germany 2012
6)  federal statistics office, press release no. 17/13 of 15 January 2013 

in conjunction with the market report on the economic situation in Berlin 
3rd Quarter 2012, forecast 2012/2013

7)  press release from the statistics office of Berlin-Brandenburg 
dated 24 January 2013

8)  status 31/12/2012, mB-research Gmbh
9)  economy and statistics of the city of potsdam, dated march 2013
10)  statistics office, population level of Berlin, september 2012 

in conjunction with statistics about Berlin (short version) 2012
11)  population forecast for Berlin and districts 2011–2030, october 2012 

in conjunction with BBu real estate market monitor 2012
12)  iBB housing market report 2011
13) BBu market monitor real estate 2012
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rhine-main region including frankfurt/main
with around 5.57 million inhabitants, a workforce of 
approximately 2.89 million people and a gross domestic 
product of about eur 200 billion, the rhine-main region 
with frankfurt/main is one of the most significant eco-
nomic regions in Germany. the internationally outstand-
ing position of the region is owed to its role as a major 
financial market, exhibition centre and transport hub.

frankfurt/main an economic location
in the rhine-main region, frankfurt/main is the most 
important city. the population has been steadily rising 
over the past few years. in June 2012, frankfurt/main 
passed the mark of 700,000 residents – as at 30 sep-
tember 2012, the population figure stated by the city 
administration was 704,449 inhabitants. frankfurt/main 
is, in terms of its number of inhabitants, the largest city 
in the state of hesse and Germany’s fifth largest city.

the city is the central transport hub of europe. the 
 airport offers connections to important destinations 
worldwide. the road network is connected directly to the 
european network by its motorways and interstate 
roads. additionally, frankfurt/main is an international 
trade fair and trading centre. a total of more than 40 
trade fairs and exhibitions take place there each year. 
furthermore, the city is the undisputed stock exchange 
and financial centre in Germany. 

the population in the city of frankfurt/main has an 
above-average purchasing power of eur 23,332 per 
inhabitant. the purchasing power of the entire rhine-
main region, which is at eur 21,073 per capita, is also 
above average. the German average is eur 20,554.14) 

residential property market frankfurt/main
the continually rising population figures in frankfurt are 
evidence of the region’s attractiveness as a place to live 
and work. the population increased by 47,593 between 
2000 and 2011. the population forecast predicts further 
growth by 2030 to more than 720,000 inhabitants. here 
too, the number of households is rising more sharply 
due to the tendency of more people to live alone.15) 

specifically for households with a low to medium 
income, the situation in the residential market is leading 
to a shortage of supply. apartments in frankfurt that are 
finished to a medium-to-good standard command rents 
of eur 7.00 per sqm to eur 16.00 per sqm. depending 
on quality and location, these prices are exceeded 
 considerably in desirable residential areas. the current 
amount of new construction cannot meet the growing 
need for living space.16)

rhineland region with dusseldorf
our core region rhineland includes the city of dusseldorf 
as its center. with its 591,000 inhabitants and a work-
force numbering 490,000, dusseldorf is the capital of 
the federal state of north rhine-westphalia and an 
economically powerful centre in the region. with a gross 
domestic product per person in paid work of eur 86,384, 
the entire gross domestic product of dusseldorf 
amounts to around eur 42 billion in total.17)

dusseldorf as an economic location
dusseldorf has an important economic structure, and 
many consolidated companies with international opera-
tions are represented there. the consultancy and trade 
sectors are of particular importance.
 
all in all, more than 1,660 consulting firms, including 
mckinsey & company, inc. and the Boston consulting 
Group Gmbh, have registered offices in dusseldorf. this 
makes the city the top location in Germany for consult-
ing firms. in addition, dusseldorf is one of the most 
 significant German trade centres with more than 6,200 
wholesale and retail enterprises and a sales area of 
810,000 sqm. numerous large national and international 
trading groups have their headquarters here, for exam-
ple the metro Group, electronic partner, c&a or peek & 
cloppenburg. furthermore, the two daX-listed groups 
henkel and e.on are based in dusseldorf.

the city is at the same time a large and attractive sales 
market. at eur 24,661 per person, the purchasing 
power in dusseldorf is far greater than the national 
average.18)

14) status 31/12/2012, mB-research Gmbh
15)  statistical almanac of frankfurt/main, 2012 in conjunction with 

forecast of the Bertelsmann foundation, retrieved on 18/02/2013
16)  chamber of commerce, residential market report 2012, december 2012
17) city of dusseldorf, presentation dated 04/07/2012
18) status 31/12/2012, mB-research Gmbh – purchasing power in Germany
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residential property market in dusseldorf
the growth trend in the population figures, which has 
existed since the year 2000, will continue according to 
the demographic report of the city. in the forecast a rise 
in the number of inhabitants to around 605,500 in the 
year 2025 is expected.19) 

in the first half-year of 2012 rents amounted to eur 8.95 
per sqm on average, which is equivalent to a 5.3 % 
increase compared to the same period of the previous 
year (eur 8.50 per sqm). this development in rents 
underscores the rental price dynamics of the market 
and the increased demand.20)

core regions

in its core regions deutsche wohnen includes regions 
with a good economic situation and stable economic 
prospects. among these are hanover, Brunswick and 
magdeburg.

hanover, the state capital of lower saxony, currently 
has more than 516,000 inhabitants. the population of 
Brunswick is more than 245,000 and that of magdeburg 
more than 231,000. the purchasing power of hanover 
and Brunswick, at eur 21,487 and eur 21,809 per capita 
respectively, is above the national average. magdeburg’s 
purchasing power is eur 17,720 per capita.21)

economic location
these cities are located in the centre of Germany. 
densely populated areas such as Berlin, the ruhr region 
and southern Germany can be reached quickly via the 
existing transport links – motorway, railway as well as 
an airport. this geographical location gives the region 
logistical advantages, with the result that companies 
such as dhl, dB schenker, ups or hermes operate 
from here. traditionally, the automobile industry – e. g. 
Volkswagen – has been another strong sector in the 
region’s economy. moreover, hanover and magdeburg 
are home to their respective federal state governments.

the city of Brunswick, which is located near hanover, 
has developed into an important centre of commerce 
and research in europe. scientific organisations and 
research institutes work closely together with the local 
companies here. the spectrum spans from biotech-
nology to transport technology.

mechanical and plant engineering has traditionally been 
an important industrial sector in magdeburg. in addi-
tion, logistics, health care and environmental technolo-
gies represent viable core areas of business in the 
region’s economy. alongside these industries, magde-
burg’s universities add to its appeal as business location. 
together with companies and research institutes – such 
as the fraunhofer institute or the max-planck institute 
for dynamics – magdeburg’s universities form a network 
of research and innovation in this region.

residential property market
the residential property market in hanover is also posi-
tively influenced by the demographic development there. 
an influx of 12,000 people is expected in hanover by 
2025.22) according to a residential property market study 
by the department for urban development of the city of 
hanover, rents for new lettings have increased by 9.5 % 
since 2005 to eur 6.21 per sqm.23) the vacancy rate has 
been falling since 2006 and is currently below 3 %, which 
corresponds to natural fluctuation.22)

for Brunswick as well, an increase in the demand for 
residential units is predicted.24) the rent index is already 
showing an increase in existing rents over the last two 
years of up to 5 %.

compared to the rural areas of saxony-anhalt, the city 
of magdeburg will have a stable demographic structure 
in the coming years and will not be affected by popula-
tion losses for now. the residential property market in 
the state capital has a structural excess of nearly 17,500 
units. however, the vacancies are concentrated in resi-
dential holdings that have not been refurbished. the 
number of such holdings will be reduced by the city over 
the medium term.25)

19)  demography report 2011, dusseldorf 
20)  Jll housing market dusseldorf, 1st half-year 2012 in conjunction 

with the housing market report dusseldorf 2010/2011
21)  status 31/12/2012, mB-research Gmbh – purchasing power 2012 

in Germany
22)  region hanover, real estate market report 2012
23)  state capital hanover – department for urban development – 

 small-scale housing market study 2011, september 2012
24)  nBank – residential property market study 2010/2011 – 

perspective 2030
25)  city of magdeburg – integrated urban development concept – 

magdeburg 2025
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notes on the financial performance 
and financial position

financial performance

the operations of deutsche wohnen include the letting 
and management of predominantly its own holdings 
(earnings from residential property management), the 
sale of apartments to owner-occupiers, investors and 
institutional investors (earnings from disposals) and 
operating residential nursing home facilities and retire-
ment homes (earnings from nursing and assisted living).

the following overview shows the business development 
of the individual segments as well as other items in the 
consolidated profit and loss statement for the financial 
year 2012 compared to 2011:

in EUR m 2012 2011

Earnings from Residential 
Property Management 194.4 157.4

Earnings from Disposals 19.9 10.6

Earnings from Nursing and 
Assisted Living 9.9 9.2

Corporate expenses – 40.4 – 32.9

Other operating expenses / 
income 12.7 – 2.3

operating result (eBitda) 196.5 142.0

Depreciation and amortisation – 3.1 – 3.0

Fair value adjustments of 
investment properties 119.2 40.0

Financial result – 107.0 – 93.2

Profit before taxes 205.6 85.8
Current taxes – 10.5 – 5.4

Deferred taxes – 49.6 – 29.8

Group profit 145.5 50.6

overall, deutsche wohnen ended the financial year 2012 
with a consolidated Group profit in the amount of 
eur 145.5 million (+ eur 94.9 million compared to 2011).

in the financial year 2012, deutsche wohnen profited 
from the strong demand for living space in conurba-
tions and metropolitan areas caused by a continuous 
migratory influx and rising numbers of households. we 
were therefore able to realise existing rent potential and 
drive our disposal business. furthermore, there 
was the added value achieved through acquisitions – 
especially the acquisition of the BauBecon Group, 
which is included in the Group financial statements for 
four months. 

earnings before taxes, adjusted for one-off and valua-
tion effects, are as follows:

in EUR m 2012 2011

Profit before taxes 205.6 85.8
Gains/losses from 
fair-value adjustments of 
investment properties – 119.2 – 40.0

Settlement on 
loss  compensation – 20.3 0.0

Transaction costs BauBeCon 12.2 0.0

Gains/losses from fair value 
adjustments of derivative 
financial instruments 0.2 0.2

adjusted earnings 
before taxes 78.5 46.0

it was possible to improve the adjusted earnings before 
taxes by eur 32.5 million. a major factor in driving this 
improvement was the acquisition of residential holdings, 
which in turn helped to achieve economies of scale.

the compensation payment from rreef management 
Gmbh (rreef) is based on a control agreement for the 
financial years of 1999 to mid-2006. with the approval of 
the annual General meeting in June 2012, the payment 
in the amount of eur 20.0 million was made.

regarding the acquisition of the BauBecon Group, one-
off transaction costs in the amount of eur 12.2 million 
were incurred. they essentially concern commitment 
fees for bridge loans and other financing costs (alto -
gether eur 7.8 million) as well as integration costs 
(eur 4.4 million).

Group Management Report
significant economic factors

notes on the financial performance and financial position

G
ro

up
 m

an
ag

em
en

t 
r

ep
or

t
Fu

rt
he

r 
In

fo
rm

at
io

n
G

ro
up

 F
in

an
ci

al
 

 St
at

em
en

ts



40

earnings from residential Property management
the following overview shows key portfolio figures as at 
the reporting dates:

in EUR m 31/12/2012 31/12/2011

Residential units 82,736 50,626

Residential and commercial 
space in sqm k 5,222 3,161

Fair value per sqm 
residential and commercial 
space in EUR1) 950 946

Debt per sqm residential and 
commercial space in EUR1) 559 578

In-place rent per sqm in EUR 5.49 5.57

Like-for-like rent increases 
in core and growth regions 
(letting portfolio) in % 2.6 3.8

Residential vacancy rate in % 2.5 2.4

Maintenance costs 
per sqm and year in EUR2) 9.68 9.81

Capital expenditure 
per sqm and year in EUR2) 9.26 8.19

1)  without consideration of acquisitions with transfer of risks 
and rewards as at 1/1/1/2 and/or 1/2 of the following year

2)  with consideration of the average floor spaces on a quarterly basis 
in the relevant periods (BauBecon floor space for the 3rd quarter 
2012 only included for one month) 

an overview of the portfolio as at 31 december 2012 
can be found from page 27 in the sub-chapter 
portfolio  management and portfolio strategy.

the following table shows the operating result (net 
operating income, noi) from residential property 
 management in the financial year 2012 compared to the 
same period in the previous year:

in EUR m 2012 2011

current gross rental income 240.1 196.4

Non-recoverable expenses – 4.1 – 5.8

Rental loss – 3.0 – 1.9

Maintenance – 34.7 – 29.6

Other – 3.9 – 1.7

earnings from residential 
Property management 194.4 157.4
Staff and general and 
 administration expenses – 22.2 – 16.8

operating result 
(net operating income – noi) 172.2 140.6
NOI margin in % 71.7 71.6

NOI in EUR per sqm 
and month1) 4.00 3.88

Change in % +3.1  

1)  based on the average floor spaces on a quarterly basis in the 
period under review (BauBecon floor space for the 3rd quarter 2012 
only included for one month)

earnings from residential property management 
increased by eur 37.0 million. this was caused by the 
acquisitions made in 2011, which fully came into effect 
in 2012, as well as the acquisitions made in 2012 – in 
particular of the BauBecon Group, which is taken into 
account for four months.

after the deduction of staff and general and adminis-
tration expenses for residential property management, 
there is a net operating result in the amount of 
eur 172.0 million – an increase of 22 %.

whilst the noi margin remained almost unchanged, the 
noi per sqm improved by 3.1 %. this illustrates a higher 
profitability at nearly unchanged investment expen-
ditures of almost eur 10 per sqm. particularly after the 
integration of the BauBecon holdings and the additional 
port folios we see further return potential for increasing 
our margins.

the most important source of income is residential rents, 
which account for around 96 % of our current gross rental 
income. the rest is rental income for commercial spaces 
and car parks or parking spaces. subsidies resulting 
from publicly subsidised housing amounted to 
eur 2.7 million (1.1 % of current gross rental income).
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the following overview shows the development of the in-
place rents (residential) as well as the vacancy rates in a 
like-for-like comparison, i. e. only for holdings that we 
have consistently managed over the past twelve months: 

Like-for-like

Residential 
units 

 
number

in-place rent1) 

 

in EUR/sqm

Develop-
ment

 
in %

 
Vacancy 

 
in %

Develop-
ment

 
in %

31/12/2012 31/12/2011 31/12/2012 31/12/2011

strategic core and growth 
regions (letting portfolio) 42,353 5.78 5.63 2.6 1.3 1.6 – 18.8
Core+ 34,202 5.91 5.74 2.8 1.3 1.5 – 13.3

Greater Berlin 25,213 5.63 5.47 2.9 1.1 1.4 – 21.4

Rhine-Main 7,833 6.75 6.58 2.7 1.6 2.1 – 23.8

Rhineland 1,156 6.24 6.11 2.1 0.8 0.9 – 11.1

Core 8,151 5.27 5.19 1.4 1.5 1.7 – 11.8

Hanover/Brunswick/ 
Magdeburg 0 – –  – – –

Rhine Valley South 4,653 5.39 5.29 1.7 1.4 1.4 0.0

Rhine Valley North 2,798 5.09 5.06 0.6 0.8 1.6 – 50.0

Central Germany 174 6.08 6.08 0.0 2.0 3.6 – 44.4

Other 526 4.89 4.72 3.6 5.7 4.4 29.5

Privatisation 3,218 5.60 5.55 0.9 5.9 1.8 227.8

non-core 2,150 4.83 4.80 0.7 6.1 5.7 7.0

total 47.721 5.72 5.59 2.4 1.8 1.8 0.0

1) contractually owed rent from rented apartments divided by rented area

the in-place rents in the letting portfolio of the strategic 
core and growth regions increased on a like-for-like 
basis by 2.6 % (around 42,400 residential units) com-
pared to the previous year.

overall, we were able to achieve rental increases (new 
lettings, rent index, modernisation) in the course of the 
past financial year of around eur 2.7 million, which 
alone means an increase in current gross rental income 
of around eur 4.8 million for 2013 (full 12-month period).

the vacancy costs fell once more in the like-for-like 
comparison. at 1.3 %, the vacancy rate in the letting 
portfolio of the strategic core and growth regions was 
once again below the rate from the previous year (1.6 %).

notes on the financial performance and financial position
Group Management Report
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the following table shows the development of new letting 
rents in the cluster core+ (without BauBecon holdings): 

Residential

31/12/2012 31/12/2011

New letting rent1) in-placerent2) Rent  potential3) Rent  potential3)

EUR/sqm EUR/sqm in % in %

core+ (letting holdings) 7.16 5.89 21.6 20.4

Greater Berlin 6.65 5.62 18.3 17.0

Rhine-Main 8.40 6.76 24.3 21.3

Rhineland 8.07 6.24 29.3 13.1

1) contractually owed rent from newly concluded rental agreements in non-rent restricted units, effective in 2012
2) contractually owed rent from rented apartments divided by rented area
3) rent for new lettings in comparison to the in-place rent

in the past financial year, the new letting rents in the 
non-rent restricted residential holdings were almost 
22 % above the in-place rent as at the reporting date.

non-recoverable expenses consist mainly of vacancy-
related losses, which were possible to reduce once more 
by eur 1.7 million compared to the previous year. 

expenses for rental loss apply to rent reductions and the 
loss of rent receivables outstanding. the proportion of 
receivables lost in relation to the gross rent including 
service charges was 0.7 % in the reporting year. the 
absolute increase compared to the previous year is due 
to the increase in our residential holdings.

the following table illustrates the maintenance expenses 
as well as the capitalised modernisation expenses 
(capex – capital expenditures) for the last financial year 
in comparison to the previous year:

in EUR m 2012 2011

Maintenance 34.7 29.6

Maintenance in EUR per sqm 9.681) 9.811)

Modernisation 33.2 24.7

Modernisation in EUR per sqm 9.261) 8.191)

1)  based on the quarterly average area, excluding the area acquired 
with transfer of risks and rewards as at 31 december of the relevant 
financial year or as at 1 and 2/1 and/or 1/2 of the following year; 
BauBecon floor space for the 3rd quarter 2012 only included for 
one month

in the financial year 2012 we invested nearly eur 68 mil-
lion or eur 19 per sqm (previous year: eur 18 per sqm) 
in the maintenance and modernisation of residential 
units and buildings. around eur 11.3 million for main-
tenance concerns the modernisation of apartments 
associated with a change in tenants. 

regarding the development of the staff expenses and 
general and administration expenses (including an 
external management fee for BauBecon) that are attri-
butable to the residential property management seg-
ment, we refer to the explanations of the corporate 
expenses.
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earnings from disposals
in the disposals segment, we sold a total of 3,000 resi-
dential units (previous year: 3,299). the earnings from 
disposals are made up as follows:

in EUR m 2012 2011

Sales proceeds 167.8 150.6

Cost of sales – 11.8 – 8.3

net sales proceeds 156.0 142.3
Carrying amounts of  
assets sold – 136.1 – 131.7

earnings from disposals 19.9 10.6

the earnings from disposals were improved by 88 % 
compared to the previous year. the current framework 
conditions for sales are very good in the present envi-
ronment. real estate – above all in densely populated 
centres – is considered a “safe haven” and an opportu-
nity for hedging against inflation. in addition, sales activ-
ities are favoured by persistently low interest rates.

in the following, the key figures and earnings are shown 
separately for residential unit privatisations and institu-
tional disposals:

Privatisations

in EUR m 2012 2011

sales proceeds 115.4 78.1

Average sale price per sqm 1,114 1,155

Volume in residential units (#) 1,623 1,053

Cost of sales – 9.2 – 6.0

net sales proceeds 106.2 72.1
Carrying amounts of 
assets sold – 86.3 – 57.9

Gross margin in % 33.7 34.9

earnings 19.9 14.2
+  Carrying amounts 

of assets sold 86.3 57.9

./. Loan repayment – 52.3 – 31.1

liquidity contribution 53.9 41.0

in the past year, we privatised a total of 1,623 apart-
ments and thus 570 apartments or 54 % more than in 
the previous year. with a gross margin of nearly 34 % we 
were able to utilise the very good market situation not 
just in terms of volume.

institutional sales

in EUR m 2012 2011

sales proceeds 52.4 72.5

Average sales price per sqm 573 508

Volume in residential units (#) 1,377 2,246

Cost of sales – 2.6 – 2.3

net sales proceeds 49.8 70.2
Carrying amounts of 
assets sold – 49.8 – 73.8

Gross margin in % 5.2 – 1.8

earnings 0.0 – 3.6
+  Carrying amounts 

of assets sold 49.8 73.8

./. Loan repayment – 32.6 – 46.6

liquidity contribution 17.2 23.6

in institutional sales we focused on the streamlining of 
holdings in structurally weak regions and earned pro-
ceeds of eur 52.4 million (previous year: eur 72.5 mil-
lion). all in all – after considering the cost of sales – we 
completed the institutional sales with a solid zero (previ-
ous year: – eur 3.6 million).

notes on the financial performance and financial position
Group Management Report
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earnings from nursing and assisted living
the nursing and assisted living segment is operated by 
the katharinenhof® Group. 

Facilities 

number

Places 

number

income 

EUR m 

 Ø occupancy

2012 2011

Brandenburg 5 596 15.4 97.8 95.9

Saxony 7 475 9.8 99.7 100.0

Berlin 2 173 5.7 99.4 92.7

Lower-Saxony 1 131 4.4 99.6 97.7

Rhineland-Palatinate 1 128 3.2 83.8 76.9

 16 1,503 38.4 97.6 94.9

Acquisition Berlin*) 4 425 14.0

 20 1,928 52.4   

*) transfer of risks and rewards Q1/2013

of the 16 facilities, as at 31 december 2012, 13 are owned 
by deutsche wohnen with a fair value of eur 85.3 million.

against the background of demographic change and the 
very good experience that we have gained over the past 
few years, we will continue to expand the segment. in 
doing so, we intend to create a capacity of 4,000 to 5,000 
places over the next five years. the investment criteria 
are comparable to the residential asset class. this means: 
we are scouting for the right location at a fair price.

we succeeded in taking the first step in the financial 
year 2012 with the acquisition of more than 580 places 
in leipzig and Berlin. these facilities will contribute 
approximately eur 3.6 million p. a. to the segment 
result. however, the acquisition in Berlin only became 
effective in January 2013. 

the earnings for the nursing and assisted living seg-
ment in the financial year just ended is as follows:

in EUR m 2012 2011

income   

Nursing 36.4 33.6

Living 2.0 2.7

Other 3.6 3.8

 42.0 40.1

costs   

Nursing and 
corporate expenses 11.3 11.5

Staff expenses 20.8 19.4

 32.1 30.9

segment earnings 9.9 9.2

Attributable current interest – 2.6 – 2.7

segment earnings after 
 interest expenses 7.3 6.5

the segment nursing and assisted living contributed to 
the Group result of deutsche wohnen in 2012 with an 
eBitda amounting to eur 9.9 million. after deducting 
the current interest rate expenses, the earnings before 
taxes amounted to eur 7.3 million. the eBitda margin 
in relation to the fair value of the facilities amount 
to 11.6 %. 
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corporate expenses
corporate expenses include all of the staff expenses 
and general and administration expenses without the 
segment nursing and assisted living. they are made up 
as follows: 

in EUR m 2012 2011

staff expenses   
Holding Company function – 9.1 – 7.0

Asset Management/ 
Disposals – 2.0 – 2.2

Property Management – 12.5 – 11.1

 – 23.6 – 20.3

General and 
administration expenses – 12.7 – 12.6

total staff expenses, 
general and 
administration expenses – 36.3 – 32.9

Property Management 
(external management 
BauBeCon) – 4.1 0.0

total corporate expenses – 40.4 – 32.9

staff expenses rose in comparison to the previous year 
by eur 3.3 million, property management expenses 
increased by eur 1.4 million to eur 12.5 million, and 
expenses for the holding company rose from 
eur 7.0 million to eur 9.1 million (+ eur 2.1 million). 
overall, the increase compared to the year before is 
essentially due to the hiring of new employees, variable 
remuneration components as well as special bonuses 
for the employees and the managerial staff for the 
financial year 2012.

the general and administration expenses remained – 
despite significantly expanded property holdings – at the 
same level as in the previous year.

the expenses ratio relative to the actual rent amounted 
to 16.8 % and was thus essentially equivalent to the fig-
ure for the previous year. after the integration of the new 
holdings has been completed, we are expecting a reduc-
tion to around 14 %. this corresponds to an efficiency 
increase of approximately eur 12 million.

other operating expenses/income
the following table shows the other operating expenses/
income for the financial year 2012 with the previous 
year’s values for comparison:

in EUR m 2012 2011

Settlement on 
loss compensation 20.3 0.0

Integration costs BauBeCon – 4.4 0.0

Other – 3.2 – 2.3

other operating 
expenses/income 12.7 – 2.3

financial result
the financial result is made up as follows:

in EUR m 2012 2011

Current interest expenses 89.6 81.6

Accrued interest on 
liabilities and pensions 11.4 12.1

One-off financing costs 
for BauBeCon transaction 7.8 0.0

Fair value adjustments 
of derivative financial 
 instruments 0.2 0.2

 109.0 93.9

Interest income – 2.0 – 0.7

financial result 107.0 93.2

notes on the financial performance and financial position
Group Management Report
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the absolute increase in current interest expenses 
 compared to the previous year is due to acquisitions. 
the reduction in the average interest rate of 4.1 % as at 
31 december 2011 to 3.7 % as at 31 december 2012 
went towards counteracting this increase.

non-cash accrued interest affects low-interest bearing 
loans in the amount of eur 7.0 million, tax liabilities 
(ek 02) in the amount of eur 2.1 million, employee 
 benefit  lia bilities in the amount of eur 2.2 million and 
put options from limited partners in funds in the amount 
of eur 0.2 million.

the one-off financing costs for BauBecon consist 
largely of commitment fees for bridge loans and other 
costs related to financing.

after interest expenses, the cash flow from the portfolio 
rose by eur 23.5 million as the following table shows:

in EUR m 2012 2011

NOI from lettings 172.2 140.6

Current interest expenses 
(without Nursing and 
Assisted Living) – 87.0 – 78.9

cash flow from portfolio after 
current interest expenses 85.2 61.7

Interest ratio 1.98 1.78

once again it was possible, due to rising operating 
results from residential property management, eco-
nomies of scale and low interest rates in the context of 
financing, to improve the interest ratio (current interest 
expenses in relation to the noi) to 1.98. 

current taxes and deferred taxes
the current taxes for the expired financial year 2012 
amount to eur 10.5 million and include eur 5.6 million 
of notional tax expenses resulting from the capital 
increase (previous year: eur 2.4 million) as well as 
 current income taxes of eur 4.9 million (previous 
year: eur 3.0 million). the rise in income taxes of 
eur 1.9 million compared to the previous year is caused 
predominantly by disposals.

the deferred taxes of eur 49.6 million include around 
eur 36 million from the fair value adjustments of 
investment properties of eur 119.2 million.

dividend

our dividend policy of the past years has been based on 
the stable and recurring earnings from lettings. half of 
the ffo (without disposals) was distributed to our 
shareholders in the past two years. we wish to continue 
this policy. on the one hand, this enables us to ensure 
that we can finance the modernisation (capex) of our 
residential holdings (2012: around eur 33 million) from 
the operating cash flows; on the other hand, we can also 
ensure our contractually agreed regular loan repay-
ments (2012: around eur 36 million) without any greater 
depletion of substance.

on the whole, this procedure leads to well-maintained 
and modernised residential holdings with a reasonable 
debt ratio.
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financial position

selected key figures of the consolidated balance sheet:

31/12/2012 31/12/2011

in EUR m in % in EUR m in %

Investment properties 4,614.6 94 2,928.8 88

Other non-current assets 104.8 2 84.7 3

total of non-current assets 4,719.4 96 3,013.5 91

Current assets 97.9 2 120.9 4

Cash and cash equivalents 90.6 2 167.8 5

total of current assets 188.5 4 288.7 9

total assets 4,907.9 100 3,302.2 100

equity 1,609.7 33 1,083.4 33

Financial liabilities 2,768.6 56 1,834.7 56

Tax liabilities 63.6 1 58.6 2

Liabilities to limited partners in funds 5.1 0 7.3 0

Employee benefit liability 54.5 1 42.7 1

Other liabilities 406.4 8 275.5 8

total liabilities 3,298.2 67 2,218.8 67

total equity and liabilities 4,907.9 100 3,302.2 100

the investment properties (eur 4,614.6 million) represent 
at 94 % the major asset position of deutsche wohnen. 
the carrying value was confirmed at the end of the year 
by cB richard ellis. 

the increase in other non-current assets is particularly 
attributable to the increase in deferred tax assets – 
 primarily in relation to interest swaps.

the reduction in current assets of around eur 23 million 
was primarily due to the reduction through disposals of 
land and buildings held for sale. 

along with the cash and cash equivalents shown as at 
the reporting date, deutsche wohnen has access to 
additional credit facilities of around eur 106 million, 
which can be drawn at short notice. furthermore, after 
the balance sheet date, deutsche wohnen received net 
proceeds from the capital increase amounting to 
eur 193.7 million in January 2013.

the equity ratio of the Group is unchanged at 33 % as at 
the balance sheet date. the absolute increase in equity 
is essentially due to the capital increase carried out in 
June 2012, particularly for the purpose of refinancing 
the BauBecon transaction. in the process, gross 
 proceeds of around eur 461 million were achieved. 
the placement was made at a subscription price of 
eur 10.50.

notes on the financial performance and financial position
Group Management Report
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the development in the epra naV is shown in the 
 following table:

in EUR m 31/12/2012 31/12/2011

Equity (before 
non-controlling interests) 1,609.3 1,083.1

Fair values of derivative 
 financial instruments 152.5 95.0

Deferred taxes (net) 62.6 33.2

ePra nav 1,824.4 1,211.3

Number of shares (in m) 146.14 105.371)

ePra nav in eur per share 12.48 11.50
1)  including the so-called scrip adjustment of 1.03 from 

the capital increase 2012

the epra naV per share rose as at 31 december 2012 
to eur 12.48, an increase of nearly eur 1 – taking into 
account the so-called scrip adjustment from the capital 
increase 2012. 

when taking the net proceeds of the capital increase 
2013 as the basis as early as at 31 december 2012 and 
in consideration of the increased number of shares, the 
epra naV amounts formally to eur 12.55 per share as 
at 31 december 2012.

the Group’s loan-to-Value ratio (ltV) developed as 
 follows:

in EUR m 31/12/2012 31/12/2011

Financial liabilities 2,768.6 1,834.7

Cash and cash equivalents – 90.6 – 167.8

net financial liabilities 2,678.0 1,666.9

Investment properties 4,614.6 2,928.8

Non-current assets 
held for sale 24.4 37.4

Land and buildings 
held for sale 39.1 63.5

  4,678.1 3,029.7

loan-to-value ratio in % 57.2 55.0

the ratio of net financial liabilities to property assets 
(loan-to-Value ratio; ltV) at the balance sheet date 
amounted to 57.2 % and is thereby slightly above our 
mid-term target value of 55 %. 

over the next two financial years, the Group’s refinancing 
volume – relative to the remaining value as at the end of 
2012 – will be about eur 126 million. this consists of 
many small loans secured with property as collateral. 
the prolongation structure of the following years is as 
follows:

in 
EUR m 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

after 
2017

Prolon ga-
tions 66 60 282 267 487 1,607

as at the reporting date, the average rate of interest for 
the credit portfolio was approximately 3.7 % p. a. (pre-
vious year: 4.1 %). the reduction is largely due to new 
loan extensions arising from acquisitions with interest 
rates of considerably less than 4.0 %. 

of the tax liabilities, the sum of eur 46.6 million 
(31 december 2011: eur 50.5 million) is attributable to 
the present value of liabilities from the lump-sum tax-
ation of ek-02-holdings. these taxes are payable in 
equal annual instalments of eur 10.4 million in the 
third quarter of each year until 2017.

the rise in employee benefit liabilities of around 
eur 12 million is essentially caused by the takeover of 
existing employee benefit liabilities in the context of the 
BauBecon acquisition and by changed actuarial 
assumptions.

the other liabilities mainly comprise the following 
items:

in EUR m 31/12/2012 31/12/2011

Derivative financial 
 instruments 152.5 95.0

Deferred tax liabilities 143.3 96.2

Trade payables 72.0 35.6

Miscellaneous 38.6 48.7

total 406.4 275.5
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consolidated statement of cash flows
the most important cash flows of the past financial year 
are shown in the following: 

in EUR m 2012 2011

Net cash flows from 
operating activities before 
EK-02 payments 69.6 53.1

EK-02 payments – 10.4 – 9.6

net cash flows from 
operating activities after 
eK-02 payments 59.2 43.5
Net cash flows from 
investing activities – 1,238.0 – 125.1

Net cash flows from 
financing activities 1,101.5 203.4

net change in cash and 
cash equivalents – 77.3 121.8
Opening balance cash 
and cash equivalents 167.8 46.0

closing balance cash 
and cash equivalents 90.6 167.8

net cash flows from operating activities have continued 
to improve due to the rise in net operating results.

net cash flows from investing activities are based 
 primarily on proceeds from sales (eur 163.5 million), on 
investments of nearly eur 1.4 billion in our own property 
portfolio. 

net cash flows from financing activities contain pro-
ceeds of eur 688.9 million arising from the increase of 
financial liabilities. this sum is the balance of repay-
ments in the amount of eur 158.5 million and new 
 borrowing of eur 847.4 million. in addition, they also 
include the net proceeds from the capital increase in 
2012 in the amount of eur 444.0 million and the payout 
of the dividend for the financial year 2011 amounting to 
eur 23.5 million in the second quarter of 2012.

funds from operations (ffo)
the key figure of funds from operations (ffo) without 
disposals, which is decisive for us, rose by around 44 % 
in comparison to the previous year because of acquisi-
tions and owing to operational improvements in the 
holdings.

in EUR m 2012 2011

Profit for the period 145.5 50.6

Earnings from Disposals – 19.9 – 10.6

Depreciation and 
 amortisation 3.1 3.0

Fair value adjustments 
for investment properties – 119.2 – 40.0

Fair value adjustments 
of derivative financial 
 instruments 0.2 0.2

Non-cash financial expenses 11.4 12.1

One-off income from 
RREEF settlement – 20.3 0.0

BauBeCon transaction costs 12.2 0.0 

Deferred taxes 49.6 29.8

Tax benefit from capital 
increase costs 5.6 2.4

ffo (without disposals) 68.2 47.5

FFO (without disposals) 
per share in EUR 0.54 0.54

average number of 
issued shares in m 126.1 88.7

ffo (including disposals) 88.1 58.1
FFO (including disposals) 
per share in EUR 0.70 0.65

average number of issued 
shares in m 126.1 88.7

the average number of issued shares analogous to 
the eps calculation, i. e. including so-called scrip adjustments 
from the capital increases 2011 and 2012

the average number of issued shares in the financial 
year 2012 increased by approximately 42 % compared to 
the previous year. this caused the ffo (without dispos-
als) to remain stable at eur 0.54 per share.

notes on the financial performance and financial position
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events after the reporting date

we successfully carried out a capital increase after the 
balance sheet date. on 15 January 2013, deutsche wohnen 
placed 14,614,285 new ordinary bearer shares with insti-
tutional investors nationally and internationally by way of 
an accelerated book building. the new shares are fully 
entitled to dividends for the financial year 2012. the 
subscription rights of the shareholders were excluded in 
this process. the shares were issued in partial utilisa-
tion of the authorised capital approved by the extraordi-
nary general meeting in december. the placement price 
was eur 13.35 per share. we thereby achieved gross 
proceeds in the amount of eur 195.1 million. 

as at 1 January 2013, the transfer of risks and rewards 
regarding a portfolio of 5,100 residential units in 
 Bruns wick, dresden, leipzig and erfurt, which had been 
acquired by deutsche wohnen, took place. the gross 
acquisition price amounted to around eur 770 per sqm, 
with an ffo yield before taxes of around 9 %.

as at 1 february 2013, the transfer of risks and rewards 
for an additional portfolio, which consists of 5,200 resi-
dential units in Berlin, took place. the gross acquisition 
price amounted to around eur 710 per sqm with an ffo 
yield before taxes of around 9 %.

in addition, katharinenhof® took over four nursing 
homes with 425 places from lebenswerk Gmbh in 
 Berlin. the risks and rewards were transferred as at 
15 January 2013.

we are not aware of any other significant events after 
the reporting date.

risk and opportunity report

risk management

deutsche wohnen aG continually examines opportu-
nities that arise and that can be used to secure the con-
tinued development and growth of the Group. in order to 
be able to take advantage of these opportunities, risks 
must also be taken, where appropriate. in this situation, 
knowing, assessing and controlling all the important 
aspects are of great importance. only in this way we can 
take a professional approach to risks. for this purpose, 
a central risk management system has been imple-
mented in deutsche wohnen, which ensures the identi-
fication, measurement, control and monitoring of all 
material risks relevant to the Group. a central com-
ponent of this system is detailed reporting, which is 
 continuously being monitored and developed. using the 
relevant key operating figures and financial data, it 
 creates a link to the identified risk areas. we focus in 
particular on the key figures for the development of let-
tings and residential privatisations, the cash flow, liquid-
ity and the key figures of the balance sheet.

through intensive communication at the management 
level of the Group, all decision-makers are aware of any 
relevant developments in the company at all times. 
divergent developments or emerging risks that could 
potentially threaten the continued operations of the 
Group are thereby discovered early and appropriate 
remedial actions are taken.

the information from risk management is documented 
on a quarterly basis. the supervisory Board receives 
comprehensive information on all relevant issues and 
developments of the Group at each of its meetings. in 
addition, the internal risk management guide is updated 
as required. 

the risk management system sees itself as part of the 
internal control system with respect to the accounting 
procedures.
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the main features of the existing internal control system 
and risk management system in relation to the (Group) 
accounting procedures at deutsche wohnen can be 
summarised as follows:

•  deutsche wohnen is characterised by a clear orga ni-
sational, corporate, controlling and monitoring struc-
ture.

•  there are Group-wide planning, reporting, controlling 
and early-warning systems and processes for the 
comprehensive analysis and control of risk factors 
 relevant to financial performance and risks that 
threaten continued operations.

•  the functions in all areas of the financial reporting 
process (e. g. financial accounting, controlling) are 
clearly assigned.

•  the it systems implemented in the accounting sys-
tems are protected against unauthorised access.

•  primarily standardised software is used in the area of 
financial systems.

•  adequate internal guidelines (e. g. consisting of a 
Group-wide risk management policy) have been estab-
lished and are adjusted as necessary.

•  the departments involved in the accounting proce-
dures meet quantitative and qualitative requirements.

•  the completeness and accuracy of accounting data is 
checked regularly through random sampling and 
plausibility tests using both manual and software 
checks.

•  significant accounting-related processes are subject 
to regular audits. the existing Group-wide risk man-
agement system is continually adapted to current 
trends and continually checked for its functionality on 
an ongoing basis.

•  the dual-control principle is applied to all accounting 
procedures.

•  the supervisory Board deals, among other things, 
with important accounting issues, risk management, 
commissioning the audit and the main focus of the 
audit.

the internal control and risk management system with 
respect to the accounting procedures, of which the 
essential characteristics are described above, ensures 
that business issues are properly recorded, processed 
and honoured in the balance sheet, and included as 
such in the external accounts.

this clear organisational, corporate, controlling and 
monitoring structure, as well as the sufficient resources 
within the accounting system in staff and material 
expenses provides the basis for efficient work for those 
areas involved in the accounting process. clear legal 
and corporate standards and guidelines ensure uniform 
and proper accounting procedures. 

the internal control and risk management system 
ensures that the accounts at deutsche wohnen aG and 
all consolidated subsidiaries are uniform and in line 
with legal and regulatory requirements and internal 
guidelines. 

risk report

strategic risks
risk due to a failure to recognise trends: not recognis-
ing market developments and trends can lead to risks 
affecting the viability of the Group as a going concern. to 
minimise these risks, all divisions are regularly reminded 
to closely observe developments in their sectors and 
promptly inform risk management of any changes. risk 
management will then take appropriate action.

legal and corporate law risks
legal risks which could potentially result in losses for 
the company may under some circumstances arise from 
non-compliance with statutory regulations, the non-
implementation of new or amended legislation, the lack 
of comprehensive regulations in concluded contracts or 
insufficient management of insurance arrangements. 

orders to cease construction work and incomplete 
building permits could also have a negative effect lead-
ing to unplanned costs and construction delays. the 
clearing of contamination and the implementation of 
amendments to statutory provisions may result in 
increased costs. 

events after the reporting date
risk and opportunity report

Group Management Report

G
ro

up
 m

an
ag

em
en

t 
r

ep
or

t
Fu

rt
he

r 
In

fo
rm

at
io

n
G

ro
up

 F
in

an
ci

al
 

 St
at

em
en

ts



52

corporate law risks: further risks may arise out of 
future mergers or ones that have already taken place. in 
order to counteract these risks, the management Board 
orders all necessary analyses in specific cases, in order 
to gain an overall picture and to get ideas on how the 
identified risks can be dealt with. in addition, the man-
agement Board takes detailed advice from the internal 
“legal/compliance” department as well as from exter-
nal legal advisers from renowned law firms before the 
start of substantive negotiations. the management 
Board is aware that strategic external growth should not 
be pursued under all circumstances. 

it risks
deutsche wohnen aG uses sap as its Group-wide it 
application. 

Generally, there is a fundamental risk of a total failure 
of this application, which could lead to significant dis-
ruptions to business operations. as a result, the provi-
sion of functioning operational, maintenance and 
administration processes, as well as of effective moni-
toring mechanisms, has been contractually agreed 
between deutsche wohnen and its it service provider. 
this is designed to prevent such a system failure and 
any possible associated data losses.

staff risks
a decisive factor in the commercial success of 
deutsche wohnen is the staff with their knowledge and 
special skills. however, there is still a danger that 
deutsche wohnen may not be able to keep the most 
qualified and suitable employees in the company. we 
counteract this by providing a stimulating work environ-
ment and financial and non-financial incentives. we 
believe that deutsche wohnen is one of the most attrac-
tive employers in its sector.

market risks
market risks may arise in the lettings market if the eco-
nomic situation in Germany deteriorates, causing mar-
ket rents to stagnate or fall. in a stagnant or shrinking 
economy there may also be increased unemployment, 
which will limit the financial resources of tenants. in 
addition, a decline in net disposable income – whether 
because of unemployment, tax increases, tax adjust-
ments or increases in service charges – can lead to 
fewer new lettings, lower new-letting rents and rising 
vacancy rates, and thus have a negative effect on the 
business operations of deutsche wohnen.

if the economic situation in Germany should deteriorate, 
there is also a risk that jobs will be cut. this could lead 
to a loss of regular income for tenants, who would 
therefore be unable to pay rents or pay rents on time. 
management considers the probability of occurrence of 
this risk to be low. it can be averted in advance through 
close contact with the tenants and early recognition of 
financial problems. tenants can then be offered smaller 
and more affordable apartments from deutsche wohnen’s 
diversified portfolio.

in addition, an overall economic downturn can lead to a 
declining interest in acquiring property. in the areas of 
both individual privatisation and block sales there would 
be a risk that investments would be postponed by 
 potential buyers and that therefore the disposal plans of 
deutsche wohnen will be delayed.
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Property risks
property risks may arise at the level of the individual 
properties, the portfolio and the location of the property. 

at the level of the individual property this comprises, in 
particular, maintenance failures, structural damage, 
inadequate fire protection or wear and tear by the ten-
ant. furthermore, risks may arise from contamination 
including wartime contamination, pollutants in soil and 
harmful substances in building materials as well as 
from possible breaches of building requirements. at the 
portfolio level, risks appear as a result of a concentra-
tion in the structure of the holdings. such risks may 
include increased maintenance and refurbishment costs 
and an increased difficulty in letting units. 

financial risks
with a variety of interests and a complex ownership 
structure, increased transparency and greater manage-
ment input are needed to avoid a negative impact on the 
Group’s business operations. in addition, there is an 
increasing dependence on the commercial trade and tax 
environment. inadequate planning and management 
and a lack of effective controlling of the investment pro-
ceeds could result in lower revenues.

fundamental changes in tax conditions can lead to 
financial risks.

among the financial risks, deutsche wohnen includes 
delayed cash flows from revenues and loans and unfore-
seen expenses, leading to liquidity problems. further-
more, fluctuations in the valuation of property (ias 40) 
due to negative developments in the property market 
and of derivatives can result in annual adjustments in 
the profit and loss statement.

financial market risks
Banks may no longer be able or willing to extend expir-
ing loans. it is possible that refinancing will become 
more costly and that future contract negotiations will 
take more time to complete. the refinancing volume of 
deutsche wohnen up to and including 2014 as at 
31 december 2012 is eur 126 million, of which 
eur 66 million is due in 2013. in the loan agreements 
there are financial covenants, which could lead to 
extraordinary termination by the banks if the terms of 
these covenants are not met. at deutsche wohnen these 
are key financial figures which relate to the debt ser-
vicing ability (debt service cover ratio (dscr)/interest 
service cover ratio (iscr)) and the debt ratio in relation 
to the rental income (multiplier).

the significant risks to the Group arising from financial 
instruments comprise interest-related cash flow risks, 
liquidity risks and default risks. the company manage-
ment prepares and reviews risk management guidelines 
for each of these risks. default risks, or the risk that a 
partner will not be able to meet its payment obligations, 
are managed by using credit lines and control pro-
cesses. deutsche wohnen does not face any consider-
able default risk, either from partners or from groups of 
partners with similar characteristics. the Group reviews 
the risk of liquidity shortfalls daily by using a liquidity 
planning tool. deutsche wohnen seeks to ensure that 
sufficient funds are available to meet future obligations 
at all times. the interest rate risk to which the Group is 
exposed is mainly derived from non-current financial 
liabilities with floating interest rates and is largely 
hedged through interest rate derivatives. please refer to 
our information in the notes on the consolidated finan-
cial statements.

risk and opportunity report
Group Management Report
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investment risks
the selection and planning of major repair work can 
lead to an incorrect allocation of investment funds. it is 
also possible that additional units acquired will not meet 
revenue expectations. this could have a negative impact 
on the business operations of the Group. moreover, 
incomplete information in due diligence reports and 
evaluations as well as non-transparent procurement 
decisions and the failure to comply with procurement 
rules (e. g. in the use of public funds with the result of 
repayment) all entail risk.

other risk factors that are directly related to invest-
ments by the company are exceeding the budgeted 
costs, the failure to meet deadlines, and shortfalls in the 
standard of fixtures and fittings. this may require addi-
tional work on the part of the company. similarly, delays 
in the start-up of operations, loss of rent (rent reduc-
tions under certain circumstances) or an inadequate 
correction of deficiencies can lead to increased 
expenses. deutsche wohnen uses external and internal 
experts, as well as ongoing project monitoring, to mini-
mise these risks.

acquisition and integration risks
every acquisition is reviewed in detail by us. in the pro-
cess, a legal, financial and technical due diligence is 
conducted, and external specialists are consulted. this 
procedure is a standardised process of deutsche wohnen 
in order to recognise and assess risks with regard to 
acquisitions. we are continuing our growth strategy with 
acquisitions in existing as well as new regions. in doing 
so, we are expecting synergy effects and cost savings. 
nonetheless, we cannot rule out the possibility that 
these goals cannot be achieved fully or only in part or at 
a later time. the development of the acquired holdings 
is additionally dependent on a number of factors: the 
rents to be expected, the possible reduction of vacan-
cies, the cost of repair measures, the intended privatisa-
tions, the disposal of non-strategic units as well as the 
costs of the integration process. the integration of new 
holdings requires a reorganisation of administration and 
management as well as of internal structures and pro-
cesses. these factors may deviate from our assess-
ments and lead to failure to achieve the forecast results 
or to increased risks.

Political and regulatory risks
political decisions can – particularly at the national or 
the federal state level – affect the regulations of tenancy 
law and thereby possibly the earnings situation of a resi-
dential property company. in particular, this would be 
the case if, for example, maximum levels for current 
gross rental income and/or new-letting rents were 
determined by law. at the present time, the probability 
of this taking place and the effects of such a political 
intervention cannot be estimated. initial adjustments 
have already been made with regard to current gross 
rental income. these may be increased in three years 
by a maximum of 15 % – before it was 20 %. 

opportunities for future development

deutsche wohnen has expanded its position to become 
one of the largest publicly listed property companies in 
Germany in terms of market capitalisation and has once 
more demonstrated its ability to integrate new holdings. 
this process has led to increased experience among 
employees and management, which can be used in fur-
ther possible integrations in future to add value. 
deutsche wohnen is thus positioned as a consolidation 
platform to capitalise on market opportunities emerging 
in the future and to actively participate in the consolida-
tion process of the market.

in the current portfolio, especially the core+ regions, i. e. 
Greater Berlin, the rhine-main region with frankfurt/
main, and the rhineland with dusseldorf as its centre, 
are very dynamic and have extremely good growth pros-
pects. compared to other major German cities, they are 
in the top class. in our core regions we also see good, 
but less dynamic development opportunities; these 
regions include hanover/Brunswick/magdeburg, the 
rhine Valley and select locations in central Germany, 
such as dresden, erfurt, halle (saale) and leipzig.
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a good portfolio mix with respect to the sizes of the resi-
dential units and microsites within the urban areas as 
well as intensive tenant support ensure that it is possi-
ble to generate consistent earnings from the portfolio 
even in a tough economic environment. 

our position in the capital market has improved consid-
erably. today we have a market capitalisation of more 
than eur 2 billion. this is double compared to the previ-
ous year. moreover, we were able to increase the liquid-
ity of our share. our position on the mdaX was thereby 
further improved. our financing structure is more than 
solid: we have long-term financing and have an appro-
priate loan-to-Value ratio (ltV). our business model is 
well established with our bank partners and our credit 
rating has further improved. 

all these aspects will further support our growth strategy.

corporate management

we have published the information according to section 
289a of the German commercial code (hGB) on our 
website  www.deutsche-wohnen.com.

remuneration report

the remuneration system for the management Board 
and the total remuneration of individual members of the 
management Board are determined by the full super-
visory Board and are subject to regular review.

in light of the new applicable statutory framework under 
the German appropriateness of management Board 
compensation act (VorstaG), the supervisory Board 
revised the remuneration system for the management 
Board in the financial year 2010. according to the revised 
system, monetary remuneration is split evenly between 
a fixed and a variable component. the variable compo-
nent, which accounts for at least half of the total remu-
neration, has been divided into a so-called short-term 
incentive and long-term incentive since 2010. these are 
anchored in the employment contracts of management 
Board members. the grant idea leads to the result that 
a total of around 58 % of the variable remuneration is set 
up on a multi-year basis. the actual remuneration 
structure at the end of the period may vary.

for the short-term incentive, specific individual targets 
are agreed in advance for the financial year between the 
member of the management Board and the supervisory 
Board. the amount of the short-term incentive paid out 
is dependent on the extent to which the targets have 
been met at the end of the financial year. an amount of 
up to 80 % of the short-term incentive will be paid after 
the end of the financial year. the remaining amount will 
be left interest free in the company and will only be paid 
out after a further three years, provided that the eco-
nomic situation of the company has not deteriorated in 
that time due to reasons that are the responsibility of 
the management Board member to such an extent that 
the supervisory Board would be authorised in accord-
ance with section 87 (2) of the German stock corporation 
act (aktG) to make a deduction from their remuneration.

Group Management Report
risk and opportunity report

corporate management
remuneration report
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in the financial year 2012 the supervisory Board once 
again concerned itself with the appropriateness of the 
overall remuneration of the members of the manage-
ment Board. in this process, the supervisory Board took 
into consideration the responsibilities of each member 
of the management Board and the economic situation of 
the company, whilst paying particular regard to their 
personal achievements, the success of the company and 
its positive future prospects. in addition, the prevailing 
level of remuneration in comparable companies and the 
remuneration structures in place elsewhere in the com-
pany were also scrutinised. in this context, the super-
visory Board has adjusted the total remuneration for the 
management Board members from the year 2013 to the 
effect that mr michael zahn’s fixed remuneration has 
increased to eur 450,000 p. a. and mr lars wittan’s 
to eur 250,000 p. a. as at 1 January 2013, whilst 
the maximum amount of the short-term incentive for 
mr michael zahn has increased to eur 500,000 and for 
mr lars wittan to eur 250,000.

the following remuneration payments were made to the 
management Board members in 2012: 

in EUR k
Michael 

Zahn
Helmut 
Ullrich

Lars 
Wittan

fixed remuneration 350 275 200

variable remuneration 
components

Short-term incentive

short-term due 300 240 150

long-term due 100 60 50

Long-term incentive 
PSU Plan (base value) 150 125 100

additional payments 27 19 25

the entitlements of the management Board resulting 
from the long-term remuneration components in the 
period 2010 to 2012 as at the reporting date have a value 
of around eur 2.5 million (michael zahn eur 0.9 mil-
lion, helmut ullrich eur 1.1 million and lars wittan 
eur 0.4 million).

the long-term incentive is calculated according to the 
provisions of the deutsche wohnen senior managers par-
ticipation programme “performance share unit plan” 
(psu plan for short). according to this plan, the amount 
of the long-term incentive depends on the development of 
the key figures funds from operations (ffo), net asset 
Value (naV) and the share price of deutsche wohnen aG 
within a four-year performance period.

a new performance period begins each year as part of 
the psu plan. at the start of this period, a base value is 
agreed for each member of the management Board in 
accordance with the remuneration commitments stated 
in their contracts of employment. an entitlement to pay-
ment of the remuneration component only exists after 
the expiry of the relevant performance period, i. e. after 
four years.

the amount of the payment entitlement is dependent on 
the development of the key figures for the ffo, naV and 
the share price of deutsche wohnen during the per-
formance period. with the structure prescribed in the 
psu plan for the long-term incentive, both positive and 
negative developments are taken into account. in the 
event of exceptionally positive developments, there is a 
cap on the maximum amount to be paid out. a negative 
development reduces the amount of the initial base 
value and the amount paid until the payment amount 
reaches zero. the described revised remuneration sys-
tem was already in use in 2010 for the member of the 
management Board helmut ullrich. for the chief execu-
tive officer michael zahn, the revised remuneration sys-
tem has applied since the renewal of his employment 
contract that is since 2011. for the member of the man-
agement Board lars wittan the remuneration system 
applies with effect from his appointment to the board as 
at 1 october 2011.

in the event of premature termination of his employ-
ment due to a change in control of the company, the 
chief executive officer is promised benefits in accord-
ance with the requirements of section 4.2.3, (4) of the 
German corporate Governance code and with the cap 
on remuneration prescribed in that provision.
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there is no employee benefit liability for current or 
retired members of the management Board or super-
visory Board of deutsche wohnen aG. in the financial 
year 2012, no loans were granted to members of the 
management Board at deutsche wohnen aG.

the annual General meeting of 6 June 2012 decided on 
the remuneration of the supervisory Board for 2012. 
on the basis of this resolution, each member of the 
supervisory Board receives a fixed remuneration of 
eur 30,000, the chairman of the supervisory Board 
receives double that amount, and the deputy chairman 
of the supervisory Board receives one and a half times 
that amount. in addition, each supervisory Board mem-
ber receives lump-sum remuneration in the amount of 
eur 5,000 per financial year for their membership of 
the audit committee of the supervisory Board. further-
more, each member of the General and acquisition 
committee receives a meeting fee in the amount of 
eur 1,000 for each attendance at a committee meeting 
in person. expenses are reimbursed.

the total supervisory Board remuneration to be paid for 
the financial year 2012 amounts to eur 243,000 net, of 
which eur 66,000 net is allocated to mr flach, 
eur 51,000 net to dr kretschmer, eur 35,000 net to 
dr stetter, eur 31,000 net to mr hünlein as well as 
eur 30,000 net to dr h.c. clement and dr leinwand, 
respectively.

forecast

review
we completed the financial year 2012 with an ffo 
 (without disposals) of around eur 68 million. at the 
beginning of the financial year 2012 we had assumed in 
our base scenario – i. e. without acquisitions – an ffo 
(without disposals) of eur 55 million. without taking 
into account the acquisitions made during the year, the 
ffo (without disposals) in 2012 would have been around 
eur 59 million. this rise is mainly attributable to 
improved cost structures within our lettings results, 
where we benefited from the extremely low vacancy rate 
that has existed for two years. 

General economic conditions
independent economic research institutes expect that 
the German economy will pick up in 2013 in comparison 
to the second half-year of 2012. the German council of 
economic experts is forecasting economic growth of 
0.8 % in Germany for 2013 and the German institute for 
economic research is forecasting 0.9 %.

our planning for the financial year 2013 assumes that 
general legal and taxation conditions will remain 
unchanged.

takeover and integration process
following the acquisition of around 35,000 units in 2012 
and at the beginning of 2013, the priority for the finan-
cial year 2013 is the takeover and integration of these 
portfolios. 

the takeover will take place in stages and is intended to 
be completed in June 2013. this means that all relevant 
new data will be unified and then incorporated into the 
it systems of deutsche wohnen and that new staff 
members will be employed and inducted so that they are 
fully conversant with their new responsibilities. 

the integration phase/optimisation phase will run 
partly in parallel with and partly following completion of 
the takeover phase. in this phase it is intended that the 
process flows involved in the new portfolios will be 
adapted to those of deutsche wohnen and thereby 
optimised. this phase is expected to be completed by 
the end of 2013.

Group Management Report
remuneration report

forecast

G
ro

up
 m

an
ag

em
en

t 
r

ep
or

t
Fu

rt
he

r 
In

fo
rm

at
io

n
G

ro
up

 F
in

an
ci

al
 

 St
at

em
en

ts



58

forecast for 2014
with the current size of our portfolio, we are expecting a 
further increase in ffo (without disposals) to at least 
eur 110 million in the business year 2014 (i. e. an 
increase of 10 % compared to 2013) against a back-
ground of unchanged general legal and taxation condi-
tions and an interest rate which continues to be low. 

frankfurt/main, 25 february 2013

 michael zahn lars wittan
chief executive officer chief financial officer

ffo (without disposals) for 2013:
around eur 100 million
taking into consideration the most recent acquisitions, 
we are expecting an ffo (without disposals) of 
around eur 100 million for the financial year 2013. 
we are  forecasting an ffo (incl. disposals) of around 
eur 114 million for 2013. for the individual business 
segments we are planning for the business year 2013 
as follows:

for the segment residential property management we 
are planning earnings of around eur 264 million with 
continued stable expenditure on maintenance of around 
eur 10 per sqm. in total, we are planning to spend 
around eur 80 million or just under eur 16 per sqm per 
annum on maintenance and modernisation measures. 

in the segment disposals the emphasis will continue to 
be on the streamlining of the portfolio and on privatisa-
tions. disposals from within the strategic core and 
growth regions will be decided depending on the given 
situation and the opportunities that present themselves. 
overall, we plan to sell around 2,500 units (around 1,000 
units in privatisations) with a transaction volume of 
around eur 120 million. we are forecasting earnings 
from disposals of around eur 14 million. 

the segment nursing and assisted living – taking into 
consideration recent acquisitions – will contribute 
around eur 13 million to the earnings of the Group. 

in total, we are forecasting an eBitda of around 
eur 235 million or an eBt of around eur 105 million. 
these figures do not take into account any effects arising 
from valuations or acquisitions. 
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consolidated balance sheet
as at 31 december 2012

in eur k notes 31/12/2012 31/12/2011

assets

investment properties d.1 4,614,598 2,928,816

property, plant and equipment d.2 20,348 18,636

intangible assets d.3 3,256 2,511

other non-current assets  438 561

deferred tax assets d.14 80,716 63,037

non-current assets 4,719,356 3,013,561

land and buildings held for sale d.4 39,143 63,476

other inventories  3,206 2,937

trade receivables d.5 20,842 13,959

income tax receivables  1,188 797

other current assets  9,078 2,329

cash and cash equivalents d.7 90,571 167,829

subtotal current assets  164,028 251,327

non-current assets held for sale c.9 24,425 37,388

current assets  188,453 288,715

total assets  4,907,809 3,302,276
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in eur k notes 31/12/2012 31/12/2011

eQuitY and liaBilities

equity attributable to shareholders of the parent company   

issued share capital d.8 146,143 102,300

capital reserve d.8 859,251 496,174

retained earnings d.8 603,930 484,598

1,609,324 1,083,072

non-controlling interests d.8 346 302

total equity 1,609,670 1,083,374

non-current financial liabilities d.9 2,634,286 1,728,291

employee benefit liability d.10 54,538 42,662

tax liabilities d.13 36,509 41,221

derivative financial instruments d.6 113,694 71,731

other provisions d.12 7,102 8,265

deferred tax liabilities d.14 143,331 96,219

total non-current liabilities 2,989,460 1,988,389

current financial liabilities d.9 134,357 106,382

trade payables  71,962 35,634

liabilities to limited partners in funds d.11 5,142 7,287

other provisions d.12 7,272 3,295

derivative financial instruments d.6 38,767 23,241

tax liabilities d.13 27,060 17,411

other liabilities  24,119 37,263

total current liabilities 308,679 230,513

total equity and liabilities  4,907,809 3,302,276

Consolidated Financial Statements
consolidated balance sheet
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consolidated profit and loss statement
for the period from 1 January to 31 december 2012

in eur k notes 2012 2011

income from residential property management e.16 240,054 196,373

expenses from residential property management e.17 – 45,633 – 38,981

earnings from residential Property management  194,421 157,392

sales proceeds  167,756 150,596

cost of sales  – 11,763 – 8,280

carrying amounts of assets sold  – 136,106 – 131,742

earnings from disposals e.18 19,887 10,574

income from nursing and assisted living  42,013 40,105

expenses from nursing and assisted living  – 32,089 – 30,875

earnings from nursing and assisted living e.19 9,924 9,230

corporate expenses e.20 – 40,421 – 32,951

other expenses/income  12,726 – 2,262

subtotal  196,537 141,983

Gains from fair value adjustments of investment properties d.1 119,203 40,049

depreciation and amortisation d.2/3 – 3,129 – 3,007

earnings before interest and taxes (eBit)  312,611 179,025

finance income  1,959 675

losses from fair value adjustments of 
derivative financial instruments d.6 – 214 – 199

finance expense e.21 – 108,720 – 93,712

Profit before taxes  205,636 85,789

income taxes e.22 – 60,123 – 35,214

Profit for the period  145,513 50,575
thereof attributable to:    

shareholders of the parent company  145,513 50,575

non-controlling interests  0 0

  145,513 50,575

earnings per share    

basic in eur  1.15 0.57

diluted in eur  1.15 0.57
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consolidated statement of comprehensive income
for the period from 1 January to 31 december 2012

in eur k 2012 2011

Profit for the period  145,513 50,575

other comprehensive income    

net gain/loss from derivative financial instruments  – 57,637 – 33,691

income tax effect  17,804 10,484

– 39,833 – 23,207

actuarial losses/gains and impacts of caps for assets  – 7,873 1,528

income tax effect  2,410 – 456

 – 5,463 1,072

other comprehensive income after taxes  – 45,296 – 22,135

total comprehensive income, net of tax  100,217 28,440

thereof attributable to:    

shareholders of the parent company  100,217 28,440

non-controlling interests  0 0

Consolidated Financial Statements
consolidated profit and loss statement
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consolidated statement of cash flows
for the period from 1 January to 31 december 2012

in eur k notes 2012 2011

operating activities    

profit/loss for the period  145,513 50,575

finance income  – 1,959 – 675

finance expense  108,720 93,712

income taxes  60,123 35,214

Profit/loss for the period before interest and taxes  312,397 178,826

non-cash expenses/income    

fair value adjustment of investment properties d.1 – 119,203 – 40,049

depreciation and amortisation d.2/3 3,129 3,007

fair value adjustments to interest rate swaps  214 199

other non-cash operating expenses/income  G – 33,943 – 20,338

change in net working capital    

change in receivables, inventories and other current assets  – 3,126 2,298

change in operating liabilities  2,775 7,452

net operating cash flows  162,243 131,395
interest paid  – 93,487 – 79,446

interest received  1,959 675

taxes paid/received excluding ek-02-payments  – 1,072 481

net cash flows from operating activities before eK-02-payments  69,643 53,105
ek-02-payments d.13 – 10,421 – 9,603

net cash flows from operating activities  59,222 43,502
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in eur k notes 2012 2011

investing activities    

sales proceeds G 163,540 149,378

purchase of property, plant and equipment/investment property 
and other non-current assets  – 1,400,555 – 260,382

receipt of investment subsidies  432 1,645

payments to limited partners in funds d.11 – 1,420 – 15,763

net cash flows from investing activities  – 1,238,003 – 125,122

financing activities    
proceeds from borrowings d.9 847,402 633,111

repayment of borrowings d.9 – 158,526 – 592,366

one-off financing costs for BauBecon transaction e.21 – 7,782 0

proceeds from the capital increase d.8 461,157 186,476

costs of the capital increase d.8 – 17,199 – 7,420

dividend paid  – 23,529 – 16,368

net cash flows from financing activities  1,101,523 203,433

net change in cash and cash equivalents  – 77,258 121,813
opening balance of cash and cash equivalents  167,829 46,016

closing balance of cash and cash equivalents  90,571 167,829

Consolidated Financial Statements
consolidated statement of cash flows
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consolidated statement of changes in equity
as at 31 december 2012

in eur k issued share capital capital reserves

retained earnings 

subtotal
non-controlling 

 interests equityPensions
reserves for 

cash flow hedge other reserves

notes d.8 d.8 d.8 d.8 d.8  d.8  

equity as at 1 January 2011 81,840 370,048 – 2,333 – 38,173 478,188 889,570 302 889,872

profit/loss for the period    50,575 50,575  50,575

other comprehensive income after tax   1,072 – 23,207  – 22,135  – 22,135

total comprehensive income, net of taxes   1,072 – 23,207 50,575 28,440 0 28,440

capital increase 20,460 166,016    186,476  186,476

costs of capital increase, less tax effects  – 5,046    – 5,046  – 5,046

transfer from the capital reserve  – 34,844   34,844 0 0 0

dividend paid     – 16,368 – 16,368 0 – 16,368

equity as at 31 december 2011 102,300 496,174 – 1,261 – 61,380 547,239 1,083,072 302 1,083,374

equity as at 1 January 2012 102,300 496,174 – 1,261 – 61,380 547,239 1,083,072 302 1,083,374

profit/loss for the period     145,513 145,513 0 145,513

other comprehensive income after tax   – 5,463 – 39,833  – 45,296  – 45,296

total comprehensive income, net of taxes   – 5,463 – 39,833 145,513 100,217 0 100,217

capital increase 43,843 417,314    461,157  461,157

costs of capital increase, less tax effects  – 11,593    – 11,593  – 11,593

transfer from the capital reserve  – 42,645   42,645 0 0 0

change non-controlling interests      0 44 44

dividend paid     – 23,529 – 23,529  – 23,529

equity as at 31 december 2012 146,143 859,251 – 6,724 – 101,213 711,868 1,609,324 346 1,609,670
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in eur k issued share capital capital reserves

retained earnings 

subtotal
non-controlling 

 interests equityPensions
reserves for 

cash flow hedge other reserves

notes d.8 d.8 d.8 d.8 d.8  d.8  

equity as at 1 January 2011 81,840 370,048 – 2,333 – 38,173 478,188 889,570 302 889,872

profit/loss for the period    50,575 50,575  50,575

other comprehensive income after tax   1,072 – 23,207  – 22,135  – 22,135

total comprehensive income, net of taxes   1,072 – 23,207 50,575 28,440 0 28,440

capital increase 20,460 166,016    186,476  186,476

costs of capital increase, less tax effects  – 5,046    – 5,046  – 5,046

transfer from the capital reserve  – 34,844   34,844 0 0 0

dividend paid     – 16,368 – 16,368 0 – 16,368

equity as at 31 december 2011 102,300 496,174 – 1,261 – 61,380 547,239 1,083,072 302 1,083,374

equity as at 1 January 2012 102,300 496,174 – 1,261 – 61,380 547,239 1,083,072 302 1,083,374

profit/loss for the period     145,513 145,513 0 145,513

other comprehensive income after tax   – 5,463 – 39,833  – 45,296  – 45,296

total comprehensive income, net of taxes   – 5,463 – 39,833 145,513 100,217 0 100,217

capital increase 43,843 417,314    461,157  461,157

costs of capital increase, less tax effects  – 11,593    – 11,593  – 11,593

transfer from the capital reserve  – 42,645   42,645 0 0 0

change non-controlling interests      0 44 44

dividend paid     – 23,529 – 23,529  – 23,529

equity as at 31 december 2012 146,143 859,251 – 6,724 – 101,213 711,868 1,609,324 346 1,609,670

Consolidated Financial Statements
consolidated statement of changes in equity
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a  General information on the   
consolidated financial statements 
of the deutsche wohnen Group

1 the deutsche Wohnen Group

the consolidated financial statements of deutsche wohnen 
aG (“deutsche wohnen”) as at 31 december 2012 were 
prepared by the management Board on 25 february 
2013. the supervisory Board is scheduled to approve the 
consolidated financial statements at its meeting on 
20 march 2013. deutsche wohnen aG is a publicly listed 
real estate company based in and operating across 
 Germany with its registered office at pfaffenwiese 300, 
frankfurt/main, and is registered in the commercial 
register of the frankfurt/main district court under num-
ber hrB 42388.

the business activities of deutsche wohnen aG are lim-
ited to its role as the holding company for the compa-
nies in the Group. part of this is in particular corporate 
development, corporate finance, investor relations, 
corporate communication and human resources. the 
operating subsidiaries focus on residential property 
management and disposals relating to properties, as 
well as on the division nursing and assisted living. 

the consolidated financial statements are presented in 
euros. unless stated otherwise, figures are rounded to 
the nearest thousand (eur k) or the nearest million 
(eur m) eur. for arithmetical reasons there may be 
rounding differences between tables and references and 
the exact mathematical figures.

2 consolidated financial statements

the consolidated financial statements of deutsche wohnen 
and its subsidiaries were prepared in accordance with 
the international financial reporting standards (ifrs) 
as applicable in the european union (eu).

the consolidated financial statement has been prepared 
on a historical cost basis. this excludes, in particular, 
investment properties and derivative financial instru-
ments, which are measured at fair value.

the consolidated financial statements comprise the 
financial statements of deutsche wohnen and its 
 subsidiaries to 31 december of each financial year. the 
financial statements for the subsidiaries are prepared 
using consistent accounting and valuation methods as 
at the same reporting date as the financial statements 
of the parent company.

3 application of ifrs in the financial year 

with the exception of new and revised standards and 
interpretations, the same accounting and valuation 
methods were applied to the consolidated financial 
statements for the past financial year as were used for 
the consolidated financial statements as at 31 decem-
ber 2011. 

in the financial year 2012 there were no changes arising 
from the first-time application of the ifrs standards or 
ifric interpretations.

the following shows already published but not yet 
applied ifrs standards:

ifrs 9 “financial instruments” was published by the 
iasB in november 2009. according to this standard, in 
future, financial assets are to be allocated to one of the 
two valuation categories “at amortised cost” or “at fair 
value”, and are valued accordingly. Based on a change 
published in december 2011, ifrs 9 henceforth only 
has to be applied to financial years started on or after 
1 January 2015. it has not yet been adopted into euro-
pean law. the application of the new standard will result 
in changes to the presentation and accounting of finan-
cial assets and liabilities.

in may 2011 the iasB published ifrs 10 “consolidated 
financial statements", ifrs 11 “Joint arrangements", 
ifrs 12 “disclosure of interest in other entities", 
amendments to ias 27 “separate financial statements” 
and amendments to ias 28 “investments in associates 
and Joint Ventures”. ifrs 10 replaces the current regu-
lations on consolidated financial statements (parts of 
ias 27 “consolidated and separate financial state-
ments") and special purpose entities (sic-12 “consolida-
tion – special purpose entities") and stipulates the con-
trol approach to be the standard principle from now on. 

notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the financial year ended 31 december 2012
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these changes will be initially applicable for financial 
years starting on or after 1 January 2014 by their adop-
tion in european law. the changes to ifrs 10, ifrs 11 
and ifrs 12, which were published in June 2012 by 
iasB, serving as clarification of the ifrs 10 transition 
rules and concerning simplifications for the initial appli-
cation however have not yet been adopted in european 
law. we assume that the new or revised standards will 
not have any significant effects on the financial perfor-
mance and financial position.

ifrs 13 “fair Value measurement", also published in 
may 2011, introduces a framework concept for the 
assessment of the fair value. ifrs 13 is to be applied to 
financial years starting on or after 1 January 2013. the 
standard will not have any significant effects on the 
financial performance and financial position.

in June 2011 the iasB published “amendments to ias 1 – 
presentation of items of other comprehensive income”. 
the changes are to be applied to financial years starting 
on or after 1 July 2012. the application of the changed 
standard will result in changes to the presentation of 
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

the “amendments to ias 19 – employee Benefits” were 
published in June 2011. the changes lead to a phasing 
out of the corridor method and demand that actuarial 
gains and losses are recorded directly in other earnings. 
the calculatory interest applied for discounting pension 
commitments is from now on decisive for the expected 
interest on the plan assets. the changes are to be 
applied to financial years starting on or after 1 January 
2013. we assume that the changes will not have any sig-
nificant effects on the financial performance and finan-
cial position.

the iasB and the ifrs ic issued further statements 
during the reporting year, which will not have any sig-
nificant effect on the consolidated financial statements.

4  significant accounting judgements,
 estimates and assumptions

the preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial 
statements requires management to make judgements, 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported 
amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, 
and the disclosure of contingent liabilities, at the end of 
the reporting period. however, uncertainty about these 
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes 
that require a material adjustment to the carrying 
amount of the asset or liability affected in future periods.

Judgements
in the process of applying the Group’s accounting poli-
cies, management has made the following judgements, 
which have the most significant effect on the amounts 
recognised in the consolidated financial statements. 
however, this excludes decisions involving estimates. 
insofar as statements regarding discretionary decisions 
in the context of individual rules had to be made, an 
explanation was provided for the corresponding items.

operating lease commitments-Group as lessor
the Group has entered into leases to rent on its invest-
ment property portfolio. the Group has determined, 
based on an evaluation of the terms and conditions of 
the arrangements, that it retains all the significant risks 
and rewards of ownership of these properties and 
accounts for the contracts as operating leases. the carry-
ing amount of the investment properties amounted to 
eur 4.6 billion (previous year: eur 2.9 billion).

Consolidated Financial Statements
notes to the consolidated financial statements
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estimates and assumptions
the key assumptions concerning the future and other 
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting 
date that have significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabil-
ities within the next financial years are discussed below.

fair value of investment properties
the fair value of investment properties was determined 
internally by a portfolio valuation as at 31 december 
2012. the properties are clustered on the basis of their 
location and property quality. assumptions regarding the 
development of rents, vacancies, vacancy losses, main-
tenance costs, and discount rates are made on the basis 
of these clusters. these valuation assumptions are sub-
ject to uncertainties due to their long-term nature that 
may lead to either positive or negative value adjust-
ments in the future. the carrying amount of the invest-
ment properties amounted to eur 4.6 billion (previous 
year: eur 2.9 billion).

pensions and other post-employment benefits
expenses relating to post-employment defined benefit 
plans are determined on the basis of actuarial calcula-
tions. the actuarial calculations are made on the basis 
of assumptions regarding discount rates, future wage 
and salary increases, mortality and future pension 
increases. such estimates are subject to significant 
uncertainty due to the long-term nature of these plans. 
the employee benefit liability from pensions obligation 
as at 31 december 2012 amount to eur 54.5 million 
(previous year: eur 42.7 million). 

liabilities to limited partners in funds
the limited partners of dB immobilienfonds 14 rhein-
pfalz wohnen Gmbh & co. kG, eschborn (hereinafter 
“dB 14”) have the possibility of tendering their shares 
until 2019. the full tendering of all limited partnership 
interests was assumed as a basis for the measurement of 
the liability. the liability as at 31 december 2012 amounts 
to eur 5.1 million (previous year: eur 7.3 million).

B  Basis of consolidation and
 consolidation methods

1 Basis of consolidation

the consolidated financial statements comprise 
deutsche wohnen aG and the subsidiaries it controls 
from the time of their acquisition, being the date on 
which the Group obtains control. they continue to be 
consolidated until the date when such control ceases. 
the composition of deutsche wohnen can be seen in the 
list of shareholdings attached as appendix 1.

in 2012 the basis of consolidation changed as follows:

•  since 2 January 2012 deutsche wohnen reisholz 
Gmbh, Berlin (formerly: fdr reisholz Verwaltungs-
Gmbh, essen), is a fully consolidated as wholly owned 
indirect subsidiary.

•  since 1 June 2012 the seniorenresidenz home “am 
lunapark” Gmbh, leipzig, is a fully consolidated 
wholly owned indirect subsidiary.

•  since 1 July 2012 marienfelder allee 212-220 Grund-
stücksgesellschaft Gbr, Berlin, is a fully consolidated, 
indirect subsidiary on the basis of a 96 % majority 
shareholding.

•  since 30 august 2012 deutsche wohnen service Gmbh, 
Berlin, is a fully consolidated wholly owned indirect 
subsidiary and deutsche wohnen service Braun-
schweig Gmbh, Berlin, wholly owned indirect subsidiary.

•  since 1 september 2012 the companies of the BauBe-
con Group are fully consolidated wholly owned indirect 
subsidiary. BauBecon assets Gmbh, hanover; BauBe-
con Bio Gmbh, hanover; BauBecon immo bilien 
Gmbh, hanover; BauBecon wohnwert Gmbh, hano-
ver; algarobo holding B.V., amsterdam, the nether-
lands; hamnes investments B.V., amsterdam, the 
netherlands; intermetro B.V., amsterdam, the neth-
erlands; patus 216. Gmbh, hanover; patus 217. Gmbh, 
hanover.
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•  in addition, the following companies were established 
in the financial year 2012, which are fully consolidated 
wholly owned indirect subsidiaries since their founding: 
deutsche wohnen Beteiligungsverwaltungs Gmbh & 
co. kG, Berlin, GehaG Beteiligungs Gmbh & co. kG, 
Berlin, deutsche wohnen service magdeburg Gmbh, 
Berlin, deutsche wohnen service hannover Gmbh, 
Berlin.

these changes to the basis of consolidation do not 
involve company mergers according to ifrs 3, as the 
relevant companies essentially include real estate 
assets and financings allocated thereto and therefore 
they do not fulfil the criteria of ifrs 3 for operating 
business. there have been no further changes to the 
basis of consolidation.

2 consolidation methods

the financial statements for the subsidiaries are 
 prepared using consistent accounting and valuation 
methods as at the same reporting date as the financial 
statements of the parent company. subsidiaries are fully 
included in the consolidation from the time of acquisi-
tion, being the date on which the Group obtains control. 
they continue to be consolidated until the date when 
such control ceases.

consolidation of capital is made in accordance with the 
acquisition method, according to which the acquisition 
costs are offset against the net assets of the sharehold-
ings carried at fair value at the time of the acquisition. 

all intra-Group balances, transactions, revenues, 
expenses, and gains and losses from intra-Group trans-
actions which are included in the carrying amount of the 
assets are eliminated in full.

non-controlling interests represent the share of the 
profits and net assets not attributable to the Group. 
non-controlling interests are shown separately in the 
consolidated profit and loss statement and in the con-
solidated balance sheet. the disclosure in the consoli-
dated balance sheet is made within equity, separate 
from the equity attributable to the owners of the parent 
company. 

c  accounting policies and 
valuation methods

1 investment properties

investment properties are properties that are held to 
generate rental income or for the purposes of generat-
ing value and which are not used by the company itself 
or held for sale in the course of normal business activi-
ties. investment properties include land with residential 
and commercial buildings, undeveloped land and land 
with leasehold rights. 

investment properties are measured initially at cost 
including transaction costs. subsequent to the initial 
recognition, investment properties are stated at fair 
value. Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair 
values of investment properties are included in the profit 
and loss statement. 

internal valuations were made as at 31 december 2012 
and 31 december 2011. the portfolio was also evaluated 
by cB richard ellis Gmbh, frankfurt/main as at 
31 december 2012 and 31 december 2011, and the 
total value was confirmed. Value deviations for indivi-
dual properties were no larger than +/– 10 %. the total 
valuation by cB richard ellis varied by around – 0.1 % 
(previous year: < 0.1 %) from the internal valuation. 

the valuation was performed in both financial years as 
follows: the properties were clustered. homogeneous 
groups (clusters) were created on the basis of the loca-
tion and quality of the units and their relative risks. 

Consolidated Financial Statements
notes to the consolidated financial statements
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the clusters were created based on the following 
 characteristics:

cluster
location 

 characteristic
Property 

 characteristic

aa Good location Good property

aB Good location normal property

ac Good location Basic property

Ba normal location Good property

BB normal location normal property

Bc normal location Basic property

ca Basic location Good property

cB Basic location normal property

cc Basic location Basic property

the clusters were further split into respectively eight 
regions, e. g. Greater Berlin, lower saxony or north 
Germany. 

investment properties are derecognised when either 
they have been disposed or when the investment prop-
erty is permanently withdrawn from use and no future 
economic benefit is expected from its disposal. Gains or 
losses from the permanent withdrawal from use or dis-
posal of investment properties are recognised in the 
year of their withdrawal from use or disposal.

properties are transferred from the investment proper-
ties portfolio if there is a change of use caused by the 
company either starting to use the property itself or by 
the commencement of development with an intention to 
dispose.

2 Property, plant and equipment

property, plant and equipment are stated at cost net of 
cumulative depreciation and accumulated impairment 
losses. subsequent acquisition costs are recognised 
insofar as it is likely that a future economic benefit 
from the property, plant or equipment will accrue for 
deutsche wohnen. 

straight-line depreciation is based on the estimated 
useful life of the asset. the useful life of buildings is 
50 years. the useful life of moveable assets is four to 
ten years.

impairment tests regarding the carrying amounts of 
property, plant and equipment are performed as soon as 
there are indications that the carrying amount of an 
asset exceeds its recoverable amount.

an item of property, plant and equipment is derecog-
nised upon disposal or when no future economic bene-
fits are expected from its use or disposal. any gain or 
loss arising on derecognition of the asset, calculated as 
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and 
the carrying amount of the asset, is included in the con-
solidated profit and loss statement when the asset is 
derecognised.

the assets’ residual values, useful lives and methods of 
depreciation are reviewed at each financial year end and 
adjusted if appropriate.

3 intangible assets

deutsche wohnen only recognises acquired intangible 
assets on the balance sheet. these are measured on 
initial recognition at cost and are amortised using the 
straight-line method over their respective useful lives. 
their useful lives are between three and five years.

4 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the 
period in which they arise. there were no effects from 
the application of ias 23 (revised), as the relevant assets 
(properties) were already recognised at fair value. 
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5  impairment of non-financial assets

the non-financial assets consist mainly of property, 
plant and equipment, intangible assets and inventories. 
the Group assesses at each reporting date whether 
there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. if 
any indication exists, the Group estimates the asset’s 
recoverable amount. an asset’s recoverable amount is 
the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s fair 
value less costs to sell and its value in use and is deter-
mined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not 
generate cash flows that are largely independent of 
those from other assets or groups of assets. where the 
carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable 
amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written 
down to its recoverable amount.

impairment losses are recognised in the profit and loss 
statement in those expense categories consistent with 
the function of the impaired asset. 

for all non-financial assets an assessment is made at 
each reporting date as to whether there is any indication 
that previously recognised impairment losses may no 
longer exist or may have decreased. if such indication 
exists, the Group estimates the asset’s recoverable 
amount. a previously recognised impairment loss is 
reversed only if there has been a change in the assump-
tions used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount 
since the last impairment loss was recognised. in this 
case, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its 
recoverable amount. the reversal is limited so that the 
carrying amount of the asset does not exceed the carry-
ing amount that would have been determined, net of 
depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised 
for the asset in prior years. such reversal is recognised 
in the profit and loss statement.

6 financial assets

financial assets within the scope of ias 39 are classified 
by deutsche wohnen 
• as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss,
• as loans and receivables, 
• as available-for-sale financial assets, or
•  as derivative financial instruments designed as hedging 

instruments in an effective hedge.

all financial assets are recognised initially at fair value 
plus, in case of investments not at fair value through 
profit and loss, directly attributable transaction costs. 
financial assets are assigned to the categories upon 
initial recognition. if permitted and necessary, reclassi-
fications are made at the end of the financial year.

other than derivative financial instruments with and 
without hedging context (interest rate swaps), 
deutsche wohnen has not recognised any financial 
assets held for trading purposes or financial assets held 
to maturity, yet. 

the receivables and other assets recognised in the con-
solidated financial statements of the deutsche wohnen 
Group are allocated to the category “loans and receiva-
bles”. loans and receivables are non-derivative financial 
assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market. after initial measurement, 
loans and receivables are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method less 
impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit/
loss for the period when the loans and receivables are 
derecognised or impaired or when amortised.

Consolidated Financial Statements
notes to the consolidated financial statements
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impairment of receivables from rental activities is made 
on the basis of empirical values. reasonable individual 
impairments are made for other receivables and assets.

interest rate swaps are recognised at fair value on the 
basis of a mark-to-market method, regardless of 
whether they are classified as an effective or non-effec-
tive hedging instrument. 

a financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a finan-
cial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) 
is derecognised when the contractual rights to receive 
cash flows from the asset have expired.

7 inventories

inventories comprise land and buildings held for sale 
and other inventories. land and buildings held for sale 
are sold in the normal course of business, so it exceeds 
a period of twelve months. 

the initial valuation is made at cost. at reporting date 
the inventories are valued at the lower value of cost or 
cost and net realisable value. the net realisable value is 
the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of 
business less estimated costs of completion and the 
estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

8 cash and cash equivalents

cash and cash equivalents on the consolidated balance 
sheet comprise cash on hand and cash at bank.

9  non-current assets held for sale

deutsche wohnen Group recognises investment proper-
ties as assets held for sale if notarised contracts of sale 
are available at the reporting date but transfer of owner-
ship takes place later. measurement is made at the 
lower of the carrying amount and average sales price. 

10 financial liabilities

financial liabilities within the scope of ias 39 are clas-
sified by deutsche wohnen either 
•  as other financial liabilities that are carried at amor-

tised cost, or
•  as derivative financial liabilities that meet the require-

ments of an effective hedging transaction.

financial liabilities
loans and borrowings are initially recognised at fair 
value less the transaction costs directly associated with 
the loan. after initial recognition, the interest-bearing 
loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
Gains and losses are recognised in the profit or loss 
statement when the liabilities are derecognised or dur-
ing amortisation process. 

trade payables and other liabilities
liabilities are initially recognised at fair value. after ini-
tial recognition, they are measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method. Gains and losses 
are recognised in profit or loss statement when the lia-
bilities are derecognised or during amortisation process.
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liabilities to limited partners in funds
according to ias 32 (revised 2003), the termination 
rights of a limited partner are a decisive criteria for the 
distinction between equity and debt capital. financial 
instruments granting the owner (here: limited partner) 
the right to return the instrument to the issuer in turn 
for payments of money constitute a financial liability. 
due to the termination rights of the limited partners, the 
limited partnership interests and the “net assets of 
shareholders” are recognised as debt capital. according 
to ias 32.35 (revised 2003), the profit share of the limited 
partners and minority shareholders are consequently 
recognised as a finance expense. 

the net assets of the limited partners have to be recog-
nised at the fair value of any possible repayment amount 
at the end of the financial year. Value increases are rec-
ognised as finance expense and impairments as finance 
income in the consolidated profit and loss statement. 
the amount of the repayment obligation depends on the 
articles of association. 

within deutsche wohnen there are liabilities to limited 
partners in funds of eur 5.1 million (previous year: 
eur 7.3 million). 

a financial liability is derecognised when the obligation 
under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. 
when an existing financial liability is replaced by another 
from the same lender on substantially different terms, 
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially 
modified, such an exchange or modifications is treated 
as a derecognition of the original liability and the recog-
nition of a new liability, and the difference in the respec-
tive carrying amount is recognised in the profit and loss 
statement. the difference between the respective carrying 
amounts is recognised in the profit and loss statement.

11  Pensions and other
 post-employment benefits

employee benefit liabilities are recognised for commit-
ments (pensions, invalidity, surviving spouse pensions 
and surviving dependent benefits) for pensions and 
ongoing benefits to eligible active and former employees 
and their surviving dependents. 

expenses for benefits granted as part of defined contri-
bution plans are determined using the projected unit 
credit method. actuarial gains and losses are recog-
nised with an earnings-neutral effect in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income.

on the basis of statutory provisions, deutsche wohnen 
pays contributions to state pension insurance funds 
from defined contribution plans. these current contribu-
tions are shown as social security contributions within 
staff expenses. payment of the contributions does not 
constitute any further obligations for the Group.

there is also a pension plan drawn up in accordance 
with the regulations governing public sector supple-
mentary pensions. it is based on membership of a 
Group company in the Bayerische Versorgungskammer 
 (hereinafter BVk) – the supplementary pension fund for 
municipalities in Bavaria. the supplementary pension 
comprises a partial or full reduced earnings capacity 
pension plus an age-related pension as a full pension or 
surviving dependant’s pension. the charge levied by the 
BVk is determined by the employees’ compensation 
used to calculate the supplementary pension contribution.

the BVk therefore represents a multi-employer defined 
benefit plan that, in accordance with ias 19.30 (a), is 
accounted for as a defined contribution plan because 
the BVk has not provided sufficient information to 
account for the plan as a defined benefit plan.

no specific information is known regarding any over-
funding or underfunding of the plan or the related future 
effects on the deutsche wohnen Group. in future, 
increasing/decreasing payments of premiums by 
deutsche wohnen to the BVk may result from possible 
excess or deficient cover.

Consolidated Financial Statements
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12 Provisions

provisions are recognised when the Group has a present 
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past 
event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embod-
ying economic benefits will be required to settle the 
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the 
amount of the obligation. where the Group expects 
some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, for example 
under an insurance contract, the reimbursement is rec-
ognised as a separate asset but only when the reim-
bursement is virtually certain. the expense relating to 
any provision is presented in the profit and loss state-
ment net of any reimbursement. if the impact of the 
interest rate is significant, provisions are discounted at 
an interest rate before tax that reflects the specific risks 
of the liability. in the case of discounting, the increase in 
provisions due over time is recognised as a finance 
expense.

13 lease

leasing transactions are differentiated between finance 
leases and operating leases. contractual provisions that 
transfer all significant risks and rewards associated 
with the ownership of an asset to the lessee are 
reported as finance leases. the lessee recognises the 
leased asset as an asset and the corresponding obliga-
tions are recognised as liabilities. all other leasing 
transactions are reported as operating leases. payments 
from operating leases are recorded as an expense on a 
straight-line basis over the contract period.

14 revenue and expenses recognition

revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable 
that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the 
revenue can be reliably measured. in addition, the fol-
lowing criteria have to be met when recognising revenue:

rental income
rental income is recognised monthly over the period of 
the leases in accordance with the tenancy agreement. 

disposal of property
revenue is recognised when the significant risks and 
rewards associated with the ownership of the disposed 
property have been transferred to the purchaser.

services
revenue is recognised in accordance with the delivery of 
the service. 

as part of the long-term performance-based remunera-
tion there are share-based remuneration components 
which are settled through funds. the remuneration 
components to be expensed over the vesting period 
 correspond to the fair value of the equity-based remu-
neration at the reporting date. the determination of fair 
values is based on generally accepted valuation method-
ologies. liabilities are accounted for in a corresponding 
amount.

15 Government grants

Government grants are recognised where there is rea-
sonable assurance that the grant will be received and all 
attached conditions will be complied with. in the case of 
a grant related to an expense item, it is recognised as 
planned income over the period necessary to match the 
grant on a systematic basis to the costs that it is 
intended to compensate. 

deutsche wohnen has received government grants in 
the form of disbursement subsidies, disbursement 
loans and subsidised-interest loans.

disbursement subsidies, in the form of rent subsidies, 
are recognised in the profit and loss statement. they are 
recognised as income from residential property man-
agement.

disbursement loans and subsidised-interest loans are 
property loans and are recognised as financial liabili-
ties. in comparison with loans made under market con-
ditions, both offer advantages such as lower interest 
rates or interest-free and redemption-free periods. the 
loans are measured at fair value and are subsequently 
carried at amortised cost. however, they are to be 
viewed in context with rent restrictions of the proper-
ties, which were taken into account when determining 
the fair value. 

furthermore, deutsche wohnen received investment 
subsidies in the amount of eur 0.4 million (previous 
year: eur 1.6 million) and offset these against the 
acquisition costs. 
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16 taxes

current income tax assets and liabilities
current income tax assets and liabilities for the current 
period and for previous periods are measured at the 
amount expected to be recovered or paid to the tax 
authorities. the tax rates and tax laws used to compute 
the amount are those enacted as at reporting date.

deferred taxes
deferred tax is provided using the liability method on all 
temporary differences at the reporting date between the 
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying 
amount for financial reporting purposes. deferred tax 
liabilities are recognised for all temporary differences 
except of the following: in respect of taxable temporary 
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, 
associates and interest in joint ventures, where the timing 
of the reversal of the temporary differences can be con-
trolled and it is probable that the temporary differences 
will not reverse in the foreseeable future, deferred tax 
liabilities are not recognised.

deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible 
temporary differences, carry forward of unused tax 
credits and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is 
probable that taxable profit will be available against 
which the deductible temporary differences, and the 
carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax 
losses can be utilised. the following exceptions apply:

•  deferred tax assets from deductible temporary differ-
ences which arise from the initial recognition of an 
asset or a liability in a transaction that is not a busi-
ness combination and that, at the time of the business 
transaction, affect neither the accounting profit nor 
taxable profit or loss may not be recognised.

•  deferred tax assets from deductible temporary differ-
ences associated with investments in subsidiaries, 
associates and interests in joint ventures are recog-
nised only to the extent that it is probable that the 
temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable 
future and taxable profit will be available against 
which the temporary differences can be utilised.

the carrying amount for deferred tax assets is reviewed 
at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it 
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be 
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to 
be utilised. unrecognised deferred tax assets are reas-
sessed at each reporting date and are recognised to the 
extent that it has become probable that future taxable 
profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered. 

deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the 
tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the 
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax 
rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substan-
tively enacted at the reporting date.

deferred taxes relating to items that are recognised 
directly in equity are recognised in equity and not in the 
consolidated profit and loss statement. 

deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are off-
set, if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current 
tax assets against current income tax liabilities and the 
deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the 
same taxation authority.
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d notes to the consolidated balance sheet

1 investment properties

investment properties are recognised at fair value. fair 
value developed as follows during the financial year:

in eur m 31/12/2012 31/12/2011

start of period 2,928.8 2,821.0

acquisitions 1,633.2 159.0

other additions 32.9 23.2

disposals – 75.1 – 77.0

fair value adjustment 119.2 40.0

transfer – 24.4 – 37.4

end of period 4,614.6 2,928.8

the transfer includes the property reclassified as non-
current assets for disposal in the current financial year. 

the following principles were applied to the valuation as 
at 31 december 2012 and as at 31 december 2011:

Based on the clusters:
•  derivation of annual rates of increase in rent.

•  derivation of target vacancy rates over a period of 
1.0 to 4.5 years.

•  derivation of capitalisation rates and discount rates.

Based on the properties:
•  determination of the market rent as at the reporting 

date.

•  development of rent per sqm of lettable area based on 
market rent and in-place rent/current gross rental 
income.

•  development of costs (maintenance, administration, 
rental loss and non-recoverable expenses, ground 
rent (if applicable)).

17  derivative financial instruments
 and hedging transactions

the Group uses derivative financial instruments (inter-
est rate swaps) to hedge against interest rate risks. 
these derivatives are initially recognised at fair value 
when the corresponding agreement is entered into and 
are subsequently measured at fair value. derivative 
financial instruments are recognised as assets if their 
fair value is positive and as liabilities if their fair value is 
negative. measurement is derived using the mark-to-
market method.

deutsche wohnen recognises concluded interest rate 
swaps on the basis of the hedge accounting regulations 
of ias 39. in addition to documentation of the hedging 
correlation between the hedge and the underlying item, 
one requirement for hedge accounting is proof of the 
effectiveness of the hedging correlation between the 
hedge and the underlying item. if an effective correlation 
exists, the effective part of the value adjustment of the 
hedge is directly recognised in equity without affecting 
earnings. the non-effective part is recognised in the 
profit and loss statement. as far as the requirements for 
hedge accounting existed, the fair values of the hedging 
instruments were classified as current or non-current 
assets/liabilities. deutsche wohnen tested the effective-
ness of the concluded interest hedges on a prospective 
(critical terms method) and a retrospective basis. in the 
case of derivative financial instruments which do not 
meet the criteria for hedge accounting, gains or losses 
from changes in fair value are immediately recognised 
in the profit or loss statement.

deutsche wohnen only hedges cash flows which relate 
to future interest expenses.
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•  determination of cash flows from annual proceeds 
and payments and the terminal value at the end of 
year 10, based on the recurring cash flow expected in 
year 11 or an expected sales price less sales expenses.

•  calculation of a fair value based on the administrative 
unit as of the reporting date.

the discount rates lie between 6.10 % and 8.35 % 
depending on the clusters. the weighted average of the 
discount rates is 6.8%. the capitalisation rates range 
from 4.75  % to 7.60 %.
 
this results in an average value of eur 950 per sqm 
(previous year: eur 946 per sqm) and a multiplier of 
13.7 (previous year: 13.7) based on the potential current 
gross rental income as at 31 december 2012 or a multi-
plier of 14.3 (previous year: 14.2) based on the current 
gross rental income. the portfolio without fair value 
adjustment would have had an average value of eur 916 
per sqm (previous year: eur 933 per sqm). the increase 
in investment properties is due to an improvement of 
economic property parameters (rent levels, vacancy 
rates, discount rate).

a capitalisation and discount rate shift of 0.1 % causes a 
value adjustment of eur 77 million (previous year: 
eur 50 million).

the investment properties serve as collateral for the 
loans. there are also agreements in individual cases 
according to which the condition of the properties may 
not deteriorate or the average minimum investments 
have been determined on sqm-basis.

all of the Group’s investment properties are leased 
under operating leases. the rental income generated 
from this amounted to eur 240.1 million (previous year: 
eur 196.4 million). the expenses directly associated 
with the investment properties amounted to 
eur 45.6 million (previous year: eur 39.0 million).

deutsche wohnen is partly subject to restrictions with 
regards to rental increases related to certain prefe-
rential tenants and in relation to grants in the form of 
subsidised-interest loans or investment subsidies. addi-
tionally, we must comply with legal obligations when 
privatising apartments. 

2 Property, plant and equipment

land and buildings, plant and equipment classified 
under ias 16 are reported in this item. they developed 
as follows during the financial year:

in eur m 31/12/2012 31/12/2011

cost   

start of period 27.2 23.8

additions 3.8 4.1

disposals – 0.7 – 0.7

end of period 30.3 27.2

cumulative depreciation 
and impairment   

start of period 8.5 7.2

additions 1.9 1.7

disposals – 0.5 – 0.4

end of period 10.0 8.5

net carrying amounts 20.3 18.6

the land and buildings included in property, plant 
and equipment (eur 12.2 million, previous year: 
eur 11.4 million) are mainly property-secured.

Consolidated Financial Statements
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3 intangible assets

intangible assets developed as follows:

in eur m 31/12/2012 31/12/2011

cost   

start of period 7.3 7.0

additions 2.0 0.3

disposals – 0.2 0.0

end of period 9.0 7.3

cumulative depreciation 
and impairment   

start of period 4.8 3.5

additions 1.2 1.3

disposals – 0.2 0.0

end of period 5.8 4.8

net carrying amounts 3.3 2.5

intangible assets mainly comprise software licences.

4 land and buildings held for sale

the decrease of land and buildings held for sale is largely 
due to the disposal of the residential units that have been 
acquired in 2011 for disposal purposes. proceeds of 
eur 32.9 million (previous year: eur 24.5 million) were 
generated in the financial year 2012. the proceeds were 
partly offset by carrying amounts of assets sold of 
eur 23.7 million (previous year: eur 20.5 million).

5   trade receivables

receivables are made up as follows:

in eur m 31/12/2012 31/12/2011

receivables from 
rental activities 7.9 5.6

receivables from 
the disposal of land 11.6 7.3

other trade receivables 1.3 1.0

 20.8 13.9

receivables from rental activities are interest-free and 
are always overdue. impairments are made based on 
the age structure and/or according to whether the 
 tenants are active or former tenants. there have been 
write-downs formed of almost all overdue receivables.

in the financial year 2012 rental claims totalling 
eur 3.5 million (previous year: eur 1.4 million were 
written off or impaired. the impairment of receivables 
as at 31 december 2012 amounted to eur 15.1 million 
(previous year: eur 5.3 million).

receivables from the disposal of land are interest-free 
and are due between 1 and 90 days. 
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the non-impaired receivables from the disposal of land 
are due as follows:

in eur m

thereof, neither impaired nor 
overdue as at reporting date

thereof, neither impaired nor overdue 
in the following periods as at reporting date

< 30 days  30 – 60 days 61 – 90 days > 91 days

2012 10.5 1.1 0.0 0.0 0.0

2011 6.5 0.3 0.1 0.2 0.2

other receivables are interest-free and are due between 
1 and 90 days.

6 derivative financial instruments

deutsche wohnen has concluded several interest hedg-
ing transactions in a nominal amount of eur 1.8 billion 
(previous year: eur 1.2 billion). the cash flows from the 
underlying hedging item under the cash flow hedge 
accounting, will be incurred in the years from 2013 to 
2022. the strike rates are between 0.60 % and 4.74 %. 
the negative fair value of these businesses as at 
31 december 2012 amounted to eur 152.5 million 
 (previous year: eur 95.0 million).

there are no significant default risks as the interest rate 
swaps were concluded with major banks. if the interest 
rate level changes, the market values change accord-
ingly. income and expenses are recognised in equity for 
the effective part of a hedge, while the non-effective part 
is recognised within current earnings. if the interest rate 
level should rise/fall by 50 basis points, the attributable 
fair value of the interest rate swap rises/falls by approx-
imately eur 41.6 million (previous year: eur 24.7 million).

7 cash and cash equivalents

the cash and cash equivalents in the amount of 
eur 90.6 million (previous year: eur 167.8 million) 
mainly consist of cash at bank and cash on hand. cash 
at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily 
bank deposit rates. short-term deposits are made for 
varying periods of between one day and three months, 
depending on the immediate cash requirements of 
the Group, and earn interest at the respective short-
term deposit rate. as at the reporting date, the 
deutsche wohnen Group had cash and cash equiva-
lents amounting to eur 16.1 million (previous year: 
eur 25.8 million) which were restricted in use. this 
 primarily relates to the purchase collection accounts 
for special repayments from disposals, the cash funds 
of dB 14 and rental deposits.
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of association, the management Board is authorised in 
certain cases to exclude the subscription rights of 
shareholders with the approval of the supervisory 
Board.

in a partial utilisation of the new authorised capital 2012/ii 
the company increased its registered capital in January 
2013 to eur 160,757,143 by issuing 14,614,285 new ordi-
nary bearer shares (non-par value shares) against cash 
contributions with the subscription right excluded. the 
capital increase was registered into the commercial 
 register on 17 January 2013. the authorised capital was 
reduced accordingly to around eur 58.5 million.

the registered capital can be contingently increased 
by up to eur 25.58 million through the issue of up to 
eur 25.58 million new ordinary bearer shares with divi-
dend rights from the start of the financial year of their 
issuance (contingent capital 2012).

the contingent capital increase serves to grant shares 
to the owners or creditors of options or convertible 
bonds as well as profit participation rights with option or 
conversion rights which, in accordance with the author-
isation of the annual General meeting of 6 June 2012, 
are issued up to 5 June 2017 by the company, or by 
dependent companies or enterprises in which the com-
pany has a majority shareholding. it shall only be exer-
cised insofar as option or conversion rights related to 
the aforementioned options or convertible bonds or 
profit participation rights are exercised, or if the conver-
sion obligations arising from such bonds are fulfilled, 
and provided own shares are not used to service the 
obligations.

the company shares are either registered or bearer 
shares. if the shares are issued as registered shares, 
the registered shareholders are entitled to request — in 
writing or in text form (section 126b of the German civil 
code [BGB]) — from the management Board that the 
registered shares for which they are listed in the com-
pany’s share register be converted into bearer shares. a 
conversion of the shares requires the consent of the 
management Board.

b) capital reserve
eur 42.6 million (previous year: eur 34.8 million) was 
taken from the capital reserve in 2012.

8 equity

please refer to the consolidated statement of changes in 
equity for the development of equity.

a) issued share capital
the registered share capital of deutsche wohnen aG as 
at 31 december 2012 amounted to eur 146,142,858 
(31 december 2011: eur 102,300,000), divided in 
146,142,858 no-par value shares (31 december 2011: 
102,300,000 no-par value shares) with a notional share 
in the registered share capital of eur 1.00 per share. 
the increase is attributable to the capital increase in 
2012. as at 31 december 2012 approximately 99.93 % 
(previous year: 99.90 %) of the company’s shares were 
bearer shares (146,046,338 shares), the remaining 
approximately 0.07 % (previous year: 0.10 %) were regis-
tered shares (96,520 shares). all shares carry the same 
rights and obligations. each share entitles the holder to 
one vote at the annual General meeting and determines 
the basis for the division of company profit amongst 
shareholders. the rights and obligations of sharehold-
ers are outlined in detail in the provisions of the German 
stock corporation act (aktG), in particular sections 12, 
53a ff., 118 ff. and 186 aktG. there are no shares with 
special rights that grant powers of control.

the management Board of deutsche wohnen aG is not 
aware of any restrictions with regard to voting rights or 
transfer of shares.

in the event of capital increases the new shares are 
issued as bearer shares.

By resolution of the general shareholders’ meeting 
dated 4 december 2012, which was entered into the 
commercial register on 10 January 2013, the manage-
ment Board has been authorised to increase the com-
pany’s registered capital, with the consent of the super-
visory Board, by up to around eur 73.1 million once or 
several times in the period until 3 december 2017 by the 
issuance of up to around 73.1 million new ordinary 
bearer shares against cash contributions and/or contri-
butions in kind (authorised capital 2012/ii); the original 
approved authorised capital in the amount of rounded 
eur 7.3 million was cancelled at the same time. the 
shareholders must in principle be granted subscription 
rights within the scope of the authorised capital. how-
ever, according to the detailed provisions of the articles 
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in 2012, the capital reserve increased by eur 417.3 mil-
lion due to premium payments related to the capital 
increase. the costs incurred due to the capital increase 
in the amount of eur 17.2 million and the income tax 
effects related to these costs (eur 5.6 million) were off-
set against the premium payments.

c) retained earnings
retained earnings comprise the revenue reserve of 
deutsche wohnen and the accumulated profit/loss 
 carried forward. 

the statutory reserve is mandatory for German publicly 
listed corporations. according to section 150 (2) of the 
German stock corporation act (aktG), an amount equiv-
alent to 5 % of the profit for the financial year is to be 

retained. the statutory reserve has a cap of 10 % of the 
registered share capital. in accordance with section 272 
(2) nos. 1-3 of the German commercial code (hGB), any 
existing capital reserve is to be taken into account and 
the provisions required for the statutory reserve are 
reduced accordingly. this is measured on the basis of 
the issued share capital which exists and is legally 
effective at the reporting date and which is to be 
reported in this amount in the respective annual balance 
sheet. the statutory reserve remains unchanged at 
eur 1.0 million. 

d) non-controlling interests
the non-controlling interests (minority interests) mainly 
exist in the GehaG Group. 

9 financial liabilities

the company has taken on bank loans particularly to 
finance property and company transactions and property 
acquisitions.

the borrowings are hedged at around 86 % (previous 
year: around 78 %) at a fixed rate and/or through interest 
rate swaps. the average rate of interest was around 
3.7 % (previous year: around 4.1 %). 

the loan renewal structure based on current outstand-
ing liability is as follows:

in eur m

carrying 
amount 

31/12/2012

nominal 
value 

31/12/2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

Greater 
than/
equal 
2018

loan renewal structure 2012 2,768.6 2,872.8 66.1 59.9 282.3 266.6 486.6 1,711.3

loan renewal structure 2011 1,834.7 1,938.6 45.2 23.6 37.5 235.4 246.2 1,350.6

the liabilities are fully secured by property as collateral. 
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10 employee benefit liability

the company’s pension scheme consists of defined ben-
efit and defined contribution plans. 

employee benefit liabilities are determined using the 
projected unit credit method in accordance with ias 19. 
future obligations are measured using actuarial methods 
that conservatively estimate the relevant parameters.

the level of pension obligations (defined benefit obliga-
tion of the pension commitments) was calculated in 
accordance with actuarial methods on the basis of an 
external expert report and the following factors:

in % 31/12/2012 31/12/2011

discount rate 3.50 4.66

future salary increases 2.50 2.50

future pension increases 1.75 1.75

increase in the contribution 
assessment ceiling 2.25 2.25

mortality tables r 05G r 05G

the future salary increases include expected future sal-
ary increases that depend, among other things, on the 
inflation rate and the length of service in the company.

the pension commitments taken over in the scope of 
the BauBecon acquisition are financed through ufba – 
unterstützungskasse zur förderung der betrieblichen 
altersversorgung e. V. (assistance fund for the promo-
tion of company pension plans inc. soc.) – and the plan 
assets. the valuation applied an expected interest 
charge in the amount of 3.5 %.

the following summary shows the financing status of 
the Group’s pension plans, which is at the same time 
equivalent of the balance sheet posting:

in eur m 31/12/2012 31/12/2011

present value of 
employee benefit liability 62.5 42.7

lesser by attributable 
fair value of the plan assets – 8.0 0.0

 54.5 42.7

the following table shows the development of the pre-
sent value of performance-oriented commitments and 
the attributed fair value of the plan assets:

in eur m 31/12/2012 31/12/2011

opening balance 
employee benefit liability 42.7 44.7

pension payments – 3.1 – 2.8

acquisitions 13.4 – 

interest cost 2.2 2.0

service cost 0.3 0.2

adjustments to 
the pension fund 0.1 0.1

actuarial gains/losses 7.0 – 1.5

closing balance 
employee benefit liability 62.5 42.7

of which pension plans 
with financing from 
plan assets 9.1 – 

of which pension plans 
without financing from 
plan assets 53.4 42.7

opening balance plan assets 0.0  

acquisitions 8.9  

expected earnings from 
plan assets 0.1  

contributions to plan assets 0.2  

pension payments from 
plan assets – 0.3  

actuarial losses – 0.9  

closing balance plan assets 8.0  

the pension expenses are made up as follows: 

in eur m 31/12/2012 31/12/2011

interest cost – 2.2 – 2.0

service cost – 0.3 – 0.2

adjustments to 
the pension fund – 0.1 – 0.1

expected earnings 
from plan assets 0.1 – 

 – 2.5 – 2.3
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pension commitments include old-age, disability, sur-
viving spouse and surviving dependant pensions. they 
are based on the last fixed annual gross salary. different 
benefit plans apply depending on the employee’s posi-
tion in the company. 

the pro rata interest costs are recognised as “interest 
expenses” in the profit and loss statement, whilst cur-
rent pension payments, service cost and adjustments to 
current pensions are recognised as “staff expenses”. 

the amounts for the current and previous five reporting 
periods are as follows:

in eur m 31/12/2012 31/12/2011 31/12/2010 31/12/2009 31/12/2008

defined benefit obligation 54.5 42.7 44.7 41.5 39.3

experience-based adjustments 0.3 – 0.9 0.2 0.2 – 0.9

costs totalling eur 3.7 million (previous year: eur 3.5 
million) were incurred for defined contribution pensions. 
therefore, total expenses for retirement provisions 
(defined benefit and defined contribution) amounted 
to eur 4.1 million (previous year: eur 3.8 million). 
for 2013, based on the current number of employees, 
the cost will total eur 5.2 million. 

11  liabilities to limited partners in funds

on the basis of individual agreements, rhein-pfalz woh-
nen Gmbh has granted the limited partners of dB 14 a 
put option relating to their limited partnership interests 
from 2005 to 2019. under these agreements, the Group 
is obliged to acquire the interests initially (in 2005) at 
105 % of the paid-in capital upon request. from 2005, 
the agreed purchase price for the interest increases by 
five percentage points per annum. outstanding dividend 
payments are taken into account for limited partnership 
interests that are offered to us.

liabilities developed as follows during the financial year:

in eur m 31/12/2012 31/12/2011

opening balance liabilities 7.3 22.5

payment for tender – 1.4 – 15.8

reversal – 1.0 0.0

accrued interest 0.2 0.6

closing balance liabilities 5.1 7.3

the disclosure of liabilities to limited partners in funds 
as at 31 december 2012 is fully (previous year: 
eur 7.3 million) recognised as current, since payments 
for the remaining tenders are expected in 2013. 
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12 other provisions

the other provisions are made up as follows:

in eur m
revita-
lisation other total

opening balance at 
start of period 7.9 3.6 11.6

utilisation – 1.6 – 1.4 – 3.0

reversal 0.0 – 0.3 – 0.3

additions 0.4 5.6 6.0

closing balance 
at end of period 6.7 7.6 14.3

thereof non-current 6.7 0.4 7.1

thereof current 0.0 7.2 7.2

the provision for revitalisation (eur 6.7 million, previous 
year: eur 7.9 million) relates to the privatisation agree-
ment between the federal state of Berlin and GehaG. 
according to this agreement, GehaG is committed to 
invest an original total of eur 25,565 k in the improve-
ment of housing conditions. there are no regulations in 
the agreement regarding the time period. as in the pre-
vious year, the calculation assumes a period until 2015 
and an interest rate of around 4 %. the additions are 
related to the interest accrued for the provision. 

the contributions to other provisions include amounts 
(eur 4.2 million), which are related to acquisitions.

13 tax liabilities

current and non-current tax liabilities (eur 63.6 million, 
previous year: eur 58.6 million) essentially include the 
present value from the payment of the ek-02-holdings 
(eur 46.6 million, previous year: eur 50.5 million) in 
the deutsche wohnen Group. in accordance with the 
German annual taxation act 2008 (JstG), the previous 
regulation regarding the treatment of ek-02-holdings 
was abolished and replaced by a flat-rate payment that 
is mandatory. in accordance with this, the closing 
 balance of ek-02-holdings as at 31 december 2006 is 
taxed at a flat rate of 3 %, regardless of their utilisation. 
it is not applicable to the remaining holdings and trig-
gers no further increases in German corporation income 
tax. the resulting tax amount is to be paid either within 
a period of ten years from 2008 to 2017 in ten equal 
annual instalments or at the present value in a lump-
sum payment. the entire ek-02-capital reserves of 
deutsche wohnen Group amount to eur 3.5 billion 
 (previous year: eur 3.2 billion). it was assumed in the 
valuation that the payment is made in ten annual instal-
ments (eur 10.4 million, previous year: eur 9.6 million) 
and not as one-time, present value payment. the ek02 
liability has increased due to the takeover of BauBecon 
Group before considering the amortisation of the period 
under review.
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14 deferred taxes

deferred taxes are made up as follows:

in eur m 31/12/2012 change 31/12/2011

deferred tax assets    

properties 4.9 – 0.8 5.7

pensions 6.0 2.8 3.2

prepayment penalties 0.5 0.0 0.5

loss carry-forwards 19.1 – 2.0 21.1

provisions 2.8 0.0 2.8

swap 47.4 17.9 29.6

80.7 17.7 63.0
deferred tax liabilities    

loans 21.6 1.8 23.4

properties 118.6 – 48.9 69.7

special items 3.1 0.0 3.1

143.3 – 47.1 96.2

deferred taxes (net) – 62.6 – 29.4 – 33.2

thereof    

recognised directly in equity 20.2  10.0

recognised in profit/loss – 49.6  – 29.8

 – 29.4  – 19.8

the actuarial gains and losses from pensions and the 
changes in the current market value of the effective 
hedges are recognised directly in equity not affecting net 
income. the resulting deferred taxes are also recog-
nised directly in equity and amount to eur 2.4 million 
(previous year: eur -0.5 million) for actuarial profits and 
losses, and to eur 17.8 million (previous year: 
eur 10.5 million) for the changes in the current market 
value of the effective hedges. 

deutsche wohnen has corporation tax loss carry- 
forwards totalling eur 1.1 billion (previous year: 
eur 1.1 billion) and trade tax loss carry-forwards 
 totalling eur 0.9 billion (previous year: eur 0.9 billion). 
corporation tax loss carry-forwards that were not capi-
talised amount to approximately eur 1.1 billion, trade 
tax loss carry-forwards to approximately eur 0.9 billion. 
in general, carry-forwards do not expire. 

Consolidated Financial Statements
notes to the consolidated financial statements
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15 leases

the tenancy agreements which deutsche wohnen has 
concluded with its tenants are classified as operating 
leases in accordance with ifrs. accordingly, the Group 
acts as lessor in a diverse range of operating lease agree-
ments (tenancies) for investment properties from which it 
obtains the largest part of its income and revenues.

in 2013, deutsche wohnen will receive minimum lease 
payments totalling approximately eur 84 million (previ-
ous year: eur 51 million) from existing operating lease 
agreements with third parties from the current property 
portfolio (implied legal period of notice: three months). 
furthermore, deutsche wohnen will receive minimum 
lease payments totalling eur 52 million (previous year: 
eur 34 million) from the properties connected with 
nursing and assisted living in 2013, between one and 
five years totalling approximately eur 208 million (previ-
ous year: approximately eur 136 million), and more 
than five years totalling of approximately eur 260 mil-
lion (previous year: eur 170 million). this is based on an 
assumption of a remaining lease of five years after the 
fifth year. the tenancy agreements are for an indefinite 
period and end upon the death of the tenant or upon 
termination by the landlord in the event of a default of 
payments.

e  notes to the consolidated  
profit and loss statement

the consolidated profit and loss statement is prepared 
using the total cost method.

16  income from 
residential Property management

the income from residential property management is 
made up as follows:

in eur m 2012 2011

potential gross rental income 245.1 201.4

subsidies 2.7 2.7

 247.8 204.1
Vacancy loss – 7.8 – 7.8

 240.0 196.4

17  expenses from 
residential Property management

the expenses from residential property management is 
made up as follows:

in eur m 2012 2011

maintenance costs 34.7 29.6

non-recoverable expenses 4.1 5.8

rental loss 3.0 1.9

other expenses 3.8 1.7

 45.6 39.0

Deutsche Wohnen Financial Report of the annual report 2012



89

18  earnings from disposals

the earnings from disposals include sale proceeds, 
costs of sale and carrying amounts of assets sold and 
certain land and buildings held for sale.

19  earnings from nursing and assisted living

the earnings from nursing and assisted living are 
made up as follows:

in eur m 2012 2011

income for nursing and 
assisted living 42.0 40.1

nursing and corporate costs – 11.3 – 11.5

staff expenses – 20.8 – 19.4

 9.9 9.2

20 corporate expenses

the corporate expenses are made up as follows:

in eur m 2012 2011

staff expenses 23.6 20.3

General and 
administration expenses   

it costs 3.1 3.2

Building costs 1.7 1.9

legal, consultancy and 
audit costs 2.6 2.7

communication costs 1.1 1.1

printing and 
 telecommunication costs 1.2 1.2

travel expenses 0.7 0.6

insurance 0.3 0.3

other expenses 2.0 1.6

 12.7 12.6

Property management 
 (external management 
BauBecon) 4.1 0.0

 40.4 32.9

deutsche wohnen Group employed on average 1,268 
employees in the financial year (previous year: 1,201 
employees):

employees 2012 2011

residential 
(including holding company) 339 325

nursing and assisted living 929 876

 1,268 1,201

21 finance expenses

finance expenses are made up as follows:

in eur m 2012 2011

current interest expenses 89.6 81.6

accrued interest on 
liabilities and pensions 11.4 12.1

financing costs for BauBecon 7.8 0.0

 108.8 93.7

Consolidated Financial Statements
notes to the consolidated financial statements
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22 income taxes

companies resident in Germany that have the legal form 
of a corporation are subject to German corporation tax 
in the amount of 15 % (previous year: 15 %) and a soli-
darity surcharge in the amount of 5.5 % of the corpora-
tion tax levied. these entities are also subject to trade 
tax, the amount of which depends on the tax rates set by 
local authorities. companies in the legal form of a part-
nership are only subject to trade tax. the profit less 
trade tax is assigned to the partners for corporation tax 
purposes. limited use of corporation and trade tax loss 
carry-forwards is to be taken into account from the 
assessment period 2004 onwards. as a result, a positive 
tax assessment basis up to eur 1.0 million may be 
reduced by an existing loss carry-forward without limi-
tation; amounts over eur 1 million may only be reduced 
by up to 60  %.

the 2008 corporate tax reform act (ustrG) was passed 
by resolution of the Bundesrat (federal council of 
 Germany) on 6 July 2007. the law is primarily intended 
to reduce tax rates and, for reciprocal financing 
 purposes, broaden the assessment basis; the deduc-
tibility of interest expenses is limited to 30 % of the 
 taxable eBitda; in future, trade tax will no longer be a 
tax-deductible expense. the anticipated nominal income 
tax rate for 2012 for the Group’s parent company 
deutsche wohnen aG is 31.93 %. 

income tax expense/benefit is made up as follows:

in eur m 2012 2011

current tax expense   

current income tax charge – 4.9 – 3.0

tax benefit from capital 
increase costs – 5.6 – 2.4

– 10.5 – 5.4

deferred tax expense   
properties – 49.8 – 30.6

loss carry-forwards – 2.0 0.2

loans 1.8 2.0

other provisions 0.0 – 0.2

interest rate swaps 0.1 0.1

pensions 0.3 0.1

other 0.0 – 1.5

 – 49.6 – 29.8

 – 60.1 – 35.2

the reconciliation of tax expense/benefit is provided in 
the following overview: 

in eur m 2012 2011

consolidated accounting 
profit before taxes 205.6 85.8

 applicable tax rate 31.93 % 31.93 %

resulting tax expense/benefit – 65.6 – 27.4

permanent effect of 
expenses not deductible 
for tax purposes and 
trade tax corrections 1.4 – 3.2

changes of unrecognised 
deferred taxes and losses 
carry-forwards 3.9 – 4.6

income tax expenses 
from other periods – 0.2 – 0.6

other effects 0.4 0.6

 – 60.1 – 35.2

for the financial year 2012, current income tax expense 
take into account expenses relating to other periods 
totalling eur 0.2 million (previous year: eur 0.6 million), 
included in other effects in the table above.
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f segment reporting

deutsche wohnen reports by business segments on the 
basis of the information provided to the decision makers 
of the deutsche wohnen Group. segment information is 
not reported by geographical region as the property and 
therefore all operational activities are in Germany. 

deutsche wohnen focuses on the following three main 
segments in the context of its business activities:

residential Property management
deutsche wohnen’s core business activity is the man-
agement of residential properties in the context of an 
active asset management. asset management includes 
the modernisation and maintenance of the property 
portfolio of deutsche wohnen, the management of ten-
ancy agreements, support for tenants and the market-
ing of apartments. the focus of property management is 
on the optimisation of rental income. therefore, rental 
increase potential is examined continuously in the 
course of ongoing maintenance, tenant turnover is used 
as an opportunity to create value, and services are pur-
chased based on best-available prices for real savings 
and passed on to the tenant.

disposals
the disposals segment is another pillar of the 
deutsche wohnen Group’s operating activities. privati-
sation can either take place as individual privatisation, 
i. e. by selling an individual residential unit (e. g. to a 
 tenant), or it takes place as block sales. 

the disposals segment includes all aspects of the prep-
aration and execution of the sale of apartments from 
our property portfolio as part of the ongoing portfolio 
optimisation and streamlining process. 

in addition, the privatisation of residential property can 
take place in connection with the future acquisition of 
portfolios for the purpose of portfolio streamlining as 
well as for financing purposes. 

certain residential units, particularly in rhineland-
palatinate, and individual properties of GehaG Group as 
well as BauBecon Group are subject to privatisation 
restrictions due to the acquisition agreements. due to 
these obligations, the Group is partly bound by certain 
specifications (e. g. sale to tenants, general social condi-
tions, etc.) when making privatisation decisions. these 
restrictions to some extent also forbid the disposal of 
the properties in question for a specified period of time. 

nursing and assisted living
the nursing and assisted living segment is operated by 
katharinenhof® seniorenwohn- und pflegeanlage 
Betriebs-Gmbh (katharinenhof®) and its subsidiar-
ies, and comprises the marketing and management of 
nursing and residential care homes as well as services 
for the care of the senior citizens who live in these homes. 

inter-company transactions primarily concern agency 
agreements which are carried out according to usual 
market conditions.

the segment reporting is attached to the notes to the 
consolidated financial statements as appendix 2. 

the reconciliation of the segment assets to the consoli-
dated balance sheet is illustrated in the following table:

in eur m 31/12/2012 31/12/2011

segment assets 4,825.8 3,238.5

deferred taxes 80.7 63.0

income tax receivables 1.3 0.8

 4,907.8 3,302.3

Consolidated Financial Statements
notes to the consolidated financial statements
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G notes to the consolidated 
 statement of cash flows

the consolidated statement of cash flows shows how 
the Group’s cash position has changed during the finan-
cial year due to the inflow and outflow of funds. in 
accordance with ias 7 (“cash flow statements”), a dis-
tinction is made between cash flows from operating and 
from investing and financing activities. other non-cash 
income and expenses mainly include capital gains from 
disposals (2012: eur 31.6 million; previous year: 
eur 18.9 million). in total deutsche wohnen received 
eur 163.5 million (previous year: eur 149.4 million) 
from property disposal. payments for investments 
include payments for modernisation and acquisition of 
investment land and buildings held for sale. 

in total, eur 16.1 million (previous year: eur 25.8 mil-
lion) were restricted in use to the Group as at the report-
ing date. this relates to the cash and cash funds of 
dB 14 and rental deposits administered in a fiduciary 
capacity, as well as liquidity to purchase collection 
accounts, which may be used only for special repay-
ments on loans. a maturity of up to three months 
results from the contractual conditions of these cash 
and cash equivalents. 

the Group has funds amounting to eur 106 million 
(previous year: eur 106 million) at its disposal from 
existing financing commitments that have not been uti-
lised as at the reporting date. due to the corporate 
measure implemented in January 2013, liquid funds 
could be contributed to the Group in the amount of 
around eur 194 million. 

cash flows from investing and financing activities are 
determined when payments are made. the cash flows 
from operating activities in contrast are indirectly 
derived from the Group’s profit/loss. 

h earnings per share

in order to calculate the basic earnings per share, the 
consolidated earnings are divided by the weighted num-
ber of shares outstanding in the financial year.

the diluted and undiluted earnings amount to 
eur 145.5 million (previous year: 50.6 million).

the average number of issued shares (diluted and undi-
luted) amount to:

in shares k 2012 2011

shares issued 
at start of period 102,300 81,840

addition of issued shares in 
the relevant financial year 43,843 20,460

shares issued at end of period 146,143 102,300

average of shares issued 126,148 88,742

in partial utilisation of its authorised share capital in the 
amount of 10 %, deutsche wohnen aG increased its 
 registered share capital on 16 January 2013 from 
eur 146.1 million to eur 160.8 million by issuance of 
14,614,285 new ordinary bearer shares (no-par shares). 

the earnings per share for continuing operations 
amount to:

in eur 2012 2011

earnings per share   

Basic 1.15 0.57

diluted 1.15 0.57

in the financial year 2012, a dividend was distributed for 
the financial year 2011 amounting to eur 23.5 million 
or eur 0.23 per share. for 2012 there are plans for 
a dividend amounting to eur 33.8 million or eur 0.21 
per share. 

Deutsche Wohnen Financial Report of the annual report 2012



93

i other disclosures

risk management

General information on risk management
the risk management system (rms) is an instrument 
for achieving the main aim of the company to sustaina-
bly guarantee the profitability of deutsche wohnen, 
which mainly concentrates on the management and 
development of its own property portfolio. it provides the 
foundation for active risk control and serves as a basis 
for information for the management Board and the 
supervisory Board regarding the current risk situation 
of the company.

risk management is an ongoing process which is 
divided into the following phases:

• establishing standards
• risk identification and analysis
• risk management 
• reporting
• risk controlling

risks are monitored in a professional and timely man-
ner in accordance with the risk management guidelines 
established by management. the risk management 
guidelines establish the roles and responsibilities, set 
the basic principles of the rms and define the framework 
for the evaluation and management of risks. risk is pro-
actively managed by using risk early warning systems.

the measures relating to financial risk management are 
described below:

with the exception of derivatives, the main financial 
instruments used by the Group are bank loans and cash 
and cash equivalents. the primary purpose of these 
financial instruments is to finance the Group’s business 
activities. the Group has various other financial assets 
and liabilities, such as trade receivables and trade paya-
bles, which result directly from its business activities. 

the Group also carries out derivative transactions in the 
form of interest rate swaps. the purpose of these deriv-
ative financial instruments is to manage interest rate 
risks that result from the Group’s business activities and 
its sources of finance. there has been no trading of 
interest rate swaps, nor will there be any future trading 
in this area.

Consolidated Financial Statements
notes to the consolidated financial statements
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the following table illustrates the classification of 
the financial instruments into appropriate classes in 
:

in eur m

valuation 
 category in 
accordance 
with ias 39 

carrying 
amount 

  
31/12/2012

Balance sheet measurement 
in accordance with ias 39

fair value 
 

31/12/2012
amortised 

costs

fair value 
 recognised in 

profit/loss

assets      

trade receivables (1) 20.8 20.8  20.8

other assets (1) 9.1 9.1  9.1

cash and cash equivalents (1) 90.6 90.6  90.6

equity and liabilities      

financial liabilities (2) 2,768.6 2,768.6  2,768.6

liabilities to limited partners in funds (3) 5.1  5.1 5.1

trade payables (2) 72.0 72.0  72.0

other liabilities (2) 24.1 24.1  24.1

derivative financial instruments (4) 152.5  152.5 152.5

(1) loans and receivables  120.5    

(2) liabilities carried at amortised cost  2,864.7    

(3)  liabilities carried at fair value 
and recognised in profit/loss

  
5.1

      

(4) liabilities carried at fair value  152.5    

assets  31/12/2011   31/12/2011

trade receivables (1) 14.0 14.0  14.0

other assets (1) 2.3 2.3  2.3

cash and cash equivalents (1) 167.8 167.8  167.8

equity and liabilities      

financial liabilities (2) 1,834.7 1,834.7  1,834.7

liabilities to limited partners in funds (3) 7.3  7.3 7.3

trade payables (2) 35.6 35.6  35.6

other liabilities (2) 37.3 37.3  37.3

derivative financial instruments (4) 95.0  95.0 95.0

(1) loans and receivables  184.1    

(2) liabilities carried at amortised costs  1,907.6    

(3)  liabilities assessed at fair value and 
recognised in profit/loss  7.3    

(4) liabilities carried at fair value  95.0    

accordance with ifrs 7.6 together with their allocation to 
valuation categories in accordance with ias 39:
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the fair values of liabilities to limited partners in funds 
and of derivative financial instrume nts were derived on 
the basis of generally accepted valuation methodologies 
that use observable market parameters.

in eur m

carrying 
amount

31/12/2012 2013 2014 2015 > 2016

financial liabilities 2,768.6 134.4 102.5 311.2 2,324.7

liabilities to limited partners 
in funds1) 5.1 5.1    

liabilities from taxes 63.6 27.3 10.4 10.4 20.8

trade payables 72.0 72.0    

other liabilities 24.1 24.1    

 31/12/2011 2012 2013 2014 > 2015

financial liabilities 1,834.7 106.4 100.5 59.5 1,672.2

liabilities to limited 
partners in funds1) 7.3 7.3    

liabilities from taxes 58.6 17.7 9.6 9.6 28.8

trade payables 35.6 35.6    

other liabilities 37.3 37.3    

1)  the actual payments depend on the extent to which the limited partners exercise their options to tender their shares, 
making payment estimates uncertain.

the profits and losses from financial assets and liabili-
ties are as follows:

in eur m interest impairment fair value net loss

2012     

loans and receivables  2.3  2.3

liabilities carried at amortised cost 94.6   94.6

liabilities carried at fair value and 
recognised in profit/loss 0.2   0.2

derivative financial instruments   0.2 0.2

 94.8 2.3 0.2 97.3

2011
loans and receivables  0.2  0.2

liabilities carried at amortised cost 88.2   88.2

liabilities carried at fair value and 
recognised in profit/loss 0.5   0.5

derivative financial instruments   0.2 0.2

 88.8 0.2 0.2 89.2

the following table shows the contractual, undiscounted 
payments:

Consolidated Financial Statements
notes to the consolidated financial statements
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the significant risks to the Group arising from financial 
instruments comprise interest-related cash flow risks, 
liquidity risks, default risks and market price risks. 
company management prepares and reviews risk man-
agement guidelines for each of these risks, as outlined 
below:

default risk
default risks, or the risk that a partner will not be able 
to meet its obligations, are managed by using exposure 
limits and control processes. if appropriate, the com-
pany is provided with collateral. deutsche wohnen does 
not face any considerable default risk, either from part-
ners or from groups of partners with similar character-
istics. the maximum default risk is the carrying amount 
of the financial assets as reported in the balance sheet.

liquidity risk
the Group reviews the risk of liquidity shortfalls daily by 
using a liquidity planning tool. this tool takes into account 
the inflows and outflows of cash from the operating 
activities and payments relating to financial liabilities.

deutsche wohnen seeks to ensure that sufficient liquid-
ity is available to meet future obligations at all times. 
deutsche wohnen currently has a debt capital ratio of 
approximately 67 % (previous year: 67 %), and a loan-to-
Value ratio of 57.2 % (previous year: 55.0 %).

interest-related cash flow risks
the interest rate risk to which the Group is exposed is 
mainly derived from non-current financial liabilities with 
floating interest rates.

the Group’s interest expenses are managed by a combi-
nation of fixed-interest and floating-rate debt capital. to 
make this combination of fixed-interest and floating-
rate debt capital cost-efficient, the Group concludes 
interest rate swaps at specified intervals by which it 
exchanges the difference between the fixed-interest and 
floating-rate amounts as determined on the basis of an 
agreed nominal value with the contractual partner. 
these interest rate swaps hedge the underlying debt 
capital. accordingly, interest rate risk only exists for 
floating-rate financial liabilities that are not hedged by 
interest rate swaps. applied to these financial liabilities, 
an increase/reduction of 1 % in the interest rate at the 
reporting date would have led to an increase/reduction 
in the interest expenses of eur 3.9 million (previous 
year: eur 4.2 million). applied to the Group equity, an 
interest adjustment in the same amount has led to an 
increase/reduction by around eur 83 million (previous 
year: eur 49 million).

market risks
the financial instruments of deutsche wohnen that are 
not reported at fair value are primarily cash and cash 
equivalents, trade receivables, other current assets, 
financial liabilities, trade payables and other liabilities. 

the carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents is 
very close to their fair value due to the short-term 
nature of these financial instruments. for receivables 
and liabilities which are based on usual trade credit 
conditions, the carrying amount based on the historical 
cost is also very close to the fair value.

fair value risks can primarily result from fixed-interest 
loans. a significant share of deutsche wohnen’s liabili-
ties due to banks is fixed-interest liabilities and interest 
hedged, so that the impact of fluctuations in interest 
rates can be estimated for the medium term. 
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capital management

the primary aim of the Group’s capital management is 
to ensure that it maintains a high credit rating and a 
good equity ratio to support its business activities and to 
maximise shareholder value.

management of the capital structure takes into account 
liabilities to banks and other creditors, and cash and 
cash equivalents. 

the key figures for capital management are:

• the equity/debt capital ratio and the leverage ratio

the Group aims to achieve an equity ratio of 30 %. future 
investments will therefore be based on balanced finan-
cing, amongst other things. the equity ratio amounts to 
33 % (previous year: 33 %) as at the reporting date.

• loan-to-Value ratio

the ratio of financial liabilities compared to the value of 
investment properties is defined as the loan-to-Value 
ratio. 

in eur m 31/12/2012 31/12/2011

financial liabilities 2,768.6 1,834.7

cash and cash equivalents – 90.6 – 167.8

net financial liabilities 2,678.0 1,666.9

investment properties 4,614.6 2,928.8

non-current assets 
held for sale 24.4 37.4

land and buildings 
held for sale 39.1 63.5

 4,678.1 3,029.7

 loan-to-value ratio in % 57.2 55.0

hedging

as at 31 december 2012 and 31 december 2011, there 
were various interest hedges (payer swaps), through 
which variable interest rate conditions can be exchanged 
for fixed interest rate conditions. the  non-effective part 
whose value change is shown in the consolidated profit 
and loss statement amounts to eur 0.2 million (previ-
ous year: eur 0.2 million).

events after the reporting date

on 15 January 2013, deutsche wohnen placed 14,614,285 
new ordinary bearer shares with institutional investors 
nationally and internationally by way of an accelerated 
book building. the new shares are fully entitled to 
 dividends for the financial year 2012. the subscription 
rights of the shareholders were excluded in this  
process. the shares were issued in  partial utilisation of 
the authorised capital approved by the extra ordinary 
general meeting in december. the placement price was 
eur 13.35 per share. we thereby achieved gross proceeds 
in the amount of eur 195.1 million. 

furthermore, on 1 January 2013 the transfer of risks 
and rewards regarding a portfolio of 5,100 residential 
units in Brunswick, dresden, leipzig and erfurt, which 
had been acquired by deutsche wohnen, took place. the 
gross acquisition price amounted to around eur 770 per 
sqm, with an ffo yield before taxes of around 9 %.

in addition, on 1 february 2013 the transfer of risks and 
rewards for an additional portfolio, which consists of 
5,200 residential units in Berlin, took place. the gross 
acquisition price amounted to around eur 710 per sqm 
with an ffo yield before taxes of around 9 %.
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in addition, katharinenhof® took over four nursing 
homes with 425 places from lebenswerk Gmbh in 
 Berlin. the risks and rewards were transferred as at 
15 January 2013. the takeover involves a company 
acquisition in the definition of ifrs 3. the purchase 
price for the nursing facilities taken over amounted 
rounded eur 43 million. it has not been possible yet to 
split the purchase price over the assets and debts taken 
over due to the proximity of the transaction to the key 
date of the preparation of the consolidated financial 
statements. Based on the information that is available to 
deutsche wohnen Group it is assumed that the differ-
ence amount between the purchase price and the equity 
of the purchased com panies are primarily allocated to 
the fair value of purchased real estate as well as to 
assets related to the operative business. it is further-
more assumed that the predominant part of the silent 
reserves will not be depreciated as planned.

we are not aware of any other significant events after 
the reporting date.

commitments and contingencies

hereditary building rights contracts result in annual 
financial commitments of eur 1.7 million (previous 
year: eur 1.2 million).

other financial commitments relating to agency agree-
ments concerning it services amount to eur 9.9 million 
(previous year: eur 9.2 million).

other service contracts result in annual financial commit-
ments of eur 3.4 million (previous year: eur 2.9 million).

one Group company (rhein-pfalz wohnen Gmbh) has 
been certified as a development and redevelopment 
agency (sections 158 and 167 of the German federal 
Building code (BauGB)). rhein-pfalz wohnen Gmbh 
performs the duties bestowed to it by local authorities 
as their trustee. 

as at 31 december 20112, the company had cash at 
banks amount to eur 3.2 million (previous year: 
eur 3.3 million) at its disposal in a fiduciary capacity in 
relation to property renovation and development meas-
ures. the fiduciary tasks of rhein-pfalz wohnen Gmbh 
were transferred to the development company rhein-
pfalz Gmbh & co. kG as at 30 June 2001 under the terms 
of the agency agreement entered into with this company. 

in the financial year 2012 contracts of sale for the acqui-
sition of property and property holding companies were 
recognised. the transfer of the transaction item has not 
taken place until the valuation date. there are payment 
obligations from this contract amounting to approxi-
mately eur 255.7 million.

lease commitments

payments for leasing agreements of up to one year 
amount to eur 2.6 million (previous year: eur 2.3 mil-
lion), for one to five years eur 6.8 million (previous year: 
eur 5.9 million), and for more than five years 
eur 4.5 million (previous year: eur 1.3 million). 

auditors’ services

the auditor of deutsche wohnen aG and the Group is 
ernst & young Gmbh wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft. 
the following expenses were incurred in the year under 
review:

in eur k 2012 2011

audit 525 375

other certification and 
 valuation services 930 448

reimbursement of 
insurance premiums 602 602

tax advice 284 172

other services 0 176

 2,341 1,773

the expenses for other certification and valuation ser-
vices essentially relate to services rendered in the con-
text of the capital increase in 2012. 
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related party disclosures

companies and persons who have the possibility of con-
trolling or exercising a significant influence on the finan-
cial and business policies of the deutsche wohnen 
Group are considered to be related parties. existing con-
trol relationships were taken into account when defining 
the significant influence that the deutsche wohnen 
Group’s related parties have on its financial and busi-
ness policies. 

related companies
the affiliated companies, jointly controlled entities and 
affiliated companies included in the consolidated finan-
cial statements are to be considered related companies. 

service- and cash management agreements exist within 
the Group. services between the companies are elimi-
nated on consolidation.

related parties
the following persons are to be considered related 
 parties:

name
memberships in supervisory boards and other executive bodies within the meaning 
of section 125 (1) sentence 5 of the German stock corporation act (aktG)

michael zahn, economist, 
chief executive officer 
 

eisenbahn-siedlungs-Gesellschaft Berlin mbh, Berlin (chairman of the supervisory Board) 
GehaG Gmbh, Berlin (chairman of the supervisory Board) 
katharinenhof® seniorenwohn- und pflegeanlage Betriebs-Gmbh, Berlin 
(chairman of the supervisory Board)

lars wittan, degree in business 
administration (dipl.-Betriebswirt) 
chief financial officer

katharinenhof® seniorenwohn- und pflegeanlage Betriebs-Gmbh, Berlin 
(deputy chairman of the supervisory Board) 

helmut ullrich, assessor, 
member of the management Board 
until 31/12/2012

eisenbahn-siedlungs-Gesellschaft Berlin mbh, Berlin 
(member of the supervisory Board until 31/12/2012) 
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members of the supervisory Board
of deutsche Wohnen aG

the supervisory Board is made up as follows:

name occupation

memberships in supervisory boards and 
other executive bodies within the meaning of 
 section 125 para 1 sentence 5 of the 
German stock corporation act (aktG)

uwe e. flach, 
chairman  
 
 
 
 

senior advisor 
oaktree Gmbh,  
frankfurt/main 
 
 
 

dz Bank, frankfurt/main 
(member of the advisory council) 
ocm German real estate holding aG, hamburg 
(chairman of the supervisory Board) 
nordenia international aG, Greven 
(deputy chairman of the supervisory Board 
until 30/09/2012)

dr andreas kretschmer, 
deputy chairman 
 
 
 

managing director of 
Ärzteversorgung westfalen-lippe 
 einrichtung der Ärztekammer 
 westfalen-lippe – kör -, münster 
 

Bioceuticals arzneimittel aG, Bad Vilbel  
(chairman of the supervisory Board) 
private life Biomed aG, hamburg  
(chairman of the supervisory Board) 
amprion Gmbh, dortmund 
(deputy chairman of the supervisory Board)

matthias hünlein 
 

managing director tishman speyer 
properties deutschland Gmbh, 
 frankfurt/main

a.a.a. aktiengesellschaft allgemeine 
 anlagenverwaltung, frankfurt/ main 
(member of the supervisory Board)

dr florian stetter real estate agent, erding calcon deutschland aG, munich 
(member of the supervisory Board)

dr michael leinwand  
 

chief investment officer 
zürich Beteiligungs-aG, 
frankfurt/main

Bizerba Gmbh & co. kG, Balingen 
(member of the supervisory Board) 

dr h.c. wolfgang clement 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

publicist and company consultant 
federal minister (retired) 
(Bundesminister a.d.) 
minister president (retired) 
(ministerpräsident a.d.) 
 
 
 
 
 
 

daldrup & söhne aG, Grünwald  
(chairman of the supervisory Board)  
dis aG, dusseldorf 
(member of the supervisory Board)  
peter dussmann-stiftung, Berlin  
(deputy chairman of the Board of trustees)  
dussmann stiftung & co. kGaa, Berlin  
(chairman of the supervisory Board)  
landau media monitoring aG & co. kG, Berlin  
(member of the supervisory Board)  
rwe power aG, essen  
(member of the supervisory Board)

transactions with related parties
the management Board member helmut ullrich pur-
chased three apartments from GehaG Gmbh for a price 
of eur 0.4 million in the 2012 financial year. this dis-
posal was approved by the supervisory Board. 

the management Board member lars wittan purchased 
four apartments from GehaG Gmbh for a price of 
eur 0.3 million in the financial year 2012. this disposal 
was approved by the supervisory Board.

Deutsche Wohnen Financial Report of the annual report 2012



101

corporate Governance

the management Board and the supervisory Board 
 submitted a declaration of conformity with the German 
corporate Governance code in accordance with section 
161 of the German stock corporation act (aktG) and has 
made it permanently available to the shareholders 
online at  www.deutsche-wohnen.com.

frankfurt/main, 25 february 2013

 michael zahn lars wittan
chief executive officer chief financial officer

remuneration of the management Board
and supervisory Board

the remuneration for the management Board is com-
posed as follows:

in eur k
fixed 

 remuneration

variable remuneration components

supplementary 
payments

short-term incentive
long-term 
incentive

short-term 
 due

long-term 
arranged Psu plan

2012    

michael zahn 350 300 100 150 27

helmut ullrich 275 240 60 125 19

lars wittan 200 150 50 100 25

2011      

michael zahn 350 300 100 150 27

helmut ullrich 275 160 40 125 19

lars wittan 50 38 13 25 6

there is no employee benefit liability for current or 
retired members of the management Board or super-
visory Board. 

the annual General meeting of 6 June 2012 decided on 
the remuneration of the supervisory Board for 2012. on 
the basis of this resolution, each member of the super-
visory Board receives a fixed remuneration of eur 30 k, 
the chairman of the supervisory Board receives double 
that amount, and the deputy chairman of the super-
visory Board receives one and a half times that amount. 
in addition, each supervisory Board member receives 
lump-sum remuneration in the amount of eur 5 k per 
financial year for their membership of the audit com-
mittee of the supervisory Board. furthermore, each 
member of the General and the acquisition committee 
receives a meeting fee in the amount of eur 1 k for 
each attendance at a committee meeting in person. 
expenses are reimbursed.

the total supervisory Board remuneration to be paid for 
the financial year 2012 amounts to eur 243 k net, of 
which eur 66 k net are allocated to mr flach, eur 51 k 
net to dr kretschmer, eur 35 k net to dr stetter, 
eur 31 k net to mr hünlein as well as eur 30 k net to 
dr h.c. clement and dr leinwand, respectively.
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shareholdings***  
as at 31 december 2012

appendix 1 to the notes to the consolidated financial statements

company and registered office

share of 
capital 

in %

equity 
 

eur k

Profit/
loss 

eur k

report-
ing 

date 

aGG auguste-Viktoria-allee Grundstücks Gmbh, Berlin 100.00 * – 43.9 0.0 2012

algarobo holding B.V., amsterdam, netherlands 100.00 * 8,828.6 – 2,314.2 2012

aufbau-Gesellschaft der GehaG mbh, Berlin 100.00 * 2,554.2 753.5 2012

aVus immobilien treuhand Gmbh & co. kG, Berlin 100.00 * 428.6 – 14.9 2011

BauBecon assets Gmbh, hanover 100.00 * 26,766.8 – 2,011.0 2012

BauBecon Bio Gmbh, hanover 100.00 * 8,626.5 26.0 2012

BauBecon immobilien Gmbh, hanover 100.00 * 321,482.6 – 85,048.7 2012

BauBecon wohnwert Gmbh, hanover 100.00 * 26,710.2 0.0 2012

dB immobilienfonds 14 rhein-pfalz wohnen Gmbh & co. kG, eschborn 93.95 * 29,086.6 – 90.2 2011

deutsche wohnen asset immobilien Gmbh, frankfurt/main 100.00 * 25.0 0.0 2012

deutsche wohnen Beteiligungen immobilien Gmbh, frankfurt/main 100.00 * 1,025.0 0.0 2012

deutsche wohnen Beteiligungsverwaltungs Gmbh & co. kG, Berlin 100.00 * 20.0 13.1 2012

deutsche wohnen corporate real estate Gmbh, Berlin 100.00 **** 25.0 0.0 2012

deutsche wohnen direkt immobilien Gmbh, frankfurt/main 100.00 * 425,298.4 27,594.1 2012

deutsche wohnen fondsbeteiligungs Gmbh, Berlin 100.00 **** 25.0 0.0 2012

deutsche wohnen management Gmbh, Berlin 100.00 **** 25.0 0.0 2012

deutsche wohnen management- und servicegesellschaft mbh, 
frankfurt/main 100.00 **** 25.6 0.0 2012

deutsche wohnen reisholz Gmbh, Berlin 
(formerly: fdr reisholz Verwaltungs-Gmbh, essen) 100.00

* 
**** 2,077.5 570.0 2012

deutsche wohnen service Gmbh, Berlin 100.00  196.5 – 963.5 2012

deutsche wohnen service Braunschweig Gmbh, Berlin 100.00 * 68.6 – 6.4 2012

deutsche wohnen service hanover Gmbh, Berlin 100.00 * 46.9 – 625.1 2012

deutsche wohnen service magdeburg Gmbh, Berlin 100.00 * 63.2 – 324.8 2012

deutsche wohnen zweite fondsbeteiligungs Gmbh, Berlin 100.00 **** 25.2 0.0 2012

eisenbahn-siedlungs-Gesellschaft Berlin mit beschränkter haftung, Berlin 94.90 * 11,889.8 0.0 2012

fortimo Gmbh, Berlin 100.00 * 6,127.2 0.0 2012

Gbr fernheizung Gropiusstadt, Berlin 45.59 * 618.3 – 30.8 2012

Gehag acquisition co. Gmbh, Berlin 100.00 * 428,879.2 – 274.6 2012

GehaG Beteiligungs Gmbh & co. kG, Berlin 100.00 * 21,867.1 – 44.9 2012

GehaG dritte Beteiligungs Gmbh, Berlin 100.00 * 378.8 0.0 2012

GehaG erste Beteiligungs Gmbh, Berlin 100.00 * 45.0 0.0 2012

GehaG erwerbs Gmbh & co. kG, Berlin 99.99 * 20,308.9 – 11.0 2012

GehaG Gmbh, Berlin 100.00 * 735,943.7 32,677.1 2012

GehaG immobilien management Gmbh, Berlin 100.00 * 25.0 0.0 2012

GehaG Vierte Beteiligung se, amsterdam, netherlands 
(formerly: promontoria holding XVi n.V., amsterdam, netherlands) 100.00 * 17,754.5 2,931.9 2012

GehaG zweite Beteiligungs Gmbh, Berlin 100.00 * – 5,374.5 – 2,917.4 2012

hamnes investments B.V., amsterdam, netherlands 100.00 * 10,110.8 2,478.3 2012

haus und heim wohnungsbau-Gmbh, Berlin 100.00 * 2,798.7 0.0 2012

hesione Vermögensverwaltungsgesellschaft mbh, frankfurt/main 100.00 * 32.9 11.0 2012

holzmindener straße/tempelhofer weg Grundstücks Gmbh, Berlin 100.00 * 25.0 158.3 2012

intermetro B.V., amsterdam, netherlands 100.00 * 6,148.7 – 1,369.8 2012
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company and registered office

share of 
capital 

in %

equity 
 

eur k

Profit/
loss 

eur k

report-
ing 

date 

katharinenhof® seniorenwohn- und pflegeanlage Betriebs-Gmbh, Berlin 100.00 * 1,950.0 0.0 2012

katharinenhof® service Gmbh, Berlin 100.00 * 25.0 0.0 2012

main-taunus wohnen Gmbh & co. kG, eschborn 99.99 ** 11,640.7 7,294.6 2012

marienfelder allee 212 – 220 Grundstücksgesellschaft b.r., Berlin 94.00 * 7,086.4 444.8 2012

patus 216. Gmbh, hanover 100.00 * 9.8 – 10.2 2012

patus 217. Gmbh, hanover 100.00 * 10.6 – 10.7 2012

rhein-main wohnen Gmbh, frankfurt/main 100.00 * 499,134.0 56,237.1 2012

rhein-mosel wohnen Gmbh, mainz 100.00 * 154,820.5 15,623.6 2012

rhein-pfalz wohnen Gmbh, mainz 100.00  181,017.0 0.0 2012

rmw projekt Gmbh, frankfurt/main 100.00 * 16,238.3 0.0 2012

sanierungs- und Gewerbebau Gmbh & co. kG, aachen 100.00 * 1,134.9 – 270.2 2012

seniorenresidenz “am lunapark” Gmbh, leipzig 100.00 * 950.2 833.0 2012

sGG scharnweberstraße Grundstücks Gmbh, Berlin 100.00 * 25.0 16.9 2012

sophienstraße aachen Vermögensverwaltungsgesellschaft mbh, Berlin 100.00 * 2,193.0 0.0 2012

stadtentwicklungsgesellschaft eldenaer straße mbh i.l., Berlin 50.00 * 246.1 – 33.1 2011

wohn- und pflegewelt lahnblick Gmbh, Bad ems 100.00 * 427.8 107.0 2012
*   direct shareholdings
** direct and indirect shareholdings
*** additionally, the company is indirectly involved in working groups
**** waiver according to section 264 (3) oft he German commercial code (hGB)
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consolidated segment reporting
for the financial year 2012

appendix 2 to the notes to the consolidated financial statements

in eur m

external revenue internal revenue total revenue segment earnings assets depreciation and amortisation

2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 31/12/2012 31/12/2011 2012 2011

segments             

residential property management 240.1 196.4 2.2 2.1 242.3 198.5 194.4 157.4 4,627.1 2,938.8 0.0 0.0

disposals 167.8 150.6 9.7 11.2 177.5 161.8 19.9 10.6 77.5 110.3 0.0 0.0

nursing and assisted living 42.0 40.1 0.0 0.0 42.0 40.1 9.9 9.2 4.6 3.0 – 0.6 – 0.3

reconciliation with consolidated financial statement             

central functions and other operational activities 0.3 0.4 31.0 31.1 31.3 31.5 – 27.7 – 35.2 116.7 186.4 – 2.5 – 2.7

consolidations and other reconciliations – 0.4 – 0.4 – 42.9 – 44.4 – 43.3 – 44.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

 449.8 387.1 0.0 0.0 449.8 387.1 196.5 142.0 4,825.9 3,238.5 – 3.1 – 3.0
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in eur m

external revenue internal revenue total revenue segment earnings assets depreciation and amortisation

2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 31/12/2012 31/12/2011 2012 2011

segments             

residential property management 240.1 196.4 2.2 2.1 242.3 198.5 194.4 157.4 4,627.1 2,938.8 0.0 0.0

disposals 167.8 150.6 9.7 11.2 177.5 161.8 19.9 10.6 77.5 110.3 0.0 0.0

nursing and assisted living 42.0 40.1 0.0 0.0 42.0 40.1 9.9 9.2 4.6 3.0 – 0.6 – 0.3

reconciliation with consolidated financial statement             

central functions and other operational activities 0.3 0.4 31.0 31.1 31.3 31.5 – 27.7 – 35.2 116.7 186.4 – 2.5 – 2.7

consolidations and other reconciliations – 0.4 – 0.4 – 42.9 – 44.4 – 43.3 – 44.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

 449.8 387.1 0.0 0.0 449.8 387.1 196.5 142.0 4,825.9 3,238.5 – 3.1 – 3.0
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our audit has not led to any reservations.

in our opinion, based on the findings of our audit, the 
consolidated financial statements comply with ifrss as 
adopted by the eu, the additional requirements of 
 German commercial law pursuant to sec. 315a (1) hGB 
and give a true and fair view of the net assets, financial 
position and results of operations of the Group in 
accordance with these requirements. the group man-
agement report is consistent with the consolidated 
financial statements and as a whole provides a suitable 
view of the Group’s position and suitably presents the 
opportunities and risks of future development.”

Berlin, february 25, 2013

ernst & young Gmbh 
wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft

 Völker Glöckner
 wirtschaftsprüfer  wirtschaftsprüfer
[German public auditor] [German public auditor]

independent auditors’ report

we have issued the following opinion on the consolidated 
financial statements and the group management report:

“we have audited the consolidated financial statements 
prepared by the deutsche wohnen aG, frankfurt/main, 
comprising the balance sheet, the profit and loss state-
ment, the statement of comprehensive income, the 
statement of cash flows, the statement of changes in 
equity and the notes to the consolidated financial state-
ments, together with the group management report for 
the fiscal year from January 1, 2012 to december 31, 2012. 
the preparation of the consolidated financial statements 
and the group management report in accordance with 
ifrss as adopted by the eu, and the additional require-
ments of German commercial law pursuant to sec. 315a (1) 
hGB [“handelsgesetzbuch”: “German commercial code”] 
are the responsibility of the parent company’s manage-
ment. our responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
consolidated financial statements and on the group 
management report based on our audit.

we conducted our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with sec. 317 hGB and German 
generally accepted standards for the audit of financial 
statements promulgated by the institut der wirtschaft-
sprüfer [institute of public auditors in Germany] (idw). 
those standards require that we plan and perform the 
audit such that misstatements materially affecting the 
presentation of the net assets, financial position and 
results of operations in the consolidated financial state-
ments in accordance with the applicable financial 
reporting framework and in the group management 
report are detected with reasonable assurance. know-
ledge of the business activities and the economic and 
legal environment of the Group and expectations as to 
possible misstatements are taken into account in the 
determination of audit procedures. the effectiveness of 
the accounting-related internal control system and the 
evidence supporting the disclosures in the consolidated 
financial statements and the group management report 
are examined primarily on a test basis within the 
 framework of the audit. the audit includes assessing 
the annual financial statements of those entities 
included in consolidation, the determination of entities 
to be included in consolidation, the accounting and con-
solidation principles used and significant estimates 
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the consolidated financial statements 
and the group management report. we believe that our 
audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
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responsibility statement

“to the best of our knowledge, and in accordance with 
the applicable accounting standards, the consolidated 
financial statements as at 31 december 2012 give a true 
and fair view of the net assets, financial and earnings 
position of the Group and the Group’s management 
report gives a true and fair view of the development of 
the business including the business result and the posi-
tion of the Group and describes the main opportunities 
and risks associated with the Group’s expected future 
development.”

frankfurt/main, 25 february 2013

deutsche wohnen aG
management Board

 michael zahn lars wittan
chief executive officer chief financial officer

Further information
independent auditors’ report

responsibility statement
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Current gross rental income
the current gross rent corresponds to the sum of the contractually 
agreed net cold rent payments for the areas let of the respective 
properties for the period under review or as of the reporting date 
in eur million. on a per sqm basis, this is called “in-place rent”.

D&o (directors and officers) Group insurance
personal liability insurance that provides general cover to corpo-
rate bodies for damages incurred due to neglect of duty.

EBiT
earnings before interest and taxes.

EBiTDa 
earning before interests, taxes, depreciation and amortisation. 

EBT
earnings before taxes. the company discloses an adjusted eBt as 
well: eBt (as reported) is adjusted for the result of fair value 
adjustment of investment properties, the result of fair value adjust-
ments to derivative financial instruments and other one-off effects.

Fair value
fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged 
between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction.

FFo
funds from operations: from the company’s point of view, an 
essential operational figure for property companies geared 
towards liquidity derived from the Group’s profit and loss state-
ment. Based on the net result for the period (profit/loss), adjust-
ments for depreciation and amortisation, one-off effects as well as 
non-cash financial expenses/income and non-cash tax expenses/
income, not affecting liquidity, are made. the ffo (incl. disposals) 
is adjusted for the earnings from disposals to determine the ffo 
(without disposals).

Financial Covenants
agreements contained in some financing contracts in which the 
borrower promises to comply with certain key financial figures 
specified in the additional agreement for the term of the credit 
agreement.

gGlossary
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in-place rent (per sqm)
contractually owed net cold rent from the rented apartments 
 (current gross rental income) divided by the rented area.

LTV ratio
loan-to-Value ratio: Quantifies the ratio between the sum of the 
net financial liabilities and the value of the investment properties 
plus the non-current assets held for sale and the land and build-
ings held for sale.

Modernisation measures
typical modernisation measures are the renovation of the bath-
rooms, the installation of new in-house supply pipes and windows, 
the reconditioning or retrofitting of balconies, as well as the imple-
mentation of energy saving measures such as the installation of 
insulating glass windows and thermal insulation measures.

Multiple (in-place rent)
net present value divided by the current gross rental income as at 
december 2012 multiplied by 12.

Multiple (market rent)
net present value divided by the market rent as at december 2012 
plus vacancy loss (i.e. potential gross rental income) multiplied by 12.

NaV
net asset value: indicates the net asset value or intrinsic/inherent 
value of a property company. the epra naV is calculated based on 
equity (before minorities) adjusted for the effect of the exercise of 
options, convertibles and other equity interests as well as adjust-
ments of the market value of derivative financial instruments and 
deferred taxes (net of assets and liabilities), i. e. the adjustment of 
balance sheet items that have no impact on the Group’s long-term 
performance.

Net cold rent
contractually agreed rent payments; additional expenses (e. g. 
trash collection, water, janitor) and heating costs are not included.

Net operating income (Noi)
the net operating income (noi) represents the operating earnings 
from residential property management after deduction of incurred 
personnel and G&a costs in this business segment.

New-letting rent 
deutsche wohnen determines the new-letting rent by calculating 
the actual average agreed monthly net cold rent payments per sqm 
based on the new leases for units not subject to rent controls for 
the respective properties during the financial year.

Potential gross rental income
the potential gross rental income is the sum of current gross 
rental income and vacancy loss.

Vacancy loss
the vacancy loss corresponds to the sum of the respective last 
contractually agreed net cold rent payments for the areas that are 
not rented but are lettable for the review period or as of the report-
ing date of the referred properties.

Vacancy rate
the vacancy rate quantifies the ratio between the vacancy loss and 
the potential gross rental income as of the respective reporting date.

Further information
Glossary
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Quarterly overview
for the financial year 2012

Profit and loss statement Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 2012

earnings from 
residential property management eur m 44.1 42.5 48.8 59.0 194.4

earnings from disposals eur m 3.8 5.3 5.5 5.3 19.9

earnings from nursing and 
assisted living eur m 2.6 2.3 2.8 2.2 9.9

corporate expenses eur m – 7.7 – 8.4 – 9.1 – 15.2 – 40.4

eBitda eur m 43.1 61.1 47.4 44.9 196.5

eBt (adjusted) eur m 19.6 17.7 22.9 18.3 78.5

eBt (as reported) eur m 19.5 33.9 19.1 133.1 205.6

Group profit (after taxes) eur m 14.4 22.5 13.9 94.7 145.5

ffo (without disposals) eur m 18.4 14.4 19.6 15.8 68.2

ffo (incl. disposals) eur m 22.2 19.7 25.1 21.1 88.1

Balance sheet 31/3 30/6 30/9 31/12 31/12

investment properties eur m 2,981.0 2,983.7 4,275.0 4,614.6 4,614.6

current assets eur m 275.0 702.6 256.6 188.5 188.5

equity eur m 1,093.1 1,531.0 1,522.3 1,609.7 1,609.7

net financial liabilities eur m 1,687.8 1,219.9 2,468.5 2,678.0 2,678.0

loan-to-Value ratio (ltV) % 54.9 39.8 56.8 57.2 57.2

total assets eur m 3,338.4 3,776.7 4,632.0 4,907.9 4,907.9

net asset value (nav) 31/3 30/6 30/9 31/12 31/12

epra net asset Value eur m 1,228.3 1,677.5 1,694.1 1,824.4 1,824.4

fair values 31/3 30/6 30/9 31/12 31/12

fair Value of real estate properties1) eur m 2,954 2,922 4,204 4,320 4,320

fair Value per sqm residential 
and commercial area1) eur per sqm 954 958 914 950 950

1) only comprises residential and commercial buildings
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multi-year overview
for the financial years 2010 – 2012

Profit and loss statement 2010 2011 2012

earnings from 
residential property management

 
eur m

 
150.9

 
157.4

 
194.4

earnings from disposals eur m 12.7 10.6 19.9

earnings from nursing 
and assisted living eur m 8.9 9.2 9.9

corporate expenses eur m – 31.8 – 32.9 – 40.4

eBitda eur m 136.1 142.0 196.5

eBt (adjusted) eur m 33.7 46.0 78.5

eBt (as reported) eur m 57.1 85.8 205.6

Group profit (after taxes) eur m 23.8 50.6 145.5

ffo (without disposals) eur m 33.1 47.5 68.2

ffo (incl. disposals) eur m 45.8 58.1 88.1

Balance sheet 31/12/10 31/12/11 31/12/12

investment properties eur m 2,821.0 2,928.8 4,614.6

current assets eur m 108.8 288.7 188.5

equity eur m 889.9 1,083.4 1,609.7

net financial liabilities eur m 1,738.5 1,666.9 2,678.0

loan-to-Value ratio (ltV) % 60.6 55.0 57.2

total assets eur m 3,038.2 3,302.2 4,907.9

net asset value (nav) 31/12/10 31/12/11 31/12/12

epra net asset Value eur m 964.0 1,211.3 1,824.4

fair values 31/12/10 31/12/11 31/12/12

fair Value of real estate properties1) eur m 2,672 2,899 4,320

fair Value per sqm residential 
and commercial area1) eur per sqm 926 946 950

1) only comprises residential and commercial buildings

Further information
Quarterly overview for the financial year 2012

multi-year overview for the financial years 2010 – 2012
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financial calendar 2013

 28/02/2013 8th hsBc real estate conference, frankfurt/main

 07 – 08/03/2013 kempen & co. european property seminar, new york

 26/03/2013 publication of annual report 2012

 09/04/2013 commerzbank German residential event, london

 15 – 16/04/2013 9th annual deutsche Gri 2013, frankfurt/main

 14/05/2013 publication of interim report as at 31 march 2013 / 1st quarter 

 28/05/2013 annual General meeting 2013, frankfurt/main

 30/05/2013 kempen & co. european property seminar, amsterdam

 13/08/2013 publication of interim report as at 30 June 2013 / half-year

 05 – 06/09/2013 epra annual conference, paris

 11 – 12/09/2013 Bank of america merrill lynch Global real estate conference, new york

 07 – 09/10/2013 expo real, munich

 12/11/2013 publication of interim report as at 30 september 2013 / 1st – 3rd quarter

 03 – 04/12/2013 uBs Global real estate conference, london
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